NEPHROTIC SYNDROME IN PEDIATRIC PATIENTS

EDITED BY: Agnieszka Swiatecka-Urban, Robert P. Woroniecki and Frederick Jeffrey Kaskel PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Pediatrics





Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2017 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

> ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88945-298-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-298-9

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

NEPHROTIC SYNDROME IN PEDIATRIC PATIENTS

Topic Editors:

Agnieszka Swiatecka-Urban, University of Pittsburgh, United States Robert P. Woroniecki, Stony Brook Children's Hospital, United States Frederick Jeffrey Kaskel, Children's Hospital at Montefiore, United States



Electron micrograph images showing glomerular capillary loops of normal (left) and diffusely fused or effaced (right) podocyte foot processes resting on the glomerular basement membrane (GBM). Red blood cells (RBC) are seen inside the open capillary loops. Foot process effacement is an invariable morphological feature of glomerular disease presenting with nephrotic syndrome. 40,000x. Image: Dr. Sarangarajan Ranganathan, Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh of UPMC, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine.

Cover image: Human podocytes were cultured in Dr. Swiatecka-Urban's laboratory at Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh of UPMC, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine. Cover image was obtained by Dr. Donna Beer Stolz from the Imaging Center at the University of Pittsburgh. Nephrotic syndrome (NS) - characterized by heavy glomerular protein loss (proteinuria), edema, hypoalbuminemia, and hyperlipidemia - has diverse causes and frequently leads to chronic kidney disease. This E-book encompasses articles on a variety of topics in NS, including a historical perspective on understanding and treatment of NS, followed by stateof-the-art reviews of the molecular pathomechanisms, clinical outcomes, as well as current and emerging treatment strategies for NS. We hope that this comprehensive review will help to reduce the gaps between the research and the dayto-day care of patients with NS and inspire new research efforts towards updating and expanding the treatment armamentarium for the future.

Citation: Swiatecka-Urban, A., Woroniecki, R. P., Kaskel, F. J., eds. (2017). Nephrotic Syndrome in Pediatric Patients. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-298-9

Table of Contents

Chapter I: Introduction

04 Editorial: Nephrotic Syndrome in Pediatric Patients			
	Robert P. Woroniecki, Agnieszka Swiatecka-Urban and Frederick J. Kaskel		
<i>06</i>	History of Nephrotic Syndrome and Evolution of its Treatment		
	Abhijeet Pal and Frederick Kaskel		
	Chapter II: Pathomechanism of NS		
12	Pathology of Podocytopathies Causing Nephrotic Syndrome in Children		
	Sarangarajan Ranganathan		
24	Endocytic Trafficking at the Mature Podocyte Slit Diaphragm		
	Agnieszka Swiatecka-Urban		
31	Pathophysiology, Evaluation, and Management of Edema in Childhood Nephrotic Syndrome		
	Demetrius Ellis		
42	Renal and Cardiovascular Morbidities Associated with APOL1 Status among African-American and Non-African-American Children with Focal Segmental Glomerulosclerosis		
	Robert P. Woroniecki, Derek K. Ng, Sophie Limou, Cheryl A. Winkler, Kimberly J. Reidy, Mark Mitsnefes, Matthew G. Sampson, Craig S. Wong, Bradley A. Warady, Susan L. Furth, Jeffrey B. Kopp and Frederick J. Kaskel		
	Chapter III: Clinical Aspect of NS in Children and Adults		
51	Ethnic Differences in Childhood Nephrotic Syndrome		
	Rahul Chanchlani and Rulan S. Parekh		
57	Long-Term Outcomes in Children with Steroid-Resistant Nephrotic Syndrome Treated with Calcineurin Inhibitors		
	Nathan T. Beins and Katherine M. Dell		
<i>62</i>	Long-term Outcomes of Childhood Onset Nephrotic Syndrome		
	Rebecca Hjorten, Zohra Anwar and Kimberly Jean Reidy		
69	Changing the Paradigm for the Treatment and Development of New Therapies for FSGS		

Cathie Spino, Jordan S. Jahnke, David T. Selewski, Susan Massengill, Jonathan Troost and Debbie S. Gipson

78 The Evidence-Based Approach to Adult-Onset Idiopathic Nephrotic Syndrome Pietro A. A. Canetta and Jai Radhakrishnan





Editorial: Nephrotic Syndrome in Pediatric Patients

Robert P. Woroniecki^{1*}, Agnieszka Swiatecka-Urban^{2,3} and Frederick J. Kaskel⁴

¹ Stony Brook Children's Hospital, Stony Brook, NY, United States, ² Department of Nephrology, Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States, ³ Department of Cell Biology, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, United States, ⁴ Division of Pediatric Nephrology, Children's Hospital at Montefiore, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, New York, NY, United States

Keywords: podocytopathy, APOL1, FSGS, calcineurin inhibitor, outcomes, edema, endocytic trafficking, obesity

Editorial on the Research Topic

Nephrotic Syndrome in Pediatric Patients

Nephrotic syndrome (NS) remains a clinical diagnosis, encompassing proteinuria, dyslipidemia, hypoalbuminemia, and gravity-dependent edema. We came a long way since the initial gross descriptions of NS as dropsy, lipoid nephrosis, and nil disease to the most recent classification of podocytopathies as causes on NS. Recent advances demonstrate that mutations of a number of genes regulating structure and/or function of glomerular filtration barrier are causally associated with histologic diagnosis of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS), diffuse mesangial sclerosis, and clinical unresponsiveness to glucocorticosteroids in patients with NS. These findings explain why a subset of children who do not respond to treatment have genetic causes of NS. While the genetic causes represent only a minority of childhood NS, the exact molecular mechanisms underpinning the steroid-responsive NS remain largely unknown. Newer data explain that remission of NS after treatment with glucocorticosteroids, and an overall favorable prognosis are not consistent across all pediatric age groups and ethnic backgrounds.

In this special pediatric nephrology series, we have combined contributions from experts in childhood NS working in a variety of fields, including basic science, clinical medicine, and epidemiology to provide the reader with a comprehensive and the most up-to-date information on different aspects of NS. We were fortunate to enlist a prominent group of 31 authors to contribute a wide range of articles. In total, 10 papers have been included, with 3 original research articles, 6 reviews, and 1 historical perspective (Pal and Kaskel; Ranganathan; Swiatecka-Urban; Ellis; Hjorten et al.; Beins and Dell; Spino et al.; Chanchlani and Parekh; Woroniecki et al.; Canetta and Radhakrishnan).

We introduced the topic by historical perspective authored by Pal and Kaskel. The article walks readers through inspiring stories of tremendous efforts and international collaborations pawing the milestones in understanding of the pathophysiology and treatment of NS. Progress in the field is measured by a huge decrease in mortality related to NS from above 50% to less than 3% in the span of half of a century. As authors note, continued multicenter collaborations are critical to achieve new milestones and progress to personalized approach in the treatment of this rare childhood disease. Ranganathan reviewed the histopathology of congenital NS, minimal change disease, and its variants, and FSGS (Ranganathan). Swiatecka-Urban focused on the role of endocytic trafficking at the mature podocyte slit diaphragm and reviewed the critical role of signaling in maintaining the integrity of slit diaphragm that protects from to glomerular protein loss (proteinuria), manifesting as NS. Ellis described current pathophysiology of edema formation in NS (Ellis). The author reviewed "the under and overfill hypothesis" and current evidence for loss of plasmin and other serine proteases in the urine resulting in upregulation of the epithelial sodium channel (ENaC) causing Na+ and fluid retention (Ellis). Hjorten et al. reviewed the long-term outcomes of NS in

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Michael L. Moritz, Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh, United States

Reviewed by:

Franz Schaefer, Heidelberg University, Germany

*Correspondence:

Robert P. Woroniecki robert.woroniecki@ stonybrookmedicine.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 23 June 2017 Accepted: 18 July 2017 Published: 03 August 2017

Citation:

Woroniecki RP, Swiatecka-Urban A and Kaskel FJ (2017) Editorial: Nephrotic Syndrome in Pediatric Patients. Front. Pediatr. 5:167. doi: 10.3389/fped.2017.00167 childhood noting the importance of steroid responsiveness as a prognostic indicator. While steroid-resistant NS (SRNS) is associated with a high-risk (HR) of developing end-stage renal disease (ESRD), long-term complications of steroid-sensitive NS are under-recognized (Hjorten et al.). Beins and Dell in their retrospective chart review surmise that although majority of SRNS patients initially respond to calcineurin inhibitor therapy, a significant percentage still progresses to ESRD, despite achieving short-term remission. Spino et al. reviewed current therapeutic options for FSGS and discussed the problem of varied efficacy related to specific therapy, patient characteristics, cost, and common side effects, and noted that this variability of response to treatment is likely caused, at least in part, by the heterogeneity in the etiology of FSGS.

Chanchlani and Parekh further reviewed the emerging role of genetic factors determining the response to treatment within an ethnic group, noting that among African-Americans (AA), the risk variants in *APOL1* are associated with a more than 10-fold increase in risk of FSGS and HR carriers have a twofold greater risk

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor declared a shared affiliation, though no other collaboration, with one of the authors AS-U and states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

of progression to ESRD. Woroniecki et al. presented original data indicating that AA children with HR *APOL1* genotype and FSGS have increased prevalence of obesity and left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) despite a later age of FSGS onset, while adjusting for socioeconomic status. They noted that treatment of obesity may be an important component of chronic kidney disease and LVH management in this population (Woroniecki et al.). Finally to contrast with children, Canetta and Radhakrishnan reviewed the evidence-based approach to adult-onset NS.

Our overarching goal was to stimulate interest of academic and practicing physicians and scientists in this relatively rare childhood disease with diverse pathophysiology and outcomes. We hope that we will be seeing more studies and research in this field in the near future.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RW wrote and reviewed the editorial, AS-U and FK contributed to review process and editing.

Copyright © 2017 Woroniecki, Swiatecka-Urban and Kaskel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





History of Nephrotic Syndrome and Evolution of its Treatment

Abhijeet Pal* and Frederick Kaskel

Division of Pediatric Nephrology, Children's Hospital at Montefiore, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, New York, NY, USA

The recognition, evaluation, and early treatment of nephrotic syndrome in infants and children originate from physicians dating back to Hippocrates. It took nearly another 1000 years before the condition was described for its massive edema requiring treatment with herbs and other remedies. A rich history of observations and interpretations followed over the course of centuries until the recognition of the combination of clinical findings of foamy urine and swelling of the body, and measurements of urinary protein and blood analyses showed the phenotypic characteristics of the syndrome that were eventually linked to the early anatomic descriptions from first kidney autopsies and then renal biopsy analyses. Coincident with these findings were a series of treatment modalities involving the use of natural compounds to a host of immunosuppressive agents that are applied today. With the advent of molecular and precision medicine, the field is poised to make major advances in our understanding and effective treatment of nephrotic syndrome and prevent its long-term sequelae.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Miriam Schmidts, Radboud University Nijmegen, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Michal Malina, Motol University Hospital, Czech Republic R. Morrison Hurley, University of British Columbia, Canada

*Correspondence:

Abhijeet Pal apal@montefiore.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 26 February 2016 Accepted: 17 May 2016 Published: 30 May 2016

Citation:

Pal A and Kaskel F (2016) History of Nephrotic Syndrome and Evolution of its Treatment. Front. Pediatr. 4:56. doi: 10.3389/fped.2016.00056 Keywords: nephrotic syndrome, early recognition, evaluation, natural history, treatments

HISTORY OF NEPHROTIC SYNDROME

Nephrotic syndrome, as we know it today, is a combination of proteinuria, hypoalbuminemia, hyperlipidemia, and edema, a concept that took some time to be developed. Interestingly, the effective treatments became available only recently in the mid 1900s, with the advent of steroids, antibiotics, diuretics, and other immunomodulators. Even today, there is a gap in our understanding of the etiology(s) of nephrotic syndrome of childhood, and better treatments are still required in the more resistant forms. Nephrotic syndrome as such is a combination of clinical and laboratories findings that is seen with a variety of pathologic lesions affecting the glomerulus.

Generalized edema, referred to as dropsy in the earlier literature, has been documented from the times of Hippocrates (1, 2), although the differentiation between various causes (heart vs. liver vs. nutritional disturbances vs. renal abnormalities) was not made. One observation by Hippocrates was: "when bubbles settle on the surface of the urine, it indicates a disease of the kidney and that the disease will be protracted" (1). Cornelus Roelans of Belgium described in 1484 a child with nephrotic syndrome and "whole body swelling." He went on to recommend the treatment as follows: "take the tops of elder plant and daneswort, cook in white wine and wrap the child in hot clothes by applying the poultice in whole or in part, and so cure him" (3).

During the sixteenth to eighteenth centuries, dropsy was considered a disease *per se*, the patient had dropsy, without differentiating between the causes (4). One of the first accurate descriptions of nephrotic syndrome in children was made by Theodore Zwinger of Basel in 1722 (5). He also noted decreased urine output and attributed this to "obstruction and compression of the tubules of the kidney," thus placing the seat of the disease in the kidney, since at that time, it was recognized that in pediatric practice heart and liver disease rarely manifest. His important observation had little influence on the scientific community, and his findings were not quoted by any author in

6

the following 200 years. Of note, these observations were made even before Morgagni was able to establish the idea that disease might arise from specific organs (6). Morgagni's disciple William Heberden went on to say: "Dropsy is very rarely an original distemper but generally a symptom of some other which is too often incurable" (7).

Later in the eighteenth century, dropsy was divided into those dependent on morbid viscera (liver and heart) and a general form, supposedly inflammatory. With humoralism, a prevalent concept in Europe at that time, bloodletting was a common practice for these so called "inflammatory diseases" and was a commonly prescribed. Around the same time, several observers [namely, Cotugno (8), Cruikshank (9), Wells (10), and Brande (9)] noted coagulability of urine in the patients. It was finally in 1827 that Richard Bright (1789-1858) was able to put together the triad of generalized edema, proteinuria, and kidney disease, as presenting features of this disease (11). John Bostock, a colleague of Bright, also noted that when protein in the urine was highest, it was lowest in the serum (11). Christison confirmed these findings in 1829 (12). Hence by 1830, nephrotic syndrome of profound albuminuria, hypoalbuminemia, and edema, resulting from diseased kidneys was established. Subsequently, on the postmortem analysis, these kidneys revealed a diseased state. Bright described three varieties of postmortem appearance of the kidneys, Chritison seven, Pierre Rayer six in 1840, and Carl Rokitansky no less than eight in 1846, including the "specknierre" or bacon kidney, recognized later as amyloidosis (9).

Over the next few years, the various lipid abnormalities in nephrotic syndrome became the forefront of discussion. Latescent or milky appearance of the serum was known to be present in nephrotic syndrome (noted with bloodletting sessions). Christison showed this to be from ether soluble fat (13). In 1846, Johnson not only described the fatty nature of the kidneys on gross appearance in many such patients but also fat globules and fat casts in the tubules (14). More attention was given to the cellular and tubular components of the kidneys as they were more obvious by the histological techniques available at that time.

Virchow introduced the term "parenchymatous nephritis" for a pathological picture with primary tubular involvement (15). With advances in microscopy, glomerular involvement became clearer along with that of the parenchyma. In acute nephritis, the presence of pale exsanguinated glomeruli was long known. In 1872, Klebs coined the term "glomerulonephritis" to describe the exudative glomerular changes seen under the microscope (16). In 1905, the term "nephrosis" was coined by Müller to describe all "non-inflammatory" diseases of the kidney as a substitute for parenchymatous nephritis, contrasting it with exudative and inflammatory disease, which would retain the name nephritis (17). This concept of "nephritis in contrast to nephrosis" was further popularized by F. Volhard, T. Fahr, and C. Munk.

TREATMENTS FOR NEPHROTIC SYNDROME

Introduction of the renal biopsy in the mainstream clinical practice of nephrology during the 1950s-1960s added a new

dimension to the understanding of the histological findings in nephrotic syndrome. The histological classifications were based on the light microscopic appearance and included membranous glomerulonephritis, proliferative glomerulonephritis, a mixed membranous and proliferative glomerulonephritis, diabetic nephropathy with hyaline nodules, and focal segmental glomerular sclerosis; these are summarized in a case series from 1958 (18). The availability of electron microscopy and immunofluorescent localization of proteins was a welcomed coincidence. These new techniques transformed the ideas on morphology and pathogenesis, and made definite correlations between clinical presentation and pathological picture. The 1961, a Ciba Foundation symposium on the use of the renal biopsy was a landmark in these regards (19).

Antibiotics played an important role in treating the infections that arose from nephrotic syndrome, and the mortality rate reduced drastically from two-third to 35% (20). It is important to point out that prior to availability of steroids multiple desperate treatments were tried. A study from Boston noted the various treatments that were attempted from 1926 to 1948 for nephrotic syndrome. Dietary modification and low salt diet were probably the most effective treatments at that time. There were some weak mercurial diuretics with little if any action. Other drastic measures, such as the induction of measles and vaccinia, were instituted. Many of the children inoculated had some form of post-infection diuresis and decrease in proteinuria (11 out of 14), only to recur. Other supportive measure included blood transfusions, antibiotic therapy, treatment with thyroid extract, decapsulation of the kidney, testosterone, multiple vitamins, horse antiserum, and parathyroid hormone.

Steroid hormones were first isolated and identified in 1936 (21, 22). By 1946, cortisone was first prepared by partial synthesis from bile acids (23). On the other hand, adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) was extracted from pig and sheep pituitary gland by isoelectric precipitation (22, 24) in the 1940s. One preparation of ACTH was commercially available as sterile powder reconstituted with isotonic saline for intramuscular injection. In the early 1950s, intramuscular injections of Cortisone (25) and ACTH (26) were first being used for treatment for nephrotic syndrome in children by Arneil and Wilson from Glasgow. These were relatively short courses, 5 days of daily 100-300 mg of intramuscular cortisone in the first study and 40-80 mg of an ACTH intramuscular injection for 12 days in the second study (25, 26). Later on, prednisone was first synthesized by oxidation of cortisone (27, 28). ACTH and cortisone were quickly replaced by prednisolone and prednisone as they could be administered orally without the need for daily injections (29, 30). With the advent of steroid therapy, mortality from nephrotic syndrome dramatically decreased to 3% (31).

An important series of studies, in the era after renal biopsy and steroids, to better understand the management of childhood nephrotic syndrome were heralded by the International Study of Kidney Disease in Children (ISKDC) established in 1965 with participants from North America, Europe, and Asia. A series of prospective, multicenter cooperative studies by the ISKDC established definitions, clinicopathological correlations, and recommendations for therapy that provided a basis for diagnosis and management of pediatric nephrotic syndrome that persists today. Between January 1967 and June 1974, children with the nephrotic syndrome who were older than 12 weeks and younger than 16 years were enrolled into the clinical survey from the 24 participating clinics (32–34). Of the 521 entered, 76.6% had minimal-change nephrotic syndrome, 7.5% had membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis, and 6.9% had focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (35). All participants had biopsies prior to starting steroid therapy with prednisone. Initial treatment was 60 mg/24 h/m² (maximum dosage 80 mg/24 h) in divided doses for 4 weeks, followed by 40 mg/24 h/m² in divided doses, three consecutive days out of seven for 4 weeks. A seminal observation was made that patients with non-minimal lesions had a varied and limited response to steroids (36).

Azathioprine, a purine synthesis inhibitor, was also tested by this group in a randomized placebo-controlled trial (37). Patients that were considered to be early non-responders to steroids (not responding to the initial 8-week therapy) or frequently relapsing were randomized to receive every other day prednisone with azathioprine (test group) or placebo (control group). No significant decrease in proteinuria or number of relapses was noted in the test group vs. the control group (37).

The use of an alkylating agent in steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome was first initiated with nitrogen mustard as early as 1958 (38). This was extended to other alkylating agents, cyclophosphamide and chlorambucil, in the 1960s and prompted the ISKDC to conduct a randomized control trial to define the role of cyclophosphamide in children with early non-responders and frequently relapsing nephrotic syndrome. Cyclophosphamide was shown to remit proteinuria in early non-responders and decrease the number of relapses of nephrotic syndrome (39). Thus, it proved to be an important agent to decrease steroid use and prevent steroid toxicity, although it caused gonadal failure in post-pubertal males (39). Chorambucil, although noted to be as effective as cyclophosphamide (40), had concerning side effects of acute leukemia and renal carcinoma (41).

The initial 8-week steroid regimens (4 weeks daily and 4 weeks every other day) were then compared with a longer steroid treatment duration in the late 1980s (42). Mounting evidence supported a longer duration of steroids, which helped decrease the number of future relapses and steroid dependence, and the initial 8-week steroid regimen has been recommended to be increased to at least 12 weeks (43, 44).

Levamisole, known for its anthelmintic, was first reported to be used in children with nephrotic syndrome in 1980 (45) and continues to be used as a steroid sparing agent in many countries. Cyclosporine A (CsA), a calcineurin inhibitor, was first isolated from the fungus *Tolypocladium inflatum* found in a soil sample obtained in 1969 from Norway, by Hans Peter Frey (46). It was initially used in humans for renal transplantation in 1978 and has since changed the face of transplantation (47). The first use for CsA was reported in 1986 among adults with difficult to treat nephrotic syndrome (48). By the late 1980s, there were reports of its successful use in children with steroid-resistant or steroiddependent nephrotic syndrome that had not responded well to alkylating agents with the target levels of CsA between 50 and 200 ng/ml (49, 50). Tacrolimus, another calcineurin inhibitor, was first extracted from *Streptomyces tsukubaenis* in 1987 by a Japanese group (51) and was initially used as a drug in human organ transplantation. Its use for nephrotic syndrome was first started in adults in the early 1990s (52–54) and then reported to be used children by the early 2000s (55–57). It was shown to be similar to CsA with regard to efficacy and renal toxicity but without the cosmetic side effects of hirsutism and gingival hypertrophy (58).

Mycophenolate mofetil (cellcept[®]) and, more recently, mycophenolate sodium (myfortic[®]) are prodrug forms of mycophenolic acid, another purine synthesis inhibitor, identified from *Penicillium* species. It was first reported to be used in pediatric nephrotic syndrome in 2000 (59) after being successfully applied in other glomerular diseases (60) and renal transplantation. It has been shown to be useful in steroid-dependent and frequently relapsing steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome, as a first-line agent, although there is evidence to indicate that it is probably less effective that calcineurin inhibitors (43, 61–63).

Rituximab, a monoclonal antibody against a B-lymphocyte antigen CD20, came into the armamentarium after case reports describing the incidental finding of a beneficial effect of rituximab on childhood nephrotic syndrome (64). Benz et al. first used rituximab to treat ITP, resistant to steroids and immunoglobulin therapy, in a 16-year-old boy who also suffered from steroid-dependent nephrotic syndrome. As well as effectively resolving the ITP, rituximab also improved the nephrotic syndrome, inducing a relapse-free period for over 12 months on low-dose CsA (65). In the other two cases, rituximab was used to treat post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD) in boys who also had recurrence of FSGS in their transplants (66, 67), with beneficial effects on proteinuria. Its efficacy was recently demonstrated as a steroid-sparing agent in childhood onset frequently relapsing and steroid-dependent nephrotic syndrome by a multicenter, double-blind, randomized, and placebo-controlled trial (68) conducted by Iijima et al. Patients in the rituximab-treated group were relapse-free for prolonged period of time despite being weaned off other immunosuppressants such as mycophenolate or cyclosporine. There have been few case reports of its efficacy in refractory primary FSGS; however, controlled clinical trails are needed to define its exact role (69, 70). It has been proven to be effective in combination with plasmapheresis for post-transplant recurrence of FSGS (70, 71). Part of this effect may be mediated by its direct action on the podocyte (72).

FUTURE TREATMENTS AND CONCLUSION

Interestingly, ACTH is currently remerging as a potential treatment for nephrotic syndrome. In Europe, it is available as a synthetic depot formulation (Synacthen®) and in the US as a highly purified formulation (Acthar® gel) from porcine or bovine sources (73). There are reports on its efficacy in multiple causes of nephrotic syndrome, including idiopathic membranous nephropathy, FSGS, minimal-change disease, and mesangial glomerulonephritis, with a response rate varying from 29 to 100%

(73–79). Recently, it has been shown to be particularly beneficial in idiopathic membranous nephropathy. Although the exact mechanism of action for ACTH is not known, it is thought to act directly on the podocytes *via* melanocortin receptors on the podocytes. There is need for a multicenter randomized control trial to assess its use in idiopathic nephrotic syndrome.

With discovery of various gene defects associated with nephrotic syndrome, there is an expanding knowledge of various podocyte signaling pathways that play a role in the pathogenesis of nephrotic syndrome (80). A better understanding of these pathways is needed to develop future targeted therapy. The high risk variant genotype of APOL1 gene (codes of apolipoprotein 1, known for its trypanolytic properties), was found to confer increased risk to kidney disease by gene-wide association studies (GWAS) (81–83). However, its association and role in nephrotic syndrome and podocyte biology are yet to be defined (80). New drugs on the horizon, such as losmapimod (p38 MAPK inhibitor), sparsentan (endothelin receptor type 1A antagonist), and

REFERENCES

- 1. Chadwick J. The Medical Works of Hippocrates: A New Translation from the Original Greek (Vol. 174). Oxford: Blackwell (1950) (Section 7, No 34).
- Cameron JS. Five hundred years of the nephrotic syndrome: 1484-1984. Ulster Med J (1985) 54:S5–19.
- 3. Roelans C. Liber de Aegritudinibus Infantium. München: Verl. der Münchner Dr. (1484).
- Cameron JS, Hicks J. The origins and development of the concept of a "nephrotic syndrome". Am J Nephrol (2002) 22(2–3):240–7. doi:10.1159/000063768
- Zwinger T. Anasarca puerorum. In: Basel E, Thurnis JR, editors. *Paedioatreia* Pract Curationem Puerorumque Morborum Puerilium etc. Vol. 5 (1974). p. 659–66.
- Morgagni G. De Sedibus et Causis Morborum. Epist XVIII. Venice: Remondini (1760).
- Heberden W. Commentaries on the History and Cure of Diseases. (1802). Available from: https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=DS5AAQAAMAAJ& pgis=1
- Cotugno D. De ischiade nervosa commentarius. (1770). Available from: https:// archive.org/details/dominicicotunnii00cotu
- Cameron JS. The nephrotic syndrome: A historical review. In: Cameron JS, Glassock RJ, editors. *The Nephrotic Syndrome*. New York: Dekker (1988). p. 3–56.
- Wells WC XVII. On the presence of the red matter and serum of blood in the urine of dropsy, which has not originated from scarlet fever. *Tr Soc Improv Med Clin Knowl* (1812) 3:194–240.
- 11. Bright R. Reports of Medical Cases. London: Orme (1827).
- Christison R. Observations on the variety of dropsy which depends on diseased kidney. *Edin Med Surg J* (1929) 32:262–91.
- 13. Christison R. On the cause of the milky and whey-like appearances sometimes observed in the blood. *Edin Med Surg J* (1830) 33:274–80.
- 14. Johnson G. On the minute anatomy and pathology of Bright's disease of the kidney, and on the relation to the renal disease to those diseases of the liver, heart and arteries with which it is associated. *Med Chir Trans* (1846) 29:1–43. doi:10.1177/095952874602900102
- Virchow R. Cellular Pathology as Based upon Physiological and Pathological Histology. Philadelphia: J. B. Lippincott (1863).
- Klebs T. Handbuch Der Pathologischen Anatomie. Berlin: Hirschwald (1870). p. 634.
- 17. Müller F. Morbus Brightii. Verh Dtsch Ges Path (1905) 9:64-99.
- Kark RM, Pirani CL, Pollak VE, Muehrcke RC, Blainey JD. The nephrotic syndrome in adults: a common disorder with many causes. *Ann Intern Med* (1958) 49(4):751–4. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-49-4-751
- 19. Cameron JS, Hicks J. The introduction of renal biopsy into nephrology from 1901 to 1961: a paradigm of the forming of nephrology by

biologics, such as adalimumab (anti-TNF- α) and abatacept (anti-CD80), hold promise in the treatment of steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome and prevention of renal progression (79).

In summary, the seminal contributions of the ISKDC identified the importance of global collaborations in order to conduct meaningful multicenter trials aimed at effectively treating children with nephrotic syndrome, preventing renal progression and facilitating the opportunity for each child to reach their full potential and quality of life. The availability of advanced genetic and molecular applications to personalized medicine offer unique opportunities along this promising journey.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The authors contributed to the manuscript. Dr. AP is the first author as he did most of the work in reviewing the literature and formatting the style and content of the submission. Dr. AP is the corresponding author.

technology. Am J Nephrol (1997) 17(3-4):347-58. doi:10.1017/CBO97811074 15324.004

- Arneil GC. The nephrotic syndrome. Pediatr Clin North Am (1971) 18(2):547-59.
- 21. Mason HL, Myers CS, Kendall EC. The chemistry of crystalline substances isolated from the suprarenal gland. *J Biol Chem* (1936) 114(3):613–31.
- Thorn GW, Forsham PH, Frawley TF, Hill SR, Jr., Roche M, Staehelin D, et al. The clinical usefulness of ACTH and cortisone. N Engl J Med (1950) 242(22):865–72. doi:10.1056/NEJM195006012422205
- Sarett LH. Partial synthesis of pregnene-4-triol-17(beta), 20(beta), 21-dione-3,11 and pregnene-4-diol-17(beta), 21-trione-3,11,20 monoacetate. *J Biol Chem* (1946) 162:601–31.
- 24. Sayers G, White A, Long CNH. Preparation and properties of pituitary adrenotropic hormone. J Biol Chem (1943) 149(2):425–36.
- Arneil GC, Wilson HEC. Cortisone treatment of nephrosis. Arch Dis Child (1952) 27(134):322–8. doi:10.1136/adc.27.134.322
- Arneil GC, Wilson HE. A.C.T.H. in nephrosis. Arch Dis Child (1953) 28(141):372–80. doi:10.1136/adc.28.141.372
- Nobile A. The discovery of the δ1,4-steroids, prednisone, and prednisolone at the Schering Corporation (USA). *Steroids* (1994) 59(3):227–8. doi:10.1016/0039-128X(94)90033-7
- Herzog H, Oliveto EP. A history of significant steroid discoveries and developments originating at the Schering Corporation (USA) since 1948. *Steroids* (1992) 57(12):617–23. doi:10.1016/0039-128X(92)90014-Z
- Chaudhuri JN, Ghosal SP. Observations on prednisolone treated cases of nephrotic syndrome. *Indian J Pediatr* (1958) 25(5):201–9. doi:10.1007/ BF02903017
- Barbieri DD. [Early results of prednisone therapy of nephrotic syndromes]. Minerva Med (1955) 46(99):1728.
- Report of the International Study of Kidney Disease in Children, Barnett HL, Edelmann CM. Minimal change nephrotic syndrome in children: deaths during the first 5 to 15 years' observation. *Pediatrics* (1984) 73(4):497-501.
- A Report of the International Study of Kidney Disease in Children. Nephrotic syndrome in children: prediction of histopathology from clinical and laboratory characteristics at time of diagnosis. *Kidney Int* (1978) 13(2):159–65.
- 33. A report of the International Study of Kidney Disease in Children. The primary nephrotic syndrome in children. Identification of patients with minimal change nephrotic syndrome from initial response to prednisone. *J Pediatr* (1981) 98(4):561–4. doi:10.1016/s0022-3476(81)80760-3
- Barnett HL. International study of kidney disease in children. Jpn J Nephrol (1979) 21(10):1141–4. doi:10.14842/jpnjnephrol1959.21.10_1141
- Report. Primary nephrotic syndrome in children: clinical significance of histopathologic variants of minimal change and of diffuse mesangial hypercellularity. *Kidney Int* (1981) 20(6):765–71. doi:10.1038/ki.1981.209

- Churg J, Habib R, White RR. Pathology of the nephrotic syndrome in children. Lancet (1970) 295(7660):1299–302. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(70)91905-7
- Abramowicz M, Barnett HL, Edelmann CM, Greifer I, Kobayashi O, Arneil GC, et al. Controlled trial of azathioprine in children with nephrotic syndrome. *Lancet* (1970) 295(7654):959–61. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(70)91093-7
- West CD. Use of combined hormone and mechlorethamine (nitrogen mustard) therapy in lipoid nephrosis. AMA J Dis Child (1958) 95(5):498–515.
- Mcdonald J, Arneil GCC, Murphy AV, Arneil GCC. Long-term assessment of cyclophosphamide therapy for nephrosis in children. *Lancet* (1974) 304(7887):980–2. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(74)92073-X
- Schoeneman MJ, Spitzer A, Greifer I. Nitrogen mustard therapy in children with frequent-relapsing nephrotic syndrome and steroid toxicity. *Am J Kidney Dis* (1983) 2(5):526–9. doi:10.1016/S0272-6386(83)80094-8
- Grupe WE, Makker SP, Ingelfinger JR. Chlorambucil treatment of frequently relapsing nephrotic syndrome. N Engl J Med (1976) 295(14):746–9. doi:10.1056/NEJM197609302951402
- Ueda N, Chihara M, Kawaguchi S, Niinomi Y, Nonoda T, Matsumoto J, et al. Intermittent versus long-term tapering prednisolone for initial therapy in children with idiopathic nephrotic syndrome. *J Pediatr* (1988) 112(1):122–6. doi:10.1016/S0022-3476(88)80136-7
- Lombel RM, Gipson DS, Hodson EM, Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes. Treatment of steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome: new guidelines from KDIGO. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2013) 28(3):415–26. doi:10.1007/ s00467-012-2310-x
- Hahn D, Hodson EM, Willis NS, Craig JC. Corticosteroid therapy for nephrotic syndrome in children. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2015) 3:CD001533. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD001533.pub5
- Tanphaichitr P, Tanphaichitr D, Sureeratanan J, Chatasingh S. Treatment of nephrotic syndrome with levamisole. *J Pediatr* (1980) 96(3 Pt 1):490–3. doi:10.1016/S0022-3476(80)80707-4
- Svarstad H, Bugge HC, Dhillion SS. From Norway to Novartis: cyclosporin from *Tolypocladium inflatum* in an open access bioprospecting regime. *Biodivers Conserv* (2000) 9(11):1521–41. doi:10.1023/A:1008990919682
- Calne RY, White DJ, Thiru S, Evans DB, McMaster P, Dunn DC, et al. Cyclosporin A in patients receiving renal allografts from cadaver donors. *Lancet* (1978) 2(8104–5):1323–7.
- Meyrier A, Simon P, Perret G, Condamin-Meyrier MC. Remission of idiopathic nephrotic syndrome after treatment with cyclosporin A. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) (1986) 292(6523):789–92. doi:10.1136/bmj.292.6523.789
- Niaudet P, Habib R, Tete MJ, Hinglais N, Broyer M. Cyclosporin in the treatment of idiopathic nephrotic syndrome in children. *Pediatr Nephrol* (1987) 1(4):566–73. doi:10.1007/BF00853590
- Tejani A, Butt K, Trachtman H, Suthanthiran M, Rosenthal CJ, Khawar MR. Cyclosporine A induced remission of relapsing nephrotic syndrome in children. *Kidney Int* (1988) 33(3):729–34. doi:10.1038/ki.1988.59
- 51. Kino T, Hatanaka H, Hashimoto M, Nishiyama M, Goto T, Okuhara M, et al. FK-506, a novel immunosuppressant isolated from a Streptomyces. I. Fermentation, isolation, and physico-chemical and biological characteristics. *J Antibiot (Tokyo)* (1987) 40(9):1249–55. doi:10.7164/antibiotics.40.1256
- Segarra A, Vila J, Pou L, Majó J, Arbós A, Quiles T, et al. Combined therapy of tacrolimus and corticosteroids in cyclosporin-resistant or -dependent idiopathic focal glomerulosclerosis: a preliminary uncontrolled study with prospective follow-up. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2002) 17(4):655–62. doi:10.1093/ndt/17.4.655
- Schweda F, Liebl R, Riegger GA, Krämer BK. Tacrolimus treatment for steroidand cyclosporin-resistant minimal-change nephrotic syndrome. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (1997) 12(11):2433–5. doi:10.1093/ndt/12.11.2433
- McCauley J, Tzakis AG, Fung JJ, Todo S, Starzl TE. FK 506 in steroid-resistant focal sclerosing glomerulonephritis of childhood. *Lancet* (1990) 335(8690):674. doi:10.1016/0140-6736(90)90471-G
- Pennesi M, Gagliardo A, Minisini S. Effective tacrolimus treatment in a child suffering from severe nephrotic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2003) 18(5):477–8. doi:10.1007/s00467-003-1098-0
- Loeffler K, Gowrishankar M, Yiu V. Tacrolimus therapy in pediatric patients with treatment-resistant nephrotic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2004) 19(3):281–7. doi:10.1007/s00467-003-1370-3
- Sinha MD, MacLeod R, Rigby E, Clark AGB. Treatment of severe steroid-dependent nephrotic syndrome (SDNS) in children with tacrolimus. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2006) 21(7):1848–54. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfi274

- Srivastava RN. 50 years of nephrotic syndrome in children, and hereafter. Indian Pediatr (2013) 50(1):107–10. doi:10.1007/s13312-013-0024-1
- Chandra M, Susin M, Abitbol C. Remission of relapsing childhood nephrotic syndrome with mycophenolate mofetil. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2000) 14(3):224–6. doi:10.1007/s004670050047
- Briggs WA, Choi MJ, Scheel PJ. Successful mycophenolate mofetil treatment of glomerular disease. Am J Kidney Dis (1998) 31(2):213–7. doi:10.1053/ ajkd.1998.v31.pm9469489
- Afzal K, Bagga A, Menon S, Hari P, Jordan SC. Treatment with mycophenolate mofetil and prednisolone for steroid-dependent nephrotic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2007) 22(12):2059-65. doi:10.1007/ s00467-007-0617-9
- Dorresteijn EM, Kist-van Holthe JE, Levtchenko EN, Nauta J, Hop WCJ, van der Heijden AJ. Mycophenolate mofetil versus cyclosporine for remission maintenance in nephrotic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2008) 23(11):2013–20. doi:10.1007/s00467-008-0899-6
- Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for glomerulonephritis. *Kidney Int Suppl* (2012) 2(2):139–274. doi:10.1038/kisup.2012.23
- Smith GC. Is there a role for rituximab in the treatment of idiopathic childhood nephrotic syndrome? *Pediatr Nephrol* (2007) 22(6):893–8. doi:10.1007/ s00467-006-0427-5
- Benz K, Dötsch J, Rascher W, Stachel D. Change of the course of steroid-dependent nephrotic syndrome after rituximab therapy. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2004) 19(7):794–7. doi:10.1007/s00467-004-1434-z
- Nozu K, Iijima K, Fujisawa M, Nakagawa A, Yoshikawa N, Matsuo M. Rituximab treatment for posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD) induces complete remission of recurrent nephrotic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2005) 20(11):1660–3. doi:10.1007/s00467-005-2013-7
- Pescovitz MD, Book BK, Sidner RA. Resolution of recurrent focal segmental glomerulosclerosis proteinuria after rituximab treatment. *N Engl J Med* (2006) 354(18):1961–3. doi:10.1056/NEJMc055495
- Iijima K, Sako M, Nozu K, Mori R, Tuchida N, Kamei K, et al. Rituximab for childhood-onset, complicated, frequently relapsing nephrotic syndrome or steroid-dependent nephrotic syndrome: a multicentre, double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* (2014) 384(9950):1273–81. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60541-9
- Nakayama M, Kamei K, Nozu K, Matsuoka K, Nakagawa A, Sako M, et al. Rituximab for refractory focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2008) 23(3):481–5. doi:10.1007/s00467-007-0640-x
- Segarra-Medrano A, Jatem-Escalante E, Agraz-Pamplona I, Carnicer-Cáceres C, Ramos-Terrades N, Ostos-Roldán E, et al. Treatment of idiopathic focal segmental glomerulosclerosis: options in the event of resistance to corticosteroids and calcineurin inhibitors. *Nefrologia* (2013) 33(4):448–61. doi:10.3265/Nefrologia. pre2013.Jan.11871
- Bayrakci US, Baskin E, Sakalli H, Karakayali H, Haberal M. Rituximab for post-transplant recurrences of FSGS. *Pediatr Transplant* (2009) 13(2):240–3. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3046.2008.00967.x
- Fornoni A, Sageshima J, Wei C, Merscher-Gomez S, Aguillon-Prada R, Jauregui AN, et al. Rituximab targets podocytes in recurrent focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Sci Transl Med* (2011) 3(85):85ra46. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3002231
- 73. Bomback AS, Radhakrishnan J. Treatment of nephrotic syndrome with adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH). *Discov Med* (2011) 12(63):91–6.
- Hladunewich MA, Cattran D, Beck LH, Odutayo A, Sethi S, Ayalon R, et al. A pilot study to determine the dose and effectiveness of adrenocorticotrophic hormone (H.P. Acthar[®] Gel) in nephrotic syndrome due to idiopathic membranous nephropathy. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2014) 29(8):1570–7. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfu069
- Rauen T, Michaelis A, Floege J, Mertens PR. Case series of idiopathic membranous nephropathy with long-term beneficial effects of ACTH peptide 1-24. *Clin Nephrol* (2009) 71(6):637–42. doi:10.5414/CNP71637
- Ponticelli C, Passerini P, Salvadori M, Manno C, Viola BF, Pasquali S, et al. A randomized pilot trial comparing methylprednisolone plus a cytotoxic agent versus synthetic adrenocorticotropic hormone in idiopathic membranous nephropathy. *Am J Kidney Dis* (2006) 47(2):233–40. doi:10.1053/j. ajkd.2005.10.016
- 77. Hogan J, Bomback AS, Mehta K, Canetta PA, Rao MK, Appel GB, et al. Treatment of idiopathic FSGS with adrenocorticotropic hormone

gel. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol (2013) 8(12):2072-81. doi:10.2215/ CJN.02840313

- Berg A-L, Arnadottir M. ACTH-induced improvement in the nephrotic syndrome in patients with a variety of diagnoses. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2004) 19(5):1305–7. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfh110
- Gibson KL, Glenn D, Ferris ME. Back to the future: therapies for idiopathic nephrotic syndrome. *Blood Purif* (2015) 39(1–3):105–9. doi:10.1159/ 000368951
- Greka A. Human genetics of nephrotic syndrome and the quest for precision medicine. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* (2016) 25(2):138–43. doi:10.1097/ MNH.00000000000204
- Thomson R, Genovese G, Canon C, Kovacsics D, Higgins MK, Carrington M, et al. Evolution of the primate trypanolytic factor APOL1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2014) 111(20):E2130-9. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1400699111
- Ma L, Shelness GS, Snipes JA, Murea M, Antinozzi PA, Cheng D, et al. Localization of APOL1 protein and mRNA in the human kidney: nondiseased

tissue, primary cells, and immortalized cell lines. J Am Soc Nephrol (2015) 26(2):339-48. doi:10.1681/ASN.2013091017

 Ruchi R, Genovese G, Lee J, Charoonratana VT, Bernhardy AJ, Alper SL, et al. Copy number variation at the APOL1 locus. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(5):e0125410. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0125410

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Pal and Kaskel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Pathology of Podocytopathies Causing Nephrotic Syndrome in Children

Sarangarajan Ranganathan*

Department of Pathology, Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh of UPMC, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Nephrotic syndrome (NS) in children includes a diverse group of diseases that range from genetic diseases without any immunological defects to causes that are primarily due to immunological effects. Recent advances in molecular and genomic studies have resulted in a plethora of genetic defects that have been localized to the podocyte, the basic structure that is instrumental in normal filtration process. Although the disease can manifest from birth and into adulthood, the primary focus of this review would be to describe the novel genes and pathology of primary podocyte defects that cause NS in children. This review will restrict itself to the pathology of congenital NS, minimal change disease (MCD), and its variants and focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS). The two major types of congenital NS are Finnish type characterized by dilated sausage shaped tubules morphologically and diffuse mesangial sclerosis characterized by glomerulosclerosis. MCD has usually normal appearing biopsy features on light microscopy and needs electron microscopy for diagnosis, whereas FSGS in contrast has classic segmental sclerosing lesions identified in different portions of the glomeruli and tubular atrophy. This review summarizes the pathological characteristics of these conditions and also delves into the various genetic defects that have been described as the cause of these primary podocytopathies. Other secondary causes of NS in children, such as membranoproliferative and membranous glomerulonephritis, will not be covered in this review.

Keywords: congenital nephrotic syndrome, Finnish type, diffuse mesangial sclerosis, minimal change disease, focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, C1q nephropathy

INTRODUCTION

The kidney is the main organ of filtration in the body, and the daily protein loss is only a small portion of the total protein ingested. Nephrotic syndrome (NS) is characterized by heavy proteinuria that exceeds 1.66 g/1.73 m²/day in children, edema, hypoalbuminemia, and hyperlipidemia (1). Although the causes of NS are many and diverse, it is a frequent cause of renal disease in children with an annual incidence of about 2 to 7 children per 100,000 (1). The International Study of Kidney Disease in Children lists minimal change disease (MCD) as the commonest cause of primary NS in children affecting 77% of the children followed by focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS) at about 8% followed by membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis (MPGN) and membranous glomerulonephritis (2). The causes of NS also vary to some extent with the age of presentation with the congenital forms more directly associated with specific genetic defects and those appearing in later childhood related more often to secondary causes.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Robert P. Woroniecki, State University of New York, USA

Reviewed by:

Francois Cachat, University Hospital of Bern, Switzerland Mohamad Ikram Ilias, Hospital Universiti Sains Malaysia, Malaysia

*Correspondence:

Sarangarajan Ranganathan sarangarajan.ranganathan@chp.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 16 December 2015 Accepted: 21 March 2016 Published: 31 March 2016

Citation:

Ranganathan S (2016) Pathology of Podocytopathies Causing Nephrotic Syndrome in Children. Front. Pediatr. 4:32. doi: 10.3389/fped.2016.00032

12

PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF NS

The primary defect in NS is loss of proteins in the kidney. Although lack of tubular reabsorption could lead to proteinuria, NS range proteinuria usually implies permeability defects in the glomerular membrane that results in this excessive protein loss. This leads to albuminuria and hence the associated hypoalbuminemia and edema, the two main manifestations of NS. The hyperlipidemia is usually due to the increased lipoprotein synthesis induced by the hypoalbuminemia, and this may lead to increased platelet aggregation and thrombosis, one of the complications of NS. The loss of other proteins, minerals, and vitamins with the proteinuria may also predispose to malnutrition and infections. The most dramatic advances for understanding the pathophysiology of NS has occurred in the area of podocyte biology and the structure of the slit diaphragm (3-5). The glomerular filtration barrier consists of the fenestrated capillary endothelium, the extracellular basement membrane, and the intercalated podocyte foot processes. NS is associated with the biopsy finding of effacement of podocyte foot processes. Effacement is characterized by flattening of the podocyte, retraction of foot processes, and sometimes microvillous transformation. It has also been understood that MCNS and FSGS can be classified as podocytopathies, in which disruption of slit diaphragm and normal podocyte function can lead to proteinuria and glomerular disease. Details of the structure and mechanisms of podocyte injury and defects are beyond the scope of this article, and readers are directed to several reviews on podocytes (3-5).

CAUSES OF NEPHROTIC SYNDROME IN CHILDREN

The causes of NS show some variations depending on the age of the child with early onset NS usually representing primary genetic or idiopathic causes, such as congenital NS, due to any of the known genetic defects or MCD and less often FSGS (**Table 1**) (2,6,7). As the age increases, the ratio of MCD and FSGS may vary with secondary causes becoming more common in the second decade. Although NS may be the only presentation in children, often the condition is precipitated or can be seen as part of a nephritic syndrome. There is still some controversy on whether MCD and FSGS are related entities with MCD representing the early form of a disease and FSGS the late stage. This is especially so since there is often the finding of an early biopsy with MCD changes with refractory disease and a later biopsy showing features of FSGS. Also, while several genes have now been identified in MCD and FSGS, no distinct genetic defects have been found for these two diseases (7).

GENETICS OF NS

The podocyte, as mentioned before, is the critical structure and has a critical role in pathogenesis of NS (**Table 2**; **Figure 1**). Podocytes form foot processes and slit diaphragms as part of normal development. This leads to the expression of specific proteins, such as ZO-1, in the slit diaphragm and nephrin, podocin, and CD2AP (adhesion molecule CD2-associated protein) are expressed (5). Nephrin gene mutations cause Finnish-type nephropathy (7, 8).

TABLE 1 | Causes of nephrotic syndrome in children.

Genetic

Congenital nephrotic syndrome of Finnish type Diffuse mesangial sclerosis (DMS) Isolated DMS Part of Denys–Drash syndrome Epidermolysis bullosa associated Steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome Familial focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS)

Infectious causes

Congenital infections including syphilis, toxoplasmosis, and HIV Cytomegalovirus HIV-associated nephropathy

Idiopathic

Minimal change nephropathy Focal segmental glomerulosclerosis Diffuse mesangial hypercellularity Membranous glomerulonephritis Membranoproliferative GN (MPGN) (NS may predominate or with nephritic syndrome)

Others

Lupus nephropathy IgA nephropathy Drugs Malignancies Hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS)

Other developmental genes involved in podocyte structure and function include Pax-2 and WT1. The WT1 gene mutation results in the Denys–Drash syndrome and Frasier syndrome. Podocin gene defects cause familial autosomal-recessive steroid-resistant NS in early childhood. The individual genetic defects are described further in the respective disease sections. It is critical to understand the structure of the podocyte and the basement membrane with all its collagen to understand the genetic defects and their potential effect. Discovery of novel mutations has led to further understanding of the biology and prognosis of these diseases.

ROLE OF RENAL BIOPSY IN DIAGNOSIS OF NS

In many instances, there may be no role for pathologist for diagnosis due to the ability to do genetic testing for individual mutations and due to the response to steroid therapy, but increasing incidence of resistance to steroid therapy has increased the role of the pathologist in determining if FSGS is the cause of steroid resistance. Other causes for biopsy are presence of coexisting nephritic syndrome and for determination of other causes of NS. All renal biopsies need triaging for adequacy to perform immunofluorescence and electron microscopy (EM). In view of the broad etiology and associated conditions, the pathologist very often has a critical role in guiding therapy in these patients. Routine histology warrants a PAS and silver stain for assessment of basement membranes and a Masson trichrome stain for assessment of fibrosis and glomerulosclerosis as well as vascular changes. The standard panel for IF includes IgG, IgA, IgM, C3, C4, C1q, and albumin with kappa and lambda where needed. EM is necessary for diagnosis in many instances.

TABLE 2 | Genetic causes of nephrotic syndrome.

Genes	Location (if known)	Protein	Significant clinical association
NPHS1	19q13.12	Nephrin	CNS Finnish type
NPHS2	1q25.2	Podocin	Steroid-resistant NS; rapidly progressive renal disease; FSGS
WT1 (NPHS4)	11p13	Wilms' tumor 1	Denys–Drash syndrome; nephrotic syndrome–FSGS; Frasier syndrome
SMARCAL1	2q35	SW1/SNF related	Schimke immunoosseous dysplasia
PLCE1 (NPHS3)	10q23.33	Phospholipase C _E 1	DMS, FSGS
PTPRO	12p12.3	Protein tyrosine phosphatase, receptor-type O	Steroid-resistant NS
LAMB2	3p21.31	Laminin, beta-2	CNS with ocular abnormalities; Pierson syndrome
INF2 (FSGS 5)	14q32.33	Inverted formin 2	FSGS
COQ6	14q24.3	Coenzyme Q10 def, primary 6	Progressive NS in infancy with sensorineural deafness; FSGS, DMS
MYO1E (FSGS6)	15q21	Myosin 1E	FSGS (AR)
TRPC6 (FSGS2)	11q22.1	Transient receptor potential cation channel, subfamily C, member 6	FSGS (AD)
COQ2	4q21.23	Coenzyme Q10 deficiency-1	Steroid-resistant NS
LMX1B	9q33.3	LIM homeobox transcription factor 1, beta	Nail–patella syndrome
ADCK4 (NPHS9)	19q13.2	AARF domain-containing kinase 4	NS (AR)
PDSS2	6q21	Prenyl diphosphate synthese, subunit 2	NS
ACTN4 (FSGS1)	19q13.2	Alpha-actinin-4	FSGS
CD2AP (FSGS3)	6p12.3	CD2-associated protein	FSGS
MYH9	22q13.1	Non-muscle myosin IIA heavy chain	FSGS, collapsing glomerulopathy



nephrotic syndrome.

PATHOLOGY OF COMMON CAUSES OF NS IN CHILDHOOD

Congenital Nephrotic Syndrome of Finnish Type

It is an autosomal-recessive disorder with an incidence of 1:8200 births in Finland (9). It is also seen in North American

and European populations and is a cause of congenital NS with prenatal presentation in many cases. Diagnosis has been made *in utero* by amniocentesis that shows elevated alpha-fetoprotein as early as 16–18 weeks gestation (10). It results in small for gestational age neonate with prematurity, deformities due to contractures and an abnormally enlarged placenta. It results in heavy proteinuria in the neonatal period with selective proteinuria in



with dilated proximal tubules with proteinaceous contents (H&E 100x). (B) Another area from this resected renal specimen showing the varying shapes of the dilated proximal tubules, a characteristic feature of congenital NS (H&E 100x). (C) Another image from the opposite kidney showing the same morphological features with no segmental sclerosis evident at this time (H&E 100x).



FIGURE 3 | Histological images for diffuse mesangial sclerosis. (A) An image from another nephrectomy specimen showing the numerous dilated tubules with small occasional glomeruli (H&E 40x). (B) Higher magnification of the glomeruli showing a solidified appearance on light microscopy (H&E 200x). (C) A Jones silver stain highlighting the solidified loops with accentuation of the epithelial cells on the surface. No capillary loops are identified (Jones methanamine silver 200x). (D) A trichrome stain showing the mesangial sclerosis characteristic of this disease. Note again the prominent epithelial cells. Progressive disease leads to glomerular obsolescence and interstitial fibrosis seen in this image (Trichrome 200x).





the early stages and more non-selective proteinuria in the later stages as the disease progresses. Most infants do not survive beyond 1 year of life, usually due to infections and sepsis related to loss of immunoglobulins. The gene for Finnish nephropathy (FN) is *NPHS1* mapped to the long arm of chromosome 19 (19q13.1) that codes for nephrin (7, 11, 12). Several nephrin mutations have now been identified. The typical mutations are a 2-bp deletion in exon 2 (Fin-major) or a nonsense mutation in exon 26 (Fin-minor). Renal biopsy shows normal glomeruli or some with mesangial hypercellularity, hyperlobulated capillary tufts, and some scarring. Microcystic dilatation of proximal and distal tubules is also seen, and there may be associated interstitial fibrosis and inflammation (**Figure 2**). Immunofluorescence is negative, whereas EM shows diffuse foot process effacement with or without villous transformation. Immunohistochemical stain for nephrin, now commercially available will show negative staining of podocyte. This stain helps in differentiating FN from other causes of congenital NS. Development of anti-nephrin antibodies and recurrence in allograft kidney has been reported (13).

Diffuse Mesangial Sclerosis

This is the second most common cause of congenital NS diagnosed on renal biopsy. Although the presentation is similar to that of FN, diffuse mesangial sclerosis (DMS) can present later up to 4 years of age. It presents with unremitting NS within the first 9 months of life usually. Infants develop hypertension with rapid onset of renal failure. The combination of DMS, Wilms tumor, and male pseudohermaphroditism constitutes Denys–Drash syndrome (14). Other associations include cataract, strabismus, nystagmus, myopia and aniridia, mental retardation, microcephaly,

TABLE 3 | Common forms of familial FSGS.

Inheritance	Typical age of onset	Distinguishing clinical features
AR	Infancy	Congenital nephrotic syndrome (Finnish type); severe nephrosis leading to ESRD
AR	3 months to 5 years	10–20% of SRNS in children
AD	Child	Diffuse mesangial sclerosis/ FSGS ± Wilms tumor or urogenital lesions
AR	4 months to 12 years	Diffuse mesangial sclerosis/ FSGS
AR	<6 years	Rre, progresses to ESRD
AD	Teen/young adult	Mild nephrotic syndrome, but progressive CKD
AD	Any age	Mild nephrotic syndrome may develop progressive CKD
AD	Adult (age 20–35 years)	Nephrotic, progressive CKD
Mitochondrial DNA	Adult	May be associated deafness, diabetes, muscle problems, retinopathy (maternal inheritance)
	AR AR AD AD AR AR AD AD AD Mitochondrial	ARInfancyARInfancyAR3 months to 5 yearsADChildAR4 months to 12 yearsAR-6 yearsAR-6 yearsADTeen/young adultADAny ageADAdult (age 20-35 years)MitochondrialAdult

deafness, musculoskeletal abnormalities, and cleft palate. DMS is also part of the Galloway-Mowat syndrome, Pierson syndrome (LAMB2 mutations), and Frasier syndrome (7). It is caused by WT1 gene mutations in exon 8 or 9 (14). Frasier syndrome is usually caused by a splice variant mutation in exon 9 (15). The earliest light microscopic feature is increased mesangial matrix that is global and diffuse. There is a gradient of changes seen from the outer to the inner cortex with the most severe sclerosis being seen in the outer cortex, DMS in the mid zone and milder sclerosis in the inner zone (Figure 3). In some cases, prominent focal or global glomerulosclerosis may be seen. Podocytes may be prominent over the tufts. Severe tubulointerstitial damage with cysts and tubular ectasia may be seen. Immunofluorescence shows no immune deposits or non-specific mesangial IgM, C3, and C1q, whereas EM shows variable effacement of foot processes. Glomerular basement membrane lamellations and splitting similar to Alport's syndrome may be seen. In late stages, there is widening of the BM with thickened capillary loops and finally a sclerotic glomerulus.

Minimal Change Disease

Minimal change disease is more common in boys than girls with a ratio of 2:1. Almost 80% of cases occur in children <6 years of age (median age 2.5 years) (1, 16). It can be idiopathic, secondary, or familial. The most common form is sporadic MCD that is usually steroid sensitive. The genes mutated in MCD include NPHS1 and NPHS 2 (7). Mutations in the dysferlin gene have also been described. More recently, mutations in epithelial membrane protein 2 (EMP2) gene have been shown to cause childhood-onset

NS. Crumbs homolog 2 (CRB2) defects have been associated with steroid-resistant NS. NPHS2 mutations have been associated with steroid resistance (17, 18).

Light microscopy usually shows normal glomeruli and tubules with the only change being prominence and swelling of visceral epithelial cells (2, 16). Patchy mild expansion of the mesangium may be seen in some cases (Figure 4). Histological finding of even a single glomerulus with segmental sclerosis, hyalinosis, or synechiae is enough to warrant a diagnosis of FSGS. Immunofluorescence is usually negative for any immune deposits, although there may be weak staining for IgM or C3 in a mesangial location in some cases. Albumin is positive within tubules reflecting the albuminuria. EM shows diffuse foot process effacement with prominent villous transformation, directly correlating with the severity of proteinuria and less prominent and patchy following treatment. Although this is the usual pattern, variants with increased mesangial hypercellularity are described. Immature glomeruli may be seen with this mesangial hypercellularity variant. In those patients presenting with acute renal failure, acute tubular injury and interstitial inflammation may be seen. Tubular atrophy is, however, not a feature of MCD. In those cases where IF shows deposits, the most likely ones are IgM (IgM nephropathy) or C1q (C1q nephropathy). In those where IgA is the dominant immunoglobulin, coexistent IgA nephropathy must be considered (19). The differential diagnosis for MCD is FSGS and as mentioned earlier, presence of any of the glomerular changes or foci of tubular atrophy in the absence of typical FSGS lesion, should raise the possibility of FSGS. Foot process effacement is not specific to MCD and can be seen in any cause of severe proteinuria. The debate over C1q being a specific subtype is still open as more recent data seems to suggest that though the initial response to therapy is poorer in this group, the overall long-term outcome is not different from cases of MCD.

The diffuse mesangial hypercellularity variant of MCD defined by presence of more than four mesangial cells per mesangial region affecting at least 80% of the glomeruli is a rarer cause of NS in children (16, 20). These patients can present with hematuria and hypertension unlike classic MCD children. IF shows mainly IgM and C3 in the mesangium, whereas EM shows paramesangial deposits besides the diffuse foot process effacement. This variant is usually associated with increased initial resistance to steroid therapy, but the overall remission rates are similar to MCD.

IgM nephropathy is another unusual variant of MCD characterized by at least 2+ staining intensity for IgM on IF (20). The distribution is mainly mesangial but could be membranous, but EM shows only a few small paramesangial deposits, suggesting that this deposition may be more of protein trapping rather than an immune complex disease. Initial steroid resistance is followed by remission (21).

Focal Segmental Glomerulosclerosis

Focal segmental glomerulosclerosis is defined by the presence of segmental sclerotic lesions within glomeruli causing NS. It is the cause of NS in about 10–20% of cases in children. There is an association with low birth weight infants, especially for secondary FSGS (22). The causes are manifold and include



FIGURE 5 | Primary focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. (A,B) Photomicrographs showing two glomeruli with a segmental lesion characterized by obliteration of capillary loops with solidification and eosinophilia of the segment due to sclerosis (H&E 200x). (C,D) PAS stained sections showing a focal sclerosing lesion in a segment in (C) and in the perihilar region in (D) close to the vascular pole. Note again the preservation of capillary loops in other segments of the glomeruli (PAS 200x). (E) A trichrome stain showing the perihilar zone of sclerosis as evidenced by the blue staining of that segment. Note also some fibrin deposition in that area (red) (Trichrome 200x). (F) Immunofluorescence showing strong staining for albumin in the tubules, a characteristic feature of nephrotic syndrome in general. Not shown is the associated IgG deposition (DIF 100x). (G,H) Two electron photomicrographs showing collapsed loops in the (H) with effacement of foot processes in both images. Typically, the foot process effacement may be segmental and over the sclerosed segments (EM 3400x).

primary idiopathic FSGS, genetic, and familial cases included under secondary FSGS, and secondary FSGS due to systemic diseases, which are more common in adults but can be seen in older children too (**Table 3**).

Primary (Idiopathic) FSGS

This is the most common pattern of FSGS in children with a slight male preponderance and increased incidence in the African-American population (23). It presents with NS in 90%



FIGURE 6 | Secondary FSGS. (A) An image showing a biopsy with interstitial fibrosis, tubular atrophy, and a segmentally sclerosed glomerulus (H&E 100x). (B) PAS stain showing the extensive tubular atrophy (PAS 100x). (C) PAS stain showing two glomeruli, one larger than the other with the smaller one showing an area of sclerosis associated with epithelial cell proliferation in that area (PAS 200x). (D) A silver stain showing the segmental sclerosis in the perihilar region (Jones 200x). (E,F) Electron micrographs showing two images of the basement membranes with variable diameters showing prominent splitting of lamina densa with a basket weave appearance characteristic of hereditary nephritis, proven by collagen studies. Note also the microvillous transformation of foot processes and effacement in this patient with nephrotic range proteinuria (11,500x).

of cases but may present with renal insufficiency, hypertension, and hematuria in a proportion of cases. The histological variants described for FSGS include the classic or FSGS NOS variant, cellular variant, tip lesion, FSGS with mesangial hypercellularity, perihilar FSGS, and collapsing FSGS. Light microscopy for FSGS NOS is characterized by discrete segmental solidification of the glomerular tuft with a predilection for the juxtaglomerular region in the early stages of the disease. They commonly affect the vascular pole or the periphery of the tuft. The capillaries are occluded by acellular matrix material that produces intramembranous hyalinosis lesions highlighted as bright pink with a PAS stain and red with a trichrome stain, with progressive wrinkling of the membranes, development of adhesions and synechiae with the Bowman's capsule with a prominence of visceral epithelial cells over this tuft (**Figure 5**). While focal lesions are the rule in early cases, with progression, glomerular obsolescence results. Tubular atrophy and interstitial fibrosis are evident in the vicinity of the sclerosed glomerulus involving the same nephron unit. Tubules contain protein resorption droplets and lipid droplets (24–26). IF usually shows focal and segmental granular IgM and C3, both within the membranes of the sclerosed segment and mesangium. Albumin will be noted in tubules. EM shows wrinkling and retraction of the glomerular basement membrane with accumulation of hyaline. There is complete effacement of foot processes overlying the sclerotic region with podocyte hypertrophy and focal microvillus transformation. Effacement may be mild to severe in the adjacent non-sclerotic glomeruli but affects more than half the surface membrane.



FIGURE 7 | Collapsing glomerulopathy. (A,B) H&E images showing a low power and higher magnification appearance of a glomerulus with prominent epithelial cells and closed capillary loops better visualized on special stains (H&E 100x and 200x). (C) A PAS stain showing the collapsed cords of basement membranes with exuberant epithelial cell proliferation that seems to "choke" the capillary loops (PAS 400x). (D) A silver stain showing another glomerulus with wrinkling of the basement membranes and prominent epithelial cell proliferation (Jones 400x).

Cellular FSGS

This variant is characterized on light microscopy by segmental hypercellularity resembling focal proliferative GN with areas of the tuft showing endocapillary proliferation with luminal obliteration of capillaries, increased mesangial cells, and prominent increase in inflammatory cells, including neutrophils, foam cells, and monocytes, with marked podocyte hyperplasia giving the appearance of crescents (pseudocrescents). IF shows some IgM and C3, whereas EM shows no significant deposits but prominent foot process effacement with intact basement membranes.

Tip Lesion

This is characterized by proliferation of swollen podocytes and endocapillary proliferation with progressive obsolescence located at the tip of the tuft at the origin of the proximal tubule. As the lesion progresses, it results in a segmental scar in that area. There is associated tubular atrophy and interstitial fibrosis develops over time and may not be a feature in the early classic tip lesions. IF again shows IgM and C3, whereas EM resembles the cellular variant.

Primary FSGS with Mesangial Hypercellularity

In this variant, the histology reveals classic segmental sclerosing lesions associated with podocyte hyperplasia but with the associated finding of mesangial hypercellularity in the non-sclerotic glomeruli. The IF shows a diffuse presence of IgM and C3 in the mesangium of non-sclerotic glomeruli and in the zone of sclerosis. The EM shows extensive foot process effacement with no electron dense deposits.

Familial FSGS

Familial FSGS probably accounts for about 20% of cases of FSGS and can manifest at any age (27). The incidence increases to twothirds of cases discovered in the first year of life. Several newer mutations have now been described to be associated with FSGS pattern of injury including mutations in the *NPHS2* gene (podocin defect, chromosome 1q25-31), with an autosomal-recessive mode of inheritance, actinin 4 defect (*ACTN4*, autosomal dominant), TRPC6 (transient receptor potential cation channel, subfamily C, member 6), and CD2AP (7, 28, 29). Of these the podocin defect is the most common and can be detected by immunohistochemistry that shows loss of podocin staining. Other mutations and their known associations are shown in **Table 3**.

Secondary FSGS

Segmental sclerosis can occur commonly in other diseases, not only in adults but also in children. The most common pediatric diseases that can have a component of associated NS in addition to a nephritic picture with histological evidence of FSGS include IgA nephropathy, Hereditary nephritis (Alport's syndrome), and lupus nephritis The histological picture and immunofluorescence usually reveal the underlying disease, for example, mesangial hypercellularity and mesangial IgA in IgA nephropathy, fullhouse pattern in lupus nephritis, and thin basement membrane



FIGURE 8 | C1q nephropathy. (A,B) Light microscopy showing a low and high magnification images of normal appearing glomeruli in this child with nephrotic syndrome. Note one glomerulus in (B) is undergoing normal obsolescence (H&E 100x and 200x). (C) A silver stain showing normal glomeruli with no tubular atrophy (Jones 100x). (D) Immunofluorescence for C1q shows a 2+ staining in a mesangial location within a glomerulus. All other stains were negative, including C3, IgG, and IgM (DIF 100x). (E,F) Electron micrographs showing open capillary loops with mesangial, paramesangial, and even some subendothelial deposits. Note diffuse foot process effacement (3400x and 7100x).

disease with basement membrane abnormalities on EM in Alport's syndrome (Figure 6).

OTHER HISTOLOGICAL VARIANTS OF FSGS

Collapsing Glomerulopathy

Collapsing variant of FSGS is characterized by progressive obliteration of capillary lumina due to wrinkling and shrinking of the basement membranes (23, 25, 30). It is relatively uncommon in children and was originally described in patients with HIV, but subsequently also seen in the absence of HIV. Other causes of collapsing glomerulopathy (CG) include infections, such as malaria and visceral leishmaniasis, drugs, such as interferon-alpha, bisphosphonates, and valproic acid, and autoimmune diseases, such as thrombotic microangiopathy and hematologic malignancies (31). They are as a group associated with progressive renal failure and have more severe disease at presentation. In children, rare forms associated with mitochondrial disorders have been reported. The COQ2 mutation is the most common and inherited as an autosomal-recessive condition, encoding for para-hydroxybenzoate-polyprenyl-transferase enzyme of the CoQ10 synthesis pathway (32). The MYH9 gene, an encoding non-muscle myosin IIA heavy chain gene, has been implicated in HIV associated CG and genetic FSGS in patients of African descent (33). A renal biopsy shows characteristic CG with glomerular epithelial cells showing abnormal mitochondria. It is important to recognize

TABLE 4 | Pathological features of podocytopathies in children.

Diagnosis	Light microscopy glomeruli	LM tubulointerstitial changes	Immunofluorescence	Electron microscopy
CNS Finnish type	Normal immature glomeruli early; later mesangial increase; sclerosis over time	Early cystic changes in tubules, prominent over time. No casts, epithelium attenuated	Initial none; later IgM and C3	Foot process effacement. No deposits. Non-specific
DMS	Increased mesangial matrix diffuse; segmental sclerosis possible; podocyte hyperplasia	Tubular ectasia, small cysts, casts, progress to atrophy and interstitial fibrosis	lgM and C3 in mesangium	Extensive foot process effacement; increased mesangial matrix, no deposits. BM thickened and lamellated
Minimal change Disease (MCD)	Normal appearance of glomeruli, some podocyte prominence	Normal	Negative	Diffuse effacement of foot processes; partial if treated
FSGS cellular	Segmental hypercellularity – endothelial cells, foam cells, and inflammatory cells, podocyte hyperplasia – pseudocrescents	Atrophy variable with blood in tubules; interstitial inflammation	C3, IgM	Foot process effacement restricted. Capillary lumina occluded
FSGS NOS	Segmental sclerosis, podocyte hyperplasia, random distribution of sclerotic segment; hyalinosis	Atrophy with interstitial inflammation and fibrosis variable	C3 and IgM	Foot process effacement in region of sclerosis. No deposits usually but small paramesangial
FSGS with mesangial hypercellularity	Segmental sclerosis, mesangial hypercellularity of non-sclerotic glomeruli	Tubular atrophy and interstitial fibrosis	IgM and C3 in sclerosis and diffusely in mesangium	Extensive podocyte effacement segmental. No deposits
Collapsing glomerulopathy	Diffuse basement membrane wrinkling with collapse of capillary BM with obliteration of lumina, diffuse podocyte hyperplasia	Extensive, atrophy, interstitial inflammation, edema, fibrosis, tubular regeneration	IgM, C3	Wrinkling of BM, podocyte prominence, foot process effacement. Rare paramesangial deposits, tubuloreticular inclusions only in HIV
C1q nephropathy	Normal or FSGS	Normal or tubular atrophy. Variable interstitial changes	C1q at least 2+; lgG, lgM, C3	Mesangial and paramesangial deposits; rare subendothelial, foot process effacement

this variant, as it responds to ubiquinone replacement therapy. Histologically, CG is characterized by an implosive collapse of the capillary loops with wrinkling and contraction of the basement membrane with compensatory hypertrophy and hyperplasia of the podocytes, which tend to fill the Bowman's space resembling crescents (**Figure 7**). There is no endothelial proliferation in this condition and no hyaline droplets or lipid is noted. Prominent tubulointerstitial changes are a feature. Typically, no significant deposits are noted in the membrane besides some IgM and C3. EM shows wrinkling with little to no thickening of the basement membranes with marked hypertrophy of the overlying podocytes. There is marked foot process effacement involving even the glomeruli without the collapsing lesions. In general, patients with CG progress rapidly to renal failure and show resistance to steroid therapy.

C1q Nephropathy

As mentioned before, the existence of C1q nephropathy as a distinct subgroup of NS has been debated. The original description of this entity was by Jennette and Hipp (34). Although originally described as a form of FSGS, the histological spectrum for C1q nephropathy (**Figure 8**) could range from MCD to mild mesangial proliferation to FSGS (35). The clinical manifestations include nephrotic range proteinuria with or without hematuria, with hypertension and renal insufficiency in a subset of patients (36, 37). Serology is usually negative, and serum C3 and C4 levels are normal. Most patients seem to present with steroid-resistant NS. The hallmark is presence of strong (2+ and above) staining

for C1q on IF in a mesangial pattern (35, 38). IgG and/or IgM may also be present to some extent as can IgA. EM would show features of either MCD or FSGS with some mesangial electron dense deposits. The deposits may be predominantly seen in a "paramesangial" location. Foot process fusion will also be noted (34, 35). The important differential diagnosis to exclude for this condition is lupus nephritis and IgA nephropathy. These two conditions are distinguished by their distinct immunofluorescence pattern and in the case of lupus nephritis with finding of tubuloreticular inclusions on EM. A membranoproliferative pattern of histology would also not favor a diagnosis of C1q nephropathy.

The exact significance of this entity is still debated with its relationship to outcome being variable. They do not necessarily portend a worse outcome as previously believed with a median renal survival in C1q nephropathy/FSGS being about 81 months (35). They may be, however, associated with relapses, steroid-resistant, and steroid-dependent NS (21).

In conclusion, the pathology of podocytopathies have some unique and some overlapping features and are frequently associated with specific genetic mutations. A summary of the pathological findings have been summarized in **Table 4** for the reader.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author has reviewed the literature and provided a succinct account of the genetics and pathology of nephrotic syndrome in children.

REFERENCES

- Roth KS, Amaker BH, Chan JC. Nephrotic syndrome: pathogenesis and management. *Pediatr Rev* (2002) 23(7):237–48. doi:10.1542/pir.23-7-237
- Nephrotic syndrome in children: prediction of histopathology from clinical and laboratory characteristics at time of diagnosis. A report of the International Study of Kidney Disease in Children. *Kidney Int* (1978) 13(2):159–65. doi:10.1038/ki.1978.23
- Mundel P, Shankland SJ. Podocyte biology and response to injury. J Am Soc Nephrol (2002) 13(12):3005–15. doi:10.1097/01.ASN.0000039661.06947.FD
- Shankland SJ. The podocyte's response to injury: role in proteinuria and glomerulosclerosis. *Kidney Int* (2006) 69(12):2131–47. doi:10.1038/sj.ki.5000410
- Wiggins RC. The spectrum of podocytopathies: a unifying view of glomerular diseases. *Kidney Int* (2007) 71(12):1205–14. doi:10.1038/sj.ki.5002222
- 6. Churg J, Habib R, White RH. Pathology of the nephrotic syndrome in children: a report for the International Study of Kidney Disease in Children. *Lancet* (1970) **760**(1):1299–302. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(70)91905-7
- Liapis H. Molecular pathology of nephrotic syndrome in childhood: a contemporary approach to diagnosis. *Pediatr Dev Pathol* (2008) 11(4):154–63. doi:10.2350/07-11-0375.1
- Suvanto M, Jahnukainen T, Kestilä M, Jalanko H. Podocyte proteins in congenital and minimal change nephrotic syndrome. *Clin Exp Nephrol* (2015) 19(3):481–8. doi:10.1007/s10157-014-1020-z
- Huttunen NP. Congenital nephrotic syndrome of Finnish type. Study of 75 patients. Arch Dis Child (1976) 51(5):344–8. doi:10.1136/adc.51.5.344
- Seppälä M, Rapola J, Huttunen NP, Aula P, Karjalainen O, Ruoslahti E. Congenital nephrotic syndrome: prenatal diagnosis and genetic counselling by estimation of aminotic-fluid and maternal serum alpha-fetoprotein. *Lancet* (1976) 2(7977):123–5. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(76)92847-6
- Patrakka J, Kestilä M, Wartiovaara J, Ruotsalainen V, Tissari P, Lenkkeri U, et al. Congenital nephrotic syndrome (NPHS1): features resulting from different mutations in Finnish patients. *Kidney Int* (2000) 58(3):972–80. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.2000.00254.x
- Tikhomirov E, Voznesenskaya T, Tsygin A. Novel human pathological mutations. Gene symbol: NPHS1. Disease: congenital nephrotic syndrome, Finnish type. *Hum Genet* (2009) 125(3):334.
- Qvist E, Laine J, Rönnholm K, Jalanko H, Leijala M, Holmberg C. Graft function 5-7 years after renal transplantation in early childhood. *Transplantation* (1999) 67(7):1043–9. doi:10.1097/00007890-199904150-00018
- Lipska BS, Ranchin B, Iatropoulos P, Gellermann J, Melk A, Ozaltin F, et al. Genotype-phenotype associations in WT1 glomerulopathy. *Kidney Int* (2014) 85(5):1169–78. doi:10.1038/ki.2013.519
- Klamt B, Koziell A, Poulat F, Wieacker P, Scambler P, Berta P, et al. Frasier syndrome is caused by defective alternative splicing of WT1 leading to an altered ratio of WT1 ± KTS splice isoforms. *Hum Mol Genet* (1998) 7(4):709–14. doi:10.1093/hmg/7.4.709
- Primary nephrotic syndrome in children: clinical significance of histopathologic variants of minimal change and of diffuse mesangial hypercellularity. A Report of the International Study of Kidney Disease in Children. *Kidney Int* (1981) 20(6):765–71. doi:10.1038/ki.1981.209
- Tory K, Menyhárd DK, Woerner S, Nevo F, Gribouval O, Kerti A, et al. Mutation-dependent recessive inheritance of NPHS2-associated steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome. *Nat Genet* (2014) 46(3):299–304. doi:10.1038/ ng.2898
- Bouchireb K, Boyer O, Gribouval O, Nevo F, Huynh-Cong E, Morinière V, et al. NPHS2 mutations in steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome: a mutation update and the associated phenotypic spectrum. *Hum Mutat* (2014) 35(2):178–86. doi:10.1002/humu.22485
- Herlitz LC, Bomback AS, Stokes MB, Radhakrishnan J, D'Agati VD, Markowitz GS. IgA nephropathy with minimal change disease. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2014) 9(6):1033–9. doi:10.2215/CJN.11951113
- Matsukura H, Higuchi O, Arai M, Itoh Y, Miyawaki T. Minimal change variants: IgM nephropathy. *Clin Nephrol* (2006) 65(2):147–9. doi:10.5414/ CNP65147
- 21. Vintar Spreitzer M, Vizjak A, Ferluga D, Kenda RB, Kersnik Levart T. Do C1q or IgM nephropathies predict disease severity in children with minimal

change nephrotic syndrome? *Pediatr Nephrol* (2014) **29**(1):67–74. doi:10.1007/ s00467-013-2551-3

- 22. Hodgin JB, Rasoulpour M, Markowitz GS, D'Agati VD. Very low birth weight is a risk factor for secondary focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2009) 4(1):71–6. doi:10.2215/CJN.01700408
- D'Agati VD, Alster JM, Jennette JC, Thomas DB, Pullman J, Savino DA, et al. Association of histologic variants in FSGS clinical trial with presenting features and outcomes. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2013) 8(3):399–406. doi:10.2215/ CJN.06100612
- D'Agati VD. The spectrum of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis: new insights. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* (2008) 17(3):271–81. doi:10.1097/ MNH.0b013e3282f94a96
- D'Agati V. Pathologic classification of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. Semin Nephrol (2003) 23(2):117–34. doi:10.1053/snep.2003.50012
- D'Agati VD, Fogo AB, Bruijn JA, Jennette JC. Pathologic classification of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis: a working proposal. *Am J Kidney Dis* (2004) 43(2):368–82. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2003.10.024
- D'Agati VD. Pathobiology of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis: new developments. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens (2012) 21(3):243–50. doi:10.1097/ MNH.0b013e32835200df
- Obeidová L, Reiterová J, Lněnička P, Štekrová J, Šafránková H, Kohoutová M, et al. TRPC6 gene variants in Czech adult patients with focal segmental glomerulosclerosis and minimal change disease. *Folia Biol (Praha)* (2012) 58(4):173–6.
- Chen YM, Liapis H. Focal segmental glomerulosclerosis: molecular genetics and targeted therapies. *BMC Nephrol* (2015) 16:101. doi:10.1186/ s12882-015-0090-9
- Stokes MB, D'Agati VD. Morphologic variants of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis and their significance. *Adv Chronic Kidney Dis* (2014) 21(5):400–7. doi:10.1053/j.ackd.2014.02.010
- Albaqumi M, Barisoni L. Current views on collapsing glomerulopathy. J Am Soc Nephrol (2008) 19(7):1276–81. doi:10.1681/ASN.2007080926
- Diomedi-Camassei F, Di Giandomenico S, Santorelli FM, Caridi G, Piemonte F, Montini G, et al. COQ2 nephropathy: a newly described inherited mitochondriopathy with primary renal involvement. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2007) 18(10):2773–80. doi:10.1681/ASN.2006080833
- Winkler CA, Nelson G, Oleksyk TK, Nava MB, Kopp JB. Genetics of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis and human immunodeficiency virus-associated collapsing glomerulopathy: the role of MYH9 genetic variation. *Semin Nephrol* (2010) 30(2):111–25. doi:10.1016/j.semnephrol.2010.01.003
- Jennette JC, Hipp CG. C1q nephropathy: a distinct pathologic entity usually causing nephrotic syndrome. Am J Kidney Dis (1985) 6(2):103–10. doi:10.1016/S0272-6386(85)80150-5
- Markowitz GS, Schwimmer JA, Stokes MB, Nasr S, Seigle RL, Valeri AM, et al. C1q nephropathy: a variant of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Kidney Int* (2003) 64(4):1232–40. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00218.x
- Gunasekara VN, Sebire NJ, Tullus K. C1q nephropathy in children: clinical characteristics and outcome. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2014) 29(3):407–13. doi:10.1007/s00467-013-2692-4
- Wenderfer SE, Swinford RD, Braun MC. C1q nephropathy in the pediatric population: pathology and pathogenesis. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2010) 25(8):1385– 96. doi:10.1007/s00467-009-1429-x
- Jennette JC, Hipp CG. Immunohistopathologic evaluation of C1q in 800 renal biopsy specimens. Am J Clin Pathol (1985) 83(4):415–20. doi:10.1093/ ajcp/83.4.415

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Ranganathan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Endocytic Trafficking at the Mature Podocyte Slit Diaphragm

Agnieszka Swiatecka-Urban^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Nephrology, Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA, ² Department of Cell Biology, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Endocytic trafficking couples cell signaling with the cytoskeletal dynamics by organizing a crosstalk between protein networks in different subcellular compartments. Proteins residing in the plasma membrane are internalized and transported as cargo in endocytic vesicles (i.e., endocytosis). Subsequently, cargo proteins can be delivered to lysosomes for degradation or recycled back to the plasma membrane. The slit diaphragm is a modified tight junction connecting foot processes of the glomerular epithelial cells, podocytes. Signaling at the slit diaphragm plays a critical role in the kidney while its dysfunction leads to glomerular protein loss (proteinuria), manifesting as nephrotic syndrome, a rare condition with an estimated incidence of 2–4 new cases per 100,000 each year. Relatively little is known about the role of endocytic trafficking in podocyte signaling and maintenance of the slit diaphragm integrity. This review will focus on the role of endocytic trafficking at the mature podocyte slit diaphragm.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Miriam Schmidts, Radboud University Nijmegen, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Michal Malina, NH Hospital, Czechia Max Christoph Liebau, University Hospital of Cologne, Germanv

*Correspondence:

Agnieszka Swiatecka-Urban asurban@pitt.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 03 October 2016 Accepted: 03 February 2017 Published: 24 February 2017

Citation:

Swiatecka-Urban A (2017) Endocytic Trafficking at the Mature Podocyte Slit Diaphragm. Front. Pediatr. 5:32. doi: 10.3389/fped.2017.00032 Keywords: nephrotic syndrome, proteinuria, endocytic trafficking, endocytosis, podocytes, nephrin, podocin, glomerular slit diaphragm

MECHANISMS OF ENDOCYTIC TRAFFICKING

All living cells process information by trafficking cargo from the plasma membrane in endocytic vesicles (i.e., endocytosis) and by returning much of the internalized membrane to the cell surface by a reciprocal process called recycling. The balance between endocytosis and recycling controls the plasma membrane composition and provides cells with information that has been resolved in time and space. Endocytic trafficking controls the supply of adaptor proteins and cargo, sorts the internalized cargo to specific intracellular compartments, and orchestrates the crosstalk in intracellular vesicles (1–3). As a result, cells turn over the equivalent of the entire plasma membrane one to five times per hour. Although endocytosis and recycling are ubiquitous, specific endocytic motifs and an assortment of protein adaptors guide cargo to diverse trafficking pathways. Defective endocytic trafficking has been associated with human disease, including congenital malformations, cancer, inflammation, and immunodeficiency (1). The mechanisms of endocytic entry of protein cargo, endocytic compartments, and mechanisms of cargo recycling were recently reviewed and will not be discussed here (4).

ENDOCYTIC TRAFFICKING AT THE MATURE PODOCYTE SLIT DIAPHRAGM

The kidney glomerulus is a filtering apparatus that allows passage of water and solute into the urinary space while retaining the vast majority of plasma proteins within the circulation. The functional

unit of glomerular filtration is formed by the epithelial cells podocytes, glomerular basement membrane (GBM), and fenestrated capillary endothelial cells (5). The mature podocyte consists of the cell body, primary and secondary processes with microtubule and intermediate filament-based cytoskeleton, and the actinbased foot processes. Resting on the GBM, foot processes form interdigitating extensions linked by the slit diaphragm, which provides the only cell-cell contact between mature podocytes (6). Slit diaphragm is critical for (i) providing selective permeability between the blood and urinary space, (ii) separating the apical and basolateral plasma membrane, and (iii) serving as a signaling platform (4). Structurally, a network of proteins residing at the slit diaphragm membranes connects with the actin cytoskeleton through a juxtaposed cytoplasmic protein scaffold (7). Strong evidence demonstrates that the slit diaphragm is a dynamic unit (8,9), suggesting that endocytic trafficking of membrane proteins plays an integral role in regulating the dynamics (Figure 1). Recent data provided genetic, functional, and high-resolution ultra-structural evidence highlighting a model of dynamic and multilayered architecture of the slit diaphragm (10). According to the model, the mammalian intercellular slit has a specific



FIGURE 1 | Schematic of the functional Neph1-nephrin protein complex at the mature mammalian slit diaphragm. Homophilic interactions of the integral membrane proteins nephrin and Neph1 form the mature mammalian slit diaphragm with a ratio of 1:2.5, respectively (10). Nephrin homophilic interactions are located more apically while the Neph1 strands localize more basally at the intercellular slit (10). The number of Ig repeats in the extracellular domain (9 and 5 for nephrin and Neph1, respectively) determines, at least in part, the width of the intercellular slit (10). The PHB domain-containing protein podocin anchors nephrin and Neph1 at the cell membrane. The intracellular domain of nephrin and Neph1 interacts with the cortical actin cytoskeleton via the juxtaposed cytoplasmic protein networks of junctional scaffolding proteins, channels, adaptor proteins, including endocytic adaptors, protein kinases, and motor proteins. Fyn-mediated phosphorylation of nephrin and Neph1 is essential for the podocyte architecture and signaling. Growing evidence supports a model where endocytic trafficking of the integral membrane proteins dynamically controls podocyte architecture and signaling. While the endocytic itineraries of nephrin are better understood, very little is known about the Neph1 endocytic mechanisms. Published data demonstrate that the motor protein Myo1c recruits Neph1 to the podocyte membrane and controls the cell membrane turnover of Neph1 in an actin-dependent manner (20, 21).

arrangement of the integral membrane proteins nephrin and Neph1 at a ratio of 1:2.5. The homophilic interactions between extracellular domains of nephrin are formed more apically, while the homophilic interactions of Neph1 localize closer to the basement membrane at the intercellular slit (10). Difference in the length of extracellular domain of nephrin and Neph1 results in a different length of the intercellular strands formed by the homophilic interactions that subsequently determine the width of the slit (10). Nephrin is an immunoglobulin-type cell adhesion molecule critical to the slit diaphragm function (11, 12). Mutations in the Nphs1 gene encoding nephrin protein lead to congenital nephrotic syndrome characterized by absence or profound impairment of the slit diaphragm and manifesting as severe proteinuria or nephrotic syndrome (13, 14). Although nephrin was shown to undergo endocytosis (15-19), relatively little is known how this process dynamically controls the slit diaphragm integrity. Data reviewed below demonstrate current understanding of the protein-protein interactions that regulate nephrin endocytic trafficking. The role of Neph1 is discussed in a separate section.

Nephrin localization at the slit diaphragm is determined by podocin, a lipid raft-resident protein encoded by the Nphs2 gene (22, 23). The prohibitin homology (PHB) domain—a lipid recognition motif present in podocin may target the podocinnephrin complex to the lipid raft domains of slit diaphragm membranes (24, 25). Certainly, the Nphs2 gene mutations that mislocalize podocin also mislocalize nephrin and lead to steroid resistant, hereditary, and sporadic nephrotic syndrome (22, 26). The podocin C-terminal T³³⁹VV motif regulates the cell surface localization as well as the lipid raft-independent podocin stability (27). While tagged podocin resides specifically in the late endosomal/lysosomal compartment (27), mislocalized endogenous podocin co-localizes with an early endosomal marker Rab5 in the puromycin nephrosis rat model (28). Despite the above data, a large gap in understanding of the podocin endocytic itineraries still exists. Flotillins are members of the PHB domain-containing protein family. PHB domains contain hairpin-forming, hydrophobic regions that help to insert a protein into the inner leaflet of plasma membrane. The PHB domain and a region upstream of the N-terminus, modified posttranslationally by palmitoylation and myristoylation, mediates binding of flotillins to the inner leaflet of plasma membranes (24). The predicted topology of mouse podocin has the intracellular N- and C-terminal regions, a transmembrane domain, and the PHB domain, which unlike the PHB of flotillins, is not involved in hairpin formation (22). Flotillins form homo- and heterophillic interactions mediated via the C-terminal region conserved only within the flotillin family while in podocin both the N- and C-terminal domains are predicted to mediate homooligomerization (22, 24). As of now, nothing is known about the molecular organization of the podocin hairpin domain or whether podocin undergoes palmitoylation and/or myristoylation. The PHB domain of flotillins plays an essential role in endocytic trafficking of several receptors, including those activated by the Src family kinase Fyn (29). Nephrin is phosphorylated by Fyn, and the phosphorylation augments nephrin interaction with podocin and facilitates nephrin endocytosis via a clathrin-independent pathway, activating nephrin signaling

(15, 30). By contrast, dephosphorylation of the nephrin- Y^{1193} increases nephrin endocytosis mediated by β -arrestin, decreases nephrin signaling, and impairs the slit diaphragm integrity (31). These data suggest that different endocytic pathways may play opposite roles in modulating nephrin function and that the endocytic itineraries of nephrin are regulated by the phosphorylation/ dephosporylation cycle (see below).

PKC- α , stimulated by the high glucose concentration, induces nephrin endocytosis and leads to proteinuria while depletion of PKC- α stabilizes nephrin in diabetic nephropathy (32, 33). PKC- α phosphorylates two residues in the intracellular domain of nephrin, T¹¹²⁰ and T¹¹²⁵, and facilitates nephrin interaction with β-arrestin in murine podocytes (16). These data suggest that PKC- α promotes β -arrestin-mediated nephrin endocytosis, most likely via the clathrin-dependent pathway. Following clathrin-dependent endocytosis, receptors are transported either to the fast or slow recycling route, depending on the stability of interaction between the receptor and β -arrestin. In addition to regulating endocytosis, β-arrestin controls post-endocytic itineraries of several receptors. Nothing is currently known about post-endocytic sorting of nephrin. Understanding the structural basis and kinetics of binding between nephrin and β-arrestin may help to elucidate the fate of internalized nephrin, whether it undergoes lysosomal degradation or recycling to the plasma membrane or both.

CD2AP may control nephrin endocytic trafficking by regulating actin assembly and vesicle sorting. The importance of CD2AP in podocytes is demonstrated by glomerulosclerosis and foot process effacement, leading to renal failure in mice lacking CD2AP (34). CD2AP localizes in the slit diaphragm cytoplasmic region juxtaposed to the lipid raft membranes and co-localizes with the actin-related protein 2 (ARP2) and ARP3 (Arp2/3) and cortactin. CD2AP regulates endosomal sorting and vesicle trafficking by regulating actin assembly (35). Moreover, CD2AP associates with the dynamic actin pool and co-localizes with the endocytic adaptors Rab5, Rab4, the clathrin-dependent endocytic adaptor assembly polypeptide-2 complex (AP-2), and participates in formation of multivesicular bodies (35, 36). CD2AP interacts with podocin and nephrin, anchoring the proteins to the actin cytoskeleton (37, 38). CD2AP and nephrin interact with the p85 regulatory subunit of the phosphoinositide 3-OH kinase (PI3K), leading to its recruitment to the plasma membrane (39). PI3K plays an essential role in endocytic trafficking, including regulation of membrane lipid composition, release of clathrin-coated vesicles, and the Rab5 recruitment (40). The interactions of PI3K with nephrin, CD2AP, and other slit diaphragm proteins suggest that PI3K plays an important role in endocytic trafficking at the slit diaphragm (41).

CIN85/Ruk_L is a closely related homolog of CD2AP (42). In podocytes, CD2AP blocks CIN85/Ruk_L expression by sumoylation while CD2AP depletion increases CIN85/Ruk_L abundance and leads to CIN85/Ruk_L-mediated nephrin ubiquitination and endocytosis (43, 44). CIN85/Ruk_L depletion has the opposite effect and preserves nephrin expression at the slit diaphragm membranes and reduces proteinuria in diabetic mice (45). Studies showed that unlike CD2AP, CIN85 does not contain an actin-binding domain (43, 46). Absence of CD2AP may facilitate nephrin interaction with CIN85, impair nephrin partitioning to lipid rafts, and induce nephrin endocytosis. However, another study has shown that CIN85 interacts directly with actin and together with CD2AP bundles actin filaments and modulates podocyte migration (47). Moreover, CIN85 clusters Src family kinases, providing a scaffold for Arp2/3-mediated actin assembly, and regulates cell polarization and motility. Expression of multiple CIN85 splice variants in different cell types may explain the reported difference of CIN85 function.

Notch activation alters foot process architecture in mature podocytes and induces proteinuria by stimulating the dynamindependent and lipid raft-independent nephrin endocytosis (17). The Wnt/planar cell polarity (PCP) pathway increases clathrin/ β arrestin-dependent nephrin endocytosis, and depletion of the PCP protein Vngl2 increases nephrin abundance at the cell surface and disturbs glomerular maturation (19).

The following protein networks have been shown to play a role in endocytic trafficking in podocytes, either directly or by regulating actin dynamics but their role in nephrin trafficking has not been demonstrated. α-Actinin-4 provides structural stability at the slit diaphragm by cross-linking and connecting actin filaments with nephrin and membrane associated guanylate kinase inverted (MAGI-1) (7, 48). The α -actinin-4 gene mutations are associated with nephrotic syndrome called focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (49). Direct interactions between members of the multi-protein scaffold organized by α -actinin-4, MAGI-1, and the endocytic adaptor megalin indicate a role of the scaffold in endocytic trafficking at the slit diaphragm (50, 51). As a member of the cytoskeleton-associated recycling or transport (CART): an Hrs/actinin-4/BERP/myosin V, α-actinin-4 mediates constitutive recycling of transmembrane receptors via the rapid recycling route on actin filaments (52). The role of α -actinin-4 or other members of the CART complex in cargo recycling at the slit diaphragm remains unknown. Endocytic adaptors, synaptojamin 1, and endophilin 1-3 are critical for the foot process formation, while dynamin I and II play a role in the foot process maintenance (18).

STRUCTURAL BASIS FOR NEPHRIN ENDOCYTIC TRAFFICKING

A protein frequently utilizes different endocytic itineraries to diversify its function (1). Clathrin-dependent endocytosis is one of the most important internalization routes in eukaryotic cells (1). Endocytic adaptors recognize linear internalization signals located in the intracellular C-terminal tail domains of transmemembrane proteins and recruit these proteins as cargo to clathrin-coated pits, which are plasma membrane deformities coated with clathrin and clathrin-dependent endocytic adaptors. Subsequently, additional adaptors cleave off clathrin-coated pits and release them into the cell interior as clathrin-coated vesicles [reviewed in Ref (4)]. Clathrin-independent endocytosis includes a diverse group of internalization mechanisms sharing a requirement for free cholesterol, proteins, and lipids that reside in sphingolipid-rich lipid raft membranes (53).

Endocytic Trafficking at the GSD

Little is known about linear endocytic motifs in nephrin or other integral membrane proteins at the slit diaphragm. For example, the nephrin-Y¹¹⁹³ and subsequent amino acid residues D-E-V conform to a canonical, tyrosine-based endocytic signal of the YxxØ type, which is essential for clathrin-mediated endocytosis. Phosphorylation of the tyrosine residue inhibits the interaction of the YxxØ motif with the µ2 subunit of AP-2 and prevents endocytosis. By contrast, dephosphorylation of the tyrosine residue allows the YxxØ interaction with AP-2 and facilitates endocytosis. Thus, the phosphorylation state of the tyrosine residue serves as a regulatory switch controlling protein retention at the plasma membrane or its endocytosis via the clathrin-dependent pathway (54). Consistent with this model, Quack et al. demonstrated that β-arrestin mediates clathrin-dependent endocytosis of nephrin dephosphorylated at the conserved Y¹¹⁹³ residue (31). By contrast, phosphorylation of nephrin-Y¹¹⁹³ by Fyn augments nephrin interaction with podocin, prevents nephrin interaction with β -arrestin, attenuates β -arrestin-mediated nephrin endocytosis, and augments nephrin signaling (31). Moreover, the Fynmediated phosphorylation facilitates nephrin endocytosis via the clathrin-independent pathway (15, 30). These data demonstrate that the phosphorylation state of nephrin-Y¹¹⁹³ regulates nephrin signaling by directing nephrin to different endocytic pathways, either the clathrin-independent endocytosis to augment signaling or the clathrin-dependent endocytic to attenuate nephrin signaling. Although β -arrestin is known to interact predominantly with the clathrin-dependent adaptors, it was also found to modulate the clathrin-independent pathway by interacting with Arf6, and it may also utilize ubiquitination to inactivate receptor signaling (55, 56). At this time, the role of β -arrestin in nephrin ubuquitination or clathrin-independent internalization is unknown. Presence of several sequences conforming to the tyrosine-based endocytic motifs in nephrin cytoplasmic C-terminal domain suggests that regulation of nephrin endocytic itineraries is even more complex. The complexity is further increased by additional protein-protein interactions between nephrin, Fyn, and the actin cytoskeleton. Nephrin tyrosine phosphorylation is critical for recruitment of actin adaptors, such as p85/PI3K, Cas/Crk, and Nck, facilitating cytoskeletal dynamics in the podocyte foot processes (39, 41, 57-60). Nck facilitates Fyn-mediated nephrin phosphorylation, while Nck depletion leads to decreased nephrin tyrosine phosphorylation and foot process effacement (61, 62). Three conserved, Nck-binding Y-D-x-V motifs in the C-terminal nephrin tail, Y¹¹⁷⁶DEV, Y¹¹⁹³DEV, and Y¹²¹⁷DQV mediate these effects (63). Replacing the Y¹¹⁷⁶, Y¹¹⁹³, and Y¹²¹⁷ residues with the non-phosphorylated tyrosine mimic phenylalanine leads to proteinuria associated with foot process effacement, irregular thickening of the GBM, and dilated capillary loops in a mouse model (63).

THE ESSENTIAL ROLE OF NEPH1 AT THE MAMMALIAN SLIT DIAPHRAGM

Neph1, a transmembrane protein partially homologous to nephrin is another key component of the mammalian slit diaphragm (10, 64). Nephrotic syndrome resulting from mutations in the *neph1* gene in humans as well as severe proteinuria, foot process effacement, and early postnatal death in neph1 KO-mice demonstrate its importance for the glomerular function (64). Although the extracellular domain of Neph1 can interact with nephrin, recent data show that such heterophilic interactions are rare while the hemophilic Neph1 and nephrin interactions are critical for the mammalian slit diaphragm architecture (10, 65). Similar to nephrin, the Neph1 cytoplasmic domain engages directly with podocin, anchoring the integral membrane proteins at the cell membrane and the scaffolding protein ZO-1 that connects with the cortical actin cytoskeleton (66, 67) (Figure 1). Upon signaling engagement, Neph1 and nephrin form a phosphorylation-dependent unit transmitting outside-in signaling through a multi-protein scaffold of junctional proteins to the podocyte actin network (68, 69). While the Fyn-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation of the Neph1 intracellular domain leads to recruitment of protein adaptor Grb2 necessary for the Neph1-mediated actin polymerization, tyrosine phosphorylation of nephrin intracellular domain leads to recruitment of Nck, necessary for nephrin-mediated actin polymerization (58, 69-71). Activation of the Neph1-nephrin functional complex occurs during junction formation and during podocyte injury, both requiring intense signaling and actin cytoskeleton reorganization (69). One study demonstrated that inhibiting Neph1 signaling in podocyte culture preserves podocyte architecture and function in the puromycin aminoglycoside (PAN) injury model, while maintaining high Neph1 levels protects podocytes from injury in in vivo zebrafish PAN and adriamycin injury models (72). Another group demonstrated that renal ischemia induces a rapid loss of Neph1 interaction with ZO-1 in an in vivo rat ischemic model (73). Induction of injury by ATP depletion in podocyte culture resulted in rapid loss of Neph1 and ZO-1 interaction and redistribution of both proteins from the cell membrane to the cytoplasm while recovery from the injury resulted in increased Neph1 tyrosine phosphorylation, restoring Neph1 and ZO-1 membrane localization and interaction (73). The structural basis for the Fyn-mediated Neph1-ZO-1 interaction essential for the podocyte function has been recently elucidated. The ZO-1 PDZ1 domain interacts directly with the PDZ-binding region in the C-terminus of Neph1 where the T787HV and L761T residues are critical for protein-protein binding and its stability (67, 74). The functional Neph1-nephrin unit also engages with the Par3-Par6-atypical protein kinase C (aPKC) complex to maintain a three-dimensional foot process architecture and integrity of the slit diaphragm (75). Neph1 may influence localization of other proteins in the foot process. For example, Neph1 interaction with the large-conductance Ca²⁺-activated (BK_{Ca}) channel affects membrane localization of the channel (76). Data reviewed above attest to a dynamic role that Neph1 plays in the slit diaphragm remodeling. Yet, little is known about Neph1 trafficking itineraries. Emerging data demonstrate that Neph1 is recruited to the podocyte membrane by a motor protein Myo1c that interacts with Neph1 intracellular region directly via cargo-binding, C-terminal domain in an actin-dependent manner (20, 21). Moreover, Myo1c may control the cell membrane turnover of Neph1 (21). Myo1c also binds nephrin directly. However, by contrast to the effect on Neph1, Myo1c reduces nephrin localization at the podocyte membrane (20). It remain unknown how Myo1c exerts opposite effects on the membrane localization of Neph1 and nephrin.

SUMMARY

Recent data confirm that endocytic trafficking allows rapid regulation of the signaling strength and duration at the slit diaphragm. Identifying endocytic motifs of the integral membrane proteins and examining the structural basis of the protein–protein interactions that control endocytic trafficking may unravel novel mechanisms and enrich our understanding of the role of this essential biological function at the podocyte slit diaphragm, as

REFERENCES

- Sigismund S, Confalonieri S, Ciliberto A, Polo S, Scita G, Di Fiore PP. Endocytosis and signaling: cell logistics shape the eukaryotic cell plan. *Physiol Rev* (2012) 92:273–366. doi:10.1152/physrev.00005.2011
- Canton I, Battaglia G. Endocytosis at the nanoscale. *Chem Soc Rev* (2012) 41:2718–39. doi:10.1039/c2cs15309b
- Grant BD, Donaldson JG. Pathways and mechanisms of endocytic recycling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2009) 10:597–608. doi:10.1038/nrm2755
- Swiatecka-Urban A. Membrane trafficking in podocyte health and disease. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2013) 28:1723–37. doi:10.1007/s00467-012-2281-y
- Haraldsson B, Jeansson M. Glomerular filtration barrier. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens (2009) 18:331–5. doi:10.1097/MNH.0b013e32832c9dba
- Asanuma K, Mundel P. The role of podocytes in glomerular pathobiology. *Clin* Exp Nephrol (2003) 7:255–9. doi:10.1007/s10157-003-0259-6
- Faul C, Asanuma K, Yanagida-Asanuma E, Kim K, Mundel P. Actin up: regulation of podocyte structure and function by components of the actin cytoskeleton. *Trends Cell Biol* (2007) 17:428–37. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2007.06.006
- Steed E, Balda MS, Matter K. Dynamics and functions of tight junctions. *Trends Cell Biol* (2010) 20:142-9. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2009. 12.002
- Tang VW, Brieher WM. alpha-Actinin-4/FSGS1 is required for Arp2/3dependent actin assembly at the adherens junction. *J Cell Biol* (2012) 196:115–30. doi:10.1083/jcb.201103116
- Grahammer F, Wigge C, Schell C, Kretz O, Patrakka J, Schneider S, et al. A flexible, multilayered protein scaffold maintains the slit in between glomerular podocytes. *JCI Insight* (2016) 1:e86177. doi:10.1172/jci.insight.86177
- Kestila M, Lenkkeri U, Mannikko M, Lamerdin J, McCready P, Putaala H, et al. Positionally cloned gene for a novel glomerular protein – nephrin – is mutated in congenital nephrotic syndrome. *Mol Cell* (1998) 1:575–82.
- Wartiovaara J, Ofverstedt LG, Khoshnoodi J, Zhang J, Makela E, Sandin S, et al. Nephrin strands contribute to a porous slit diaphragm scaffold as revealed by electron tomography. J Clin Invest (2004) 114:1475–83. doi:10.1172/JCI22562
- Lenkkeri U, Mannikko M, McCready P, Lamerdin J, Gribouval O, Niaudet PM, et al. Structure of the gene for congenital nephrotic syndrome of the Finnish type (NPHS1) and characterization of mutations. *Am J Hum Genet* (1999) 64:51–61.
- Patrakka J, Kestila M, Wartiovaara J, Ruotsalainen V, Tissari P, Lenkkeri U, et al. Congenital nephrotic syndrome (NPHS1): features resulting from different mutations in Finnish patients. *Kidney Int* (2000) 58:972–80. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.2000.00254.x
- Qin XS, Tsukaguchi H, Shono A, Yamamoto A, Kurihara H, Doi T. Phosphorylation of nephrin triggers its internalization by raft-mediated endocytosis. J Am Soc Nephrol (2009) 20:2534–45. doi:10.1681/ASN.2009010011
- Quack I, Woznowski M, Potthoff SA, Palmer R, Konigshausen E, Sivritas S, et al. PKC alpha mediates beta-arrestin2-dependent nephrin endocytosis in hyperglycemia. *J Biol Chem* (2011) 286:12959–70. doi:10.1074/jbc. M110.204024
- Waters AM, Wu MY, Huang YW, Liu GY, Holmyard D, Onay T, et al. Notch promotes dynamin-dependent endocytosis of nephrin. J Am Soc Nephrol (2012) 23:27–35. doi:10.1681/ASN.2011010027

well as teach about the mechanisms of nephrotic syndrome and measures to correct it.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AS-U reviewed the literature and wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the American Heart Association grant 15GRNT25700019 and the National Institutes of Health grant R56HL127202 (to AS-U).

- Soda K, Balkin DM, Ferguson SM, Paradise S, Milosevic I, Giovedi S, et al. Role of dynamin, synaptojanin, and endophilin in podocyte foot processes. *J Clin Invest* (2012) 122:4401–11. doi:10.1172/JCI65289
- Babayeva S, Rocque B, Aoudjit L, Zilber Y, Li J, Baldwin C, et al. Planar cell polarity pathway regulates nephrin endocytosis in developing podocytes. *J Biol Chem* (2013) 288(33):24035–48. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.452904
- Arif E, Wagner MC, Johnstone DB, Wong HN, George B, Pruthi PA, et al. Motor protein Myo1c is a podocyte protein that facilitates the transport of slit diaphragm protein Neph1 to the podocyte membrane. *Mol Cell Biol* (2011) 31:2134–50. doi:10.1128/MCB.05051-11
- Arif E, Sharma P, Solanki A, Mallik L, Rathore YS, Twal WO, et al. Structural analysis of the Myo1c and Neph1 complex provides insight into the intracellular movement of Neph1. *Mol Cell Biol* (2016) 36:1639–54. doi:10.1128/ MCB.00020-16
- Huber TB, Simons M, Hartleben B, Sernetz L, Schmidts M, Gundlach E, et al. Molecular basis of the functional podocin-nephrin complex: mutations in the NPHS2 gene disrupt nephrin targeting to lipid raft microdomains. *Hum Mol Genet* (2003) 12:3397–405. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddg360
- Roselli S, Gribouval O, Boute N, Sich M, Benessy F, Attie T, et al. Podocin localizes in the kidney to the slit diaphragm area. *Am J Pathol* (2002) 160: 131–9. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64357-X
- 24. Otto GP, Nichols BJ. The roles of flotillin microdomains endocytosis and beyond. J Cell Sci (2011) 124:3933–40. doi:10.1242/jcs.092015
- Morrow IC, Parton RG. Flotillins and the PHB domain protein family: rafts, worms and anaesthetics. *Traffic* (2005) 6:725–40. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0854.2005.00318.x
- Roselli S, Moutkine I, Gribouval O, Benmerah A, Antignac C. Plasma membrane targeting of podocin through the classical exocytic pathway: effect of NPHS2 mutations. *Traffic* (2004) 5:37–44. doi:10.1046/j.1600-0854. 2003.00148.x
- Godel M, Ostendorf BN, Baumer J, Weber K, Huber TB. A novel domain regulating degradation of the glomerular slit diaphragm protein podocin in cell culture systems. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e57078. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0057078
- Fukuda H, Hidaka T, Takagi-Akiba M, Ichimura K, Oliva Trejo JA, Sasaki Y, et al. Podocin is translocated to cytoplasm in puromycin aminonucleoside nephrosis rats and in poor-prognosis patients with IgA nephropathy. *Cell Tissue Res* (2015) 360:391–400. doi:10.1007/s00441-014-2100-9
- Zhao F, Zhang J, Liu YS, Li L, He YL. Research advances on flotillins. Virol J (2011) 8:479. doi:10.1186/1743-422X-8-479
- Li H, Lemay S, Aoudjit L, Kawachi H, Takano T. SRC-family kinase Fyn phosphorylates the cytoplasmic domain of nephrin and modulates its interaction with podocin. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2004) 15:3006–15. doi:10.1097/01. ASN.0000146689.88078.80
- Quack I, Rump LC, Gerke P, Walther I, Vinke T, Vonend O, et al. beta-Arrestin2 mediates nephrin endocytosis and impairs slit diaphragm integrity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103:14110–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0602 587103
- Tossidou I, Teng B, Menne J, Shushakova N, Park JK, Becker JU, et al. Podocytic PKC-alpha is regulated in murine and human diabetes and mediates nephrin endocytosis. *PLoS One* (2010) 5:e10185. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0010185

- Menne J, Meier M, Park JK, Boehne M, Kirsch T, Lindschau C, et al. Nephrin loss in experimental diabetic nephropathy is prevented by deletion of protein kinase C alpha signaling in-vivo. *Kidney Int* (2006) 70: 1456–62. doi:10.1038/sj.ki.5001830
- Shih NY, Li J, Karpitskii V, Nguyen A, Dustin ML, Kanagawa O, et al. Congenital nephrotic syndrome in mice lacking CD2-associated protein. *Science* (1999) 286:312–5.
- Welsch T, Endlich N, Gokce G, Doroshenko E, Simpson JC, Kriz W, et al. Association of CD2AP with dynamic actin on vesicles in podocytes. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol (2005) 289:F1134–43. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00178.2005
- Kim JM, Wu H, Green G, Winkler CA, Kopp JB, Miner JH, et al. CD2associated protein haploinsufficiency is linked to glomerular disease susceptibility. *Science* (2003) 300:1298–300. doi:10.1126/science.1081068
- Shih NY, Li J, Cotran R, Mundel P, Miner JH, Shaw AS. CD2AP localizes to the slit diaphragm and binds to nephrin via a novel C-terminal domain. *Am J Pathol* (2001) 159:2303–8. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63080-5
- Kawachi H, Miyauchi N, Suzuki K, Han GD, Orikasa M, Shimizu F. Role of podocyte slit diaphragm as a filtration barrier. *Nephrology (Carlton)* (2006) 11:274–81. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1797.2006.00583.x
- Huber TB, Hartleben B, Kim J, Schmidts M, Schermer B, Keil A, et al. Nephrin and CD2AP associate with phosphoinositide 3-OH kinase and stimulate AKT-dependent signaling. *Mol Cell Biol* (2003) 23:4917–28. doi:10.1128/ MCB.23.14.4917-4928.2003
- Mellor P, Furber LA, Nyarko JN, Anderson DH. Multiple roles for the p85alpha isoform in the regulation and function of PI3K signalling and receptor trafficking. *Biochem J* (2012) 441:23–37. doi:10.1042/BJ20111164
- Zhu J, Sun N, Aoudjit L, Li H, Kawachi H, Lemay S, et al. Nephrin mediates actin reorganization via phosphoinositide 3-kinase in podocytes. *Kidney Int* (2008) 73:556–66. doi:10.1038/sj.ki.5002691
- Watanabe S, Take H, Takeda K, Yu ZX, Iwata N, Kajigaya S. Characterization of the CIN85 adaptor protein and identification of components involved in CIN85 complexes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2000) 278:167–74. doi:10.1006/bbrc.2000.3760
- Tossidou I, Teng B, Drobot L, Meyer-Schwesinger C, Worthmann K, Haller H, et al. CIN85/RukL is a novel binding partner of nephrin and podocin and mediates slit diaphragm turnover in podocytes. *J Biol Chem* (2010) 285:25285–95. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.087239
- Tossidou I, Niedenthal R, Klaus M, Teng B, Worthmann K, King BL, et al. CD2AP regulates SUMOylation of CIN85 in podocytes. *Mol Cell Biol* (2012) 32:1068–79. doi:10.1128/MCB.06106-11
- Teng B, Schroder P, Muller-Deile J, Schenk H, Staggs L, Tossidou I, et al. CIN85 deficiency prevents nephrin endocytosis and proteinuria in diabetes. *Diabetes* (2016) 65(12):3667–79. doi:10.2337/db16-0081
- Lehtonen S, Zhao F, Lehtonen E. CD2-associated protein directly interacts with the actin cytoskeleton. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol (2002) 283:F734-43. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00312.2001
- Gaidos G, Soni S, Oswald DJ, Toselli PA, Kirsch KH. Structure and function analysis of the CMS/CIN85 protein family identifies actinbundling properties and heterotypic-complex formation. *J Cell Sci* (2007) 120:2366–77. doi:10.1242/jcs.004333
- Patrie KM, Drescher AJ, Welihinda A, Mundel P, Margolis B. Interaction of two actin-binding proteins, synaptopodin and alpha-actinin-4, with the tight junction protein MAGI-1. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277:30183–90. doi:10.1074/jbc. M203072200
- 49. Khurana S, Chakraborty S, Lam M, Liu Y, Su YT, Zhao X, et al. Familial focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS)-linked alpha-Actinin 4 (ACTN4) protein mutants lose ability to activate transcription by nuclear hormone receptors. J Biol Chem (2012) 287:12027–35. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.345421
- Prabakaran T, Nielsen R, Larsen JV, Sorensen SS, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Saleem MA, et al. Receptor-mediated endocytosis of alpha-galactosidase A in human podocytes in Fabry disease. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e25065. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0025065
- Ni J, Bao S, Johnson RI, Zhu B, Li J, Vadaparampil J, et al. MAGI-1 interacts with nephrin to maintain slit diaphragm structure through enhanced Rap1 activation in podocytes. *J Biol Chem* (2016) 291:24406–17. doi:10.1074/jbc. M116.745026
- Yan Q, Sun W, Kujala P, Lotfi Y, Vida TA, Bean AJ. CART: an Hrs/actinin-4/ BERP/myosin V protein complex required for efficient receptor recycling. *Mol Biol Cell* (2005) 16:2470–82. doi:10.1091/mbc.E04-11-1014

- Gong Q, Huntsman C, Ma D. Clathrin-independent internalization and recycling. J Cell Mol Med (2008) 12:126–44. doi:10.1111/j.1582-4934.2007. 00148.x
- Bonifacino JS, Traub LM. Signals for sorting of transmembrane proteins to endosomes and lysosomes. *Annu Rev Biochem* (2003) 72:395–447. doi:10.1146/annurev.biochem.72.121801.161800
- Shenoy SK, Lefkowitz RJ. Trafficking patterns of beta-arrestin and G proteincoupled receptors determined by the kinetics of beta-arrestin deubiquitination. J Biol Chem (2003) 278:14498–506. doi:10.1074/jbc.M209626200
- Shukla AK, Xiao K, Lefkowitz RJ. Emerging paradigms of beta-arrestindependent seven transmembrane receptor signaling. *Trends Biochem Sci* (2011) 36:457–69. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2011.06.003
- George B, Verma R, Soofi AA, Garg P, Zhang J, Park TJ, et al. Crk1/2dependent signaling is necessary for podocyte foot process spreading in mouse models of glomerular disease. *J Clin Invest* (2012) 122:674–92. doi:10.1172/JCI60070
- Verma R, Kovari I, Soofi A, Nihalani D, Patrie K, Holzman LB. Nephrin ectodomain engagement results in Src kinase activation, nephrin phosphorylation, Nck recruitment, and actin polymerization. *J Clin Invest* (2006) 116:1346–59. doi:10.1172/JCI27414
- Jones N, Blasutig IM, Eremina V, Ruston JM, Bladt F, Li H, et al. Nck adaptor proteins link nephrin to the actin cytoskeleton of kidney podocytes. *Nature* (2006) 440:818–23. doi:10.1038/nature04662
- Li H, Zhu J, Aoudjit L, Latreille M, Kawachi H, Larose L, et al. Rat nephrin modulates cell morphology via the adaptor protein Nck. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2006) 349:310–6. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.08.053
- Jones N, New LA, Fortino MA, Eremina V, Ruston J, Blasutig IM, et al. Nck proteins maintain the adult glomerular filtration barrier. J Am Soc Nephrol (2009) 20:1533–43. doi:10.1681/ASN.2009010056
- New LA, Keyvani Chahi A, Jones N. Direct regulation of nephrin tyrosine phosphorylation by Nck adaptor proteins. *J Biol Chem* (2013) 288:1500–10. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.439463
- New LA, Martin CE, Scott RP, Platt MJ, Keyvani Chahi A, Stringer CD, et al. Nephrin tyrosine phosphorylation is required to stabilize and restore podocyte foot process architecture. J Am Soc Nephrol (2016) 27:2422–35. doi:10.1681/ ASN.2015091048
- Donoviel DB, Freed DD, Vogel H, Potter DG, Hawkins E, Barrish JP, et al. Proteinuria and perinatal lethality in mice lacking NEPH1, a novel protein with homology to NEPHRIN. *Mol Cell Biol* (2001) 21:4829–36. doi:10.1128/ MCB.21.14.4829-4836.2001
- Gerke P, Huber TB, Sellin L, Benzing T, Walz G. Homodimerization and heterodimerization of the glomerular podocyte proteins nephrin and NEPH1. J Am Soc Nephrol (2003) 14:918–26. doi: 10.1097/01.ASN.00000 57853.05686.89
- Sellin L, Huber TB, Gerke P, Quack I, Pavenstadt H, Walz G. NEPH1 defines a novel family of podocin interacting proteins. *FASEB J* (2003) 17:115–7. doi:10.1096/fj.02-0242fje
- Huber TB, Schmidts M, Gerke P, Schermer B, Zahn A, Hartleben B, et al. The carboxyl terminus of Neph family members binds to the PDZ domain protein zonula occludens-1. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278:13417–21. doi:10.1074/ jbc.C200678200
- Liu G, Kaw B, Kurfis J, Rahmanuddin S, Kanwar YS, Chugh SS. Neph1 and nephrin interaction in the slit diaphragm is an important determinant of glomerular permeability. *J Clin Invest* (2003) 112:209–21. doi:10.1172/ JCI18242
- Garg P, Verma R, Nihalani D, Johnstone DB, Holzman LB. Neph1 cooperates with nephrin to transduce a signal that induces actin polymerization. *Mol Cell Biol* (2007) 27:8698–712. doi:10.1128/MCB.00948-07
- Harita Y, Kurihara H, Kosako H, Tezuka T, Sekine T, Igarashi T, et al. Neph1, a component of the kidney slit diaphragm, is tyrosine-phosphorylated by the Src family tyrosine kinase and modulates intracellular signaling by binding to Grb2. J Biol Chem (2008) 283:9177–86. doi:10.1074/jbc.M707247200
- Verma R, Wharram B, Kovari I, Kunkel R, Nihalani D, Wary KK, et al. Fyn binds to and phosphorylates the kidney slit diaphragm component Nephrin. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278:20716–23. doi:10.1074/jbc.M301689200
- Arif E, Rathore YS, Kumari B, Ashish F, Wong HN, Holzman LB, et al. Slit diaphragm protein Neph1 and its signaling: a novel therapeutic target for protection of podocytes against glomerular injury. *J Biol Chem* (2014) 289:9502–18. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.505743

- Wagner MC, Rhodes G, Wang E, Pruthi V, Arif E, Saleem MA, et al. Ischemic injury to kidney induces glomerular podocyte effacement and dissociation of slit diaphragm proteins Neph1 and ZO-1. *J Biol Chem* (2008) 283:35579–89. doi:10.1074/jbc.M805507200
- Mallik L, Arif E, Sharma P, Rathore YS, Wong HN, Holzman LB, et al. Solution structure analysis of cytoplasmic domain of podocyte protein Neph1 using small/wide angle x-ray scattering (SWAXS). *J Biol Chem* (2012) 287:9441–53. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.284927
- Hartleben B, Schweizer H, Lubben P, Bartram MP, Moller CC, Herr R, et al. Neph-Nephrin proteins bind the Par3-Par6-atypical protein kinase C (aPKC) complex to regulate podocyte cell polarity. *J Biol Chem* (2008) 283:23033–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.M803143200
- 76. Kim EY, Chiu YH, Dryer SE. Neph1 regulates steady-state surface expression of Slo1 Ca(2+)-activated K(+) channels: different effects in embryonic

neurons and podocytes. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol (2009) 297:C1379-88. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00354.2009

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Swiatecka-Urban. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Pathophysiology, Evaluation, and Management of Edema in Childhood Nephrotic Syndrome

Demetrius Ellis*

Division of Pediatric Nephrology, Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh of UPMC, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Generalized edema is a major presenting clinical feature of children with nephrotic syndrome (NS) exemplified by such primary conditions as minimal change disease (MCD). In these children with classical NS and marked proteinuria and hypoalbuminemia, the ensuing tendency to hypovolemia triggers compensatory physiological mechanisms, which enhance renal sodium (Na+) and water retention; this is known as the "underfill hypothesis." Edema can also occur in secondary forms of NS and several other glomerulonephritides, in which the degree of proteinuria and hypoalbuminemia, are variable. In contrast to MCD, in these latter conditions, the predominant mechanism of edema formation is "primary" or "pathophysiological," Na+ and water retention; this is known as the "overfill hypothesis." A major clinical challenge in children with these disorders is to distinguish the predominant mechanism of edema formation, identify other potential contributing factors, and prevent the deleterious effects of diuretic regimens in those with unsuspected reduced effective circulatory volume (i.e., underfill). This article reviews the Starling forces that become altered in NS so as to tip the balance of fluid movement in favor of edema formation. An understanding of these pathomechanisms then serves to formulate a more rational approach to prevention, evaluation, and management of such edema.

Edited by: Robert P. Woroniecki, CO

OPEN ACCESS

Robert P. Woroniecki, State University of New York, USA

Reviewed by:

Dagmara Borzych-Duzalka, Medical University of Gdansk, Poland Roberto Gordillo, University of Illinois at Chicago, USA

> *Correspondence: Demetrius Ellis ellisd@chp.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 07 October 2015 Accepted: 07 December 2015 Published: 11 January 2016

Citation:

Ellis D (2016) Pathophysiology, Evaluation, and Management of Edema in Childhood Nephrotic Syndrome. Front. Pediatr. 3:111. doi: 10.3389/fped.2015.00111 Keywords: edema, nephrotic syndrome, children/pediatrics, pathophysiology, management

INTRODUCTION

Edema is an essential clinical feature of the diagnosis of nephrotic syndrome (NS) of various etiologies. It is defined as a palpable swelling resulting from an accumulation of fluid in the interstitial fluid compartment. Massive generalized edema (anasarca) is common, especially in children with primary minimal change disease (MCD) and serves as the main clinical justification for hospital admission for "diuretic management." In such children, the selective loss of large amounts of albumin in the urine leads to hypoalbuminemia and decreased plasma oncotic pressure favoring fluid sequestration in the interstitial fluid compartment, and secondarily triggers renal Na⁺ and fluid retention so as to preserve intravascular volume and blood pressure, hence preventing an "underfill" state. In contrast to MCD, in NS associated with glomerulonephritis the magnitude of the proteinuria is variable and reduction in GFR is common. Hence, in disorders, such as focal and segmental glomerulosclerosis, acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis, Henoch Schoenlein nephritis, lupus nephritis, and several other glomerulonephritides, intravascular fluid volume is typically normal or expanded because of inappropriately stimulated Na⁺ and fluid retention which together with decreased GFR results in an "overfill" state. The clinical distinction of these two predominant physiological states is critical to the proper management of edema in children with NS. However, the role of hypoalbuminemia has been questioned, and it is apparent that other mechanisms such as water retention and vascular permeability factors, and activation of channels that promote Na⁺ reabsorption, may also play an important role in edema formation in diverse causes of NS. Thus, multiple mechanisms acting simultaneously may explain the clinical variability in response to measures aimed at removing excessive fluid among individual children with NS. This has led to inconsistent or improper clinical evaluation and management of this relatively common disorder.

While the precise mechanism(s) of edema formation may be controversial and turn-around time of several laboratory tests used to confirm the underlying mechanism(s) may not be sufficiently rapid so as to influence acute management decisions, in most cases, there is adequate information to aid the clinical differentiation of the underlying basic mechanism of edema. This review discusses the pathophysiological alterations that favor edema formation in NS. This background then serves as the basis for developing selection criteria for hospital admission of children with NS who may benefit from edema fluid removal, establishing more standard guidelines for the clinical evaluation of nephrotic edema, and delineation of more uniform management guidelines aimed at providing effective management of the edema. Ultimately, the goal of therapy is to minimize the risk for hypovolemia, acute kidney injury (AKI), and other potentially serious complications ensuing from inappropriate diuretic regimens.

PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF EDEMA FORMATION IN NS

Compared to adolescents and adults, neonates and younger children have a greater proportion of total body and interstitial (IS) fluid volume, which can double or triple because of edema related to NS (1). Nephrotic edema is a transudate with low protein concentration (<3 g/dL) and a few or no cells. In contrast to other forms of edema, it is pitting, tends to be generalized and is more prominent in dependent body areas in which capillary hydraulic pressure (P_{CAP}) is high (ankles and feet), or in tissues with low resistance or low interstitial hydraulic pressure (P_{IF}) (eyelids, gastrointestinal tract/abdomen, and scrotum).

It is apparent that while total body water remains constant during health, the fluid within each compartment is not static; there is continuous movement between compartments. The process of *diffusion* across cell membranes by far accounts for most fluid turnover (about 80,000 L/day in a 70 kg adult). By contrast, nephrotic edema represents net movement of water from the intravascular (IV) into the IS fluid compartment through the process of *filtration* across the capillary wall. Such filtration is dependent on the balance or net gradient, between the hydrostatic pressure and the oncotic pressure gradients across the capillary, as initially described by Starling in 1896 (2–4). Starling's equation or "Law" was later modified as it became apparent that the net filtration is also determined by **Lp**, **S**, and **s**, as shown below:

Net filtration = LpS × (
$$\Delta$$
 hydraulic pressure – Δ oncotic pressure)
= LpS × [(Pcap – Pif) – s(π cap – π if)]

Lp is the unit permeability (known as porosity or "hydraulic conductivity") of the capillary wall, which in the kidney refers to the glomerular capillary; **S** is the surface area available for fluid movement; **Pcap** and **Pif** are the capillary and interstitial fluid hydraulic pressures; **πcap** and **πif** are the capillary and interstitial fluid oncotic pressures; and **s** represents the reflection coefficient of proteins across capillary walls which ranges from 0 for vessels completely permeable to proteins and approaches a value of 1.0 in protein-free ultrafiltrate. The interstitial fluid oncotic pressure is derived primarily from filtered plasma proteins and to a lesser degree from proteoglycans in the interstitium.

Because of unique anatomy, physiological properties, and Starling forces of glomerular capillaries, the kidney plays a central role in total body fluid and electrolyte homeostasis as depicted elsewhere (5). Of note, the mean net ultrafiltration filtration pressure in glomerular capillaries is quite small and amounts to only 6-8 mmHg. Because normal glomerular capillaries are essentially impermeable to protein (so oncotic pressure in the filtrate is zero), this is a true ultrafiltrate with a high reflection coefficient (s is about 1.0). Several forces are altered in NS so as to favor net fluid filtration both in glomerular and in peripheral capillaries. These include reduction in π cap, increased Lp, elevation in Pcap depending on the underlying etiology of NS, increased π if and lymphatic vessel obstruction which may interfere with removal of filtered fluid thereby enhancing edema formation. Children with MCD tend to have more marked proteinuria and lower π cap than adults, while those with acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis tend to have Na⁺ retention and rise in Pcap, favoring edema formation.

While mathematically and conceptually sound in providing a theoretical framework, direct measurement of Starling forces is complex and particularly challenging to assess in NS in which there are multiple alterations acting in concert to alter all components of Starling's equation to different degrees in any given individual. For example, Lp can differ based on histopathological cause of NS, type and extent of elaboration of permeability factors that affect pore size and protein permeability, secretion of neuroendocrine hormones involved in preserving Pcap, and the concentration of plasma and interstitial albumin and other proteins that influence π cap and π if. Thus, in clinical practice, a glimpse of the basic operative mechanisms is often inferred by clinical assessment of hypovolemic symptoms or signs and by measurement of a limited number of blood and urinary conformational biochemical studies. Consequently, from a practical standpoint, two major mechanisms of edema formation are prevalent. First, in relation to edema associated with MCD or other non-inflammatory conditions resulting in massive proteinuria, an increase in transcapillary oncotic pressure gradient is the single most important driver of edema formation. This is because albumin which contributes 6 mmHg of oncotic pressure per g/ dL, or, 24 out of 26 mmHg of normal plasma oncotic pressure, is markedly reduced in such disorders. According to the underfill hypothesis reduction in plasma oncotic pressure promotes net movement of fluid out of the intravascular compartment, leading to volume depletion, or underfilling (6–12). This then causes appropriate or compensatory physiological activation of several mechanisms ultimately resulting in secondary Na⁺ and fluid retention aimed at restoring intravascular volume and blood pressure. This is the most prevalent mechanism in edematous children presenting with NS. This is in contrast to the second mechanism of nephrotic edema, or *overfill hypothesis*, exemplified by acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis and other inflammatory proteinuric disorders in which the pathophysiological process activates several mediators sub-serving primary Na⁺ retention, resulting in intravascular volume expansion, increased capillary hydraulic pressure and edema. A schema depicting the two major mechanisms of nephrotic edema is presented in **Figure 1**.

CONTROVERSY OF MECHANISMS OF NEPHROTIC EDEMA

Primary vs. Secondary Na⁺ Retention

While previous schemes of nephrotic edema depicted Na⁺ retention through distinct secondary (in underfill) and primary (in overfill) mechanisms, there is now compelling evidence that primary Na⁺ retention may occur by a mechanism common to all individuals with "nephrotic urine," independent of underlying histology or blood volume status [see below, Ref. (13)]. Several studies implicate loss of plasmin and other serine proteases in the urine in the up-regulation of the epithelial sodium channel (ENaC) causing Na⁺ and fluid retention (see below). This is also highlighted in **Figure 1**.

Blood Volume Status

Based on clinical observations and theoretical grounds, the long held prevailing opinion has been that children and adults presenting with NS edema, are in a state of intravascular volume depletion. Although a few studies support the presence of hypovolemia in adults with MCD compared to other histological forms of NS (14), and in some but not all children with MCD (15, 16), other investigations indicate that most adults and some children with NS of any cause have an adequate or expanded effective blood volume and do not exhibit orthostatic hypotension or other hypovolemic symptoms and signs (16–18).

To gain greater insight into the pathophysiology of edema in children with NS, Vande Walle et al. (19) studied children in early relapse of NS and found that they grouped into three presentations: (a) incipient proteinuria without edema, Na⁺ retention, and slightly elevated circulating aldosterone, increased renal plasma



FIGURE 1 | **Pathophysiology of edema formation in NS**. In disorders with massive proteinuria and marked hypoalbuminemia but minimal or absent renal inflammatory infiltrate, as in most children with minimal-change disease (MCD), the reduction in capillary colloid oncotic pressure (πcap) favors net fluid exit from the vascular to the interstitial fluid compartment thereby reducing effective circulatory blood volume, denoted as "underfill." This then triggers secondary, or compensatory, Na⁺ retention and hemodynamic alterations aimed at achieving blood pressure homeostasis. By contrast, various glomerulonephritides and inflammatory renal disorders, such as acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis, may be associated with variable degrees of proteinuria and with pathologic release of mediators, which promote primary renal Na⁺ and water retention, as well as vasoconstrictive hormones that are released despite an intact or even expanded intravascular volume. These factors together with reduction in glomerular ultrafiltration coefficient (K_s, or LpS in the Starling equation), lead to reduced glomerular filtration rate (GFR) and combine to further limit Na⁺ excretion, resulting in an "overfill" state and rise in capillary hydraulic pressure (Pcap). In turn, this causes net fluid accumulation in the interstitial fluid compartment. Note that nephrotic urine may be a common pathway for primary Na⁺ retention in both undefill and overfill disorders (refer to text and **Tables 1–3** for the mediators sub-serving each of these main mechanisms of edema formation).

flow, and normal norepinephrine (NE) levels; (b) symptoms of hypovolemia, edema, Na⁺ retention, elevated plasma renin, aldosterone and NE levels, low atrial natriuretic peptide, and reduced GFR; and (c) edema, no hypovolemia, no active Na⁺ retention, normal plasma hormones, and normal GFR.

These data are very important because they indicate that there is both clinical and biochemical heterogeneity in children with NS. Distinguishing these fundamental mechanisms aids, the clinical prediction of safety and benefit of diuretic therapy: diuretics are well tolerated in children with primary renal Na⁺ retention but, if underfilling is the predominant mechanism, diuretic use can exacerbate hypovolemia and tissue hypoperfusion.

Role of Hypoalbuminemia in Nephrotic Edema

Figure 1 highlights the role of hypoalbuminemia in children with nephrotic edema. However, with the exception of marked hypoalbuminemia (<2.0 g/dL) and plasma oncotic pressures below 8–10 mmHg, several clinical and experimental observations call into question the central role of hypoalbuminemia in the pathogenesis of nephrotic edema (8). For example, studies in analbuminemic rats show no significant change in transcapillary oncotic pressure gradient or tendency to edema compared to controls (20). Also, 81% of individuals with congenital analbuminemia (dysfunction of the albumin gene resulting in marked hypoalbuminemia) have little or no edema (21). It appears that in this disorder, π cap is partially compensated over time by other plasma proteins and may explain the parallel decrease in π if.

Other observations in experimental animals as well as in humans undergoing repeated plasmapheresis to intentionally produce modest reductions in serum albumin concentrations show that the transcapillary oncotic gradient is preserved; only with greater degree or more rapid achievement of hypoproteinemia does blood volume fall and edema develops (22, 23). This is because as plasma oncotic pressure falls, a parallel reduction in tissue oncotic pressure also occurs. Moreover, administration of albumin concentrates does not appreciably mobilize edema fluid in many nephrotic subjects, although Na⁺ excretion can increase transiently in some (24-26). Finally, patients with MCD who are treated with corticosteroids often undergo a diuresis and natriuresis well before the serum albumin concentration starts to rise; this finding suggests that correction of the hypoalbuminemia might not be essential in steroid-induced natriuresis (27). However, several of the experimental conditions investigating the role of albumin per se in the pathomechanism of nephrotic edema may not be appropriate models for this condition in humans in whom vascular permeability factors and cytokines may, in fact, play an important role in preventing the counterbalance of oncotic pressure gradient evident in congenital analbuminemia or in experimental plasmapheresis.

Despite the controversy surrounding the "central role" of hypoalbuminemia in the development of edema in NS, nearly all children with NS and edema have hypoalbuminemia and in the author's opinion this controversy has little baring on the clinical evaluation and management of edema.

Factors That Protect Against Edema Formation in NS

Because normally there is a small net pressure gradient favoring net filtration across capillaries, it might be expected that only a minor change in these hemodynamic forces would lead to edema. However, experimental and clinical observations indicate that there must be at least a 15 mmHg increase in the net pressure gradient favoring filtration before edema can be detected. With lesser reduction of this gradient, edema is unlikely to occur because of three compensatory factors (27, 28). First, experimental evidence indicates that there is increased lymphatic flow which, by bulk flow, will remove albumin as well, and help remove some of the excess filtrate (29, 30). Second, fluid entry into the interstitium will eventually raise the interstitial hydraulic pressure, thereby oppose filtration and interstitial fluid accumulation (28). Third, fluid accumulation in the interstitium simultaneously reduces interstitial oncotic pressure in subcutaneous tissue which in humans it is normally 12-15 mmHg (7). Thus, a gradual fall in plasma oncotic pressure in NS is associated with a parallel decline in interstitial oncotic pressure and rise in interstitial hydraulic pressure (7, 27), which minimizes the change in the transcapillary pressure gradients favoring net fluid movement out of the vascular space and results in relative preservation of plasma volume.

As a result of these compensatory physiological responses, there is usually little change in the transcapillary oncotic pressure gradient in children with NS, and therefore little tendency to plasma volume depletion, unless the hypoalbuminemia is severe. Similarly, as long as children with NS are not overdiuresed, plasma volume is typically preserved during diuretic therapy for edema removal.

VOLUME REGULATORY HORMONES SUB-SERVING UNDERFILL AND OVERFILL MECHANISMS OF EDEMA FORMATION IN NS

In children who are hypovolemic or "underfilled," there is interplay of several volume regulatory hormones and nephron channels listed in **Table 1**, which tend to attenuate the effect of vascular underfilling mainly through modulation of renal Na⁺ and fluid retention. Activation of the RAAS is an important mechanism in the majority of children presenting with nephrotic edema. It is notable that several of the hormones shown in **Table 1**, including AT II and anti-diuretic hormone (ADH), have dual Na⁺ or water retaining, and vasoconstriction properties, and are therefore very suitable in preserving systemic blood pressure in children with NS and reduced circulatory volume. Similarly, NE release in response to stimulation of low pressure cardiopulmonary receptors mediates neuronal control of renal tubular Na⁺ reabsorption (31). Edema may thus be viewed as a byproduct of these adaptive processes.

In addition, there may be several relatively unique pathological perturbations that promote edema formation in NS. Thus, children with acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis manifesting edema and hypertension often have increased

TABLE 1 | Contribution of volume and blood pressure regulatory hormones and channels which mediate or participate in renal Na $^+$ and edema formation in NS.

Hormones and channels	Function		
RAAS activation	Direct stimulation of active Na ⁺ reabsorption in the PCT by AT II; aldosterone-mediated Na ⁺ retention		
Non-osmotic ADH/vasopressin release	Water retention in CD, vasoconstriction		
Norepinephrine (NE) release	α-Adrenergic stimulation of renal tubular Na ⁺ reabsorption; vasoconstriction		
Atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) release	Promotes natriuresis and diuresis in DCT and CD, but tubular epithelium is resistant to these effects in NS		
Urodilatin activation	Promotes natriuresis and diuresis in DCT and CD, but tubular epithelium is resistant to these effects in NS		
Phosphodiesterase activation	Promotes degradation of ANP and urodilatin		
Sodium-hydrogen exchanger 3 (NHE3) activation	Mediates Na ⁺ reabsorption in PCT		
Epithelial sodium channel (ENaC) activation by plasmin loss in nephrotic urine	Stimulates Na ⁺ reabsorption in the DCT and CD		
Sodium potassium ATPase (Na+/K+ ATPase) activation	Provides energy for pumps involved in active Na ⁺ transport and facilitates peritubular uptake of Na ⁺ by exporting Na ⁺ out of cells in the anti-lumenal side of CCT		

RAAS, renin angiotensin aldosterone system; AT II, angiotensin II; Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase, sodium potassium adenosine tri-phosphatase; DCT, distal convoluted tubule; CD, collecting duct; PCT, proximal convoluted tubule; CCT, cortical collecting tubule.

circulating ANP and reduced ADH, plasma renin activity, aldosterone, and NE concentrations. Experimental models of unilateral NS or glomerulonephritis show increased Na⁺ reabsorption in the collecting tubules (26, 32), which is also the site of action of ANP and the related renal hormone urodilatin. Urodilatin is an ANP analog or isoform secreted by distal convoluted tubule (DCT) and collecting duct (CD) epithelium and exerts a paracrine function similar to ANP in promoting natriuresis and diuresis. In both experimental and human NS, a state of relative resistance to ANP and urodilatin has been observed (6, 33-35). This defect is due at least in part to urinary plasmin loss in individuals with NS which then stimulates phosphodiesterase activity, leading to more rapid degradation of the second messenger of ANP, cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP), in the collecting tubules. Infusion of a phosphodiesterase inhibitor largely reverses this defect and restores the natriuretic response to volume expansion (33, 35).

Also, in many individuals with inflammatory forms of glomerulonephritis and NS there is activation of several tubular channels and transporters that promote Na⁺ reabsorption and edema formation. These include:

1. Increased activity of the Na⁺-hydrogen exchanger (NHE3) that mediates a large portion of proximal Na⁺ reabsorption (36, 37). However, as demonstrated in experimental unilateral

NS, overall Na⁺ retention is influenced to a larger degree by mechanisms that promote Na⁺ reabsorption in the distal tubule (26).

- 2. Inactive plasminogen present in nephrotic urine is converted to active plasmin by the action of urokinase-type plasminogen activator. Cleavage and activation of γ subunit of the ENaC is then stimulated by the serine proteinase plasmin found in nephrotic urine, which may contribute to Na⁺ retention in the cortical collecting tubule (13, 38–41). This effect may be reversed by amiloride. This provides a common and potentially important mechanism by which filtered proteins cause primary Na⁺ retention regardless of the underlying histological form of NS or the child's blood volume status. It also explains the clinical observation that spontaneous diuresis and edema improvement can occur in NS prior to a decrease in urinary protein excretion, despite ongoing hypoalbuminemia.
- 3. Increased activity of the Na-K-ATPase pump in the cortical collecting tubule but not in other nephron segments (42). This transporter provides the energy for active Na⁺ transport by pumping reabsorbed Na⁺ out of the cell and aiding it is uptake into the peritubular capillary. However, it is not clear if this represents a primary defect or if it is simply a secondary marker for increased Na⁺ transport at this site.

Clinical Evaluation of the Predominant Mechanism of Edema formation in NS

Timely clinical assessment of hemodynamic aspects, including circulatory volume, is the key to determining management approaches to reduce edema in children with NS. This will help avoid exacerbation of the most common complication encountered in hospitalized children with NS and "underfill," AKI (43), or hypertensive and pulmonary complications in those with "overfill." **Tables 2** and **3** summarize the typical clinical and laboratory features, which serve to distinguish children with NS with underfill or overfill physiology.

It should be noted that because Na⁺ retention occurs both in underfill and overfill states (Figure 1), it is not possible to use the FE_{Na+} to clinically differentiate primary from secondary Na⁺ retention in NS. Also, measurement of several hormonal markers shown in Tables 2 and 3 are not readily measured in hospital laboratories and may not be clinically useful in confirming the underlying operative mechanism or influence point-of-care decisions. However, an increase in RAAS and circulating aldosterone effect can be inferred on the basis of more readily measured values such as an increased transtubular potassium gradient (TTKG) index or, $UK^+/UK^+ + UNa^+$, which is observed in hypovolemic children and not when blood volume is preserved. Similarly, a TTKG index below 60% along with $FE_{\text{Na+}}$ above 0.5%, and normal or suppressed plasma aldosterone concentrations, highly implicate a primary Na⁺ retention mechanism leading to increased intravascular volume (i.e., overfill) (10, 19). This also suggests a primary role of aldosterone in the intrinsic activation of Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase in the cortical CD. Such children may benefit from diuretic use. By contrast, diuretic use in children with NS and secondary Na⁺ retention triggered by hypovolemia or circulatory
TABLE 2 | Mechanism of edema formation in nephrotic syndrome: "underfilling."

Clinical characteristics

Neuromuscular weakness, pallor, cool extremities, tachycardia, and other signs and symptoms of orthostatic hypotension, abdominal pain secondary to gut edema, abdominal compartment syndrome, or thrombosis of vena cave or renal veins

Laboratory findings

Reduced urine volume $FE_{Na+} < 0.2\%$ UK+/UK+ + Na+ > 60% (increased TTKG index) Reduced urinary Na+ and high potassium concentration Very low serum albumin (≤ 2 g/dL) Low serum creatinine level GFR > 75 mL/min/1.73 m² Hemoconcentration High circulating PRA, aldosterone, vasopressin, and norepinephrine Low ANP concentration

FE_{Na+}, fractional excretion of sodium; UK⁺ and UNa⁺, urinary potassium and sodium concentrations; TTKG, transtubular potassium gradient; GFR, glomerular filtration rate; PRA, plasma renin activity; ANP, atrial natriuretic peptide.

TABLE 3 | Mechanism of edema formation in nephrotic syndrome: "overfilling."

Clinical findings

Normal or elevated BP without tachycardia or orthostatic symptoms, and no signs to indicate distal extremity hypoperfusion

Laboratory findings

FE_{Na+} > 0.5% while on no salt restricted diet UK+/UK+ + UNa+ < 60% (decreased TTKG index) Hematuria and cellular casts Serum albumin >2 g/dL Elevated serum creatinine and BUN GFR < 50 mL/min/1.73 m² Decreased vasopressin Low circulating PRA and norepinephrine Low or normal plasma aldosterone High ANP

FE_{Na+}, fractional excretion of sodium; UK⁺ and UNa⁺, urinary potassium and sodium concentrations; TTKG, transtubular potassium gradient; GFR, glomerular filtration rate; PRA, plasma renin activity; ANP, atrial natriuretic peptide.

insufficiency may have serious deleterious consequences (see below).

MANAGEMENT OF NEPHROTIC EDEMA

Before reviewing the management of edema in children with NS it is worth noting the change in the incidence of known clinical complications of NS that may relate to edema or its improper medical management. In a recent study involving hospital discharges of 4,701 children admitted with NS, Rheault et al. found that the frequency of infectious and thromboembolic complications has not changed much over the past 10 years; however, the incidence of AKI had increased from 3.3 to 8.5% (158%) over the period of 2001 and 2009 (43). The increasing use of nephrotoxic medications such as calcineurin inhibitors and

TABLE 4 | General aspects of management of edema in children with NS.

Avoid NSAID use

Avoid placement of deep lines to prevent thromboembolic events Reduce dietary salt No fluid restriction unless brisk diuresis is achieved Insure adequate nutrition Monitor urine output, renal function, electrolytes, serum albumin, body weight, and vital signs Elevate extremities or use compression stockings when ambulating; water immersion is helpful but impractical Avoid ACE inhibitors as remission can occur in many children with corticosteroid monotherapy

angiotensin converting enzyme/angiotensin receptor blockers to co-manage steroid dependent and steroid resistant NS may be partly responsible for this trend. However, aggressive diuresis in children not recognized as having intravascular volume depletion (underfilling) may enable progression from incipient AKI to established AKI. Furthermore, prevention of AKI is of great importance because it may be a precursor to future development of chronic renal injury and hypertension. Inappropriate diuresis may also promote a thrombotic tendency in this disorder (44–47). Consequently, children with "underfill" physiology may benefit first by circulatory volume expansion using salt-poor albumin infusions, and delayed start of diuretics until after restoration of tissue perfusion is achieved.

NON-PHARMACOLOGICAL MEASURES

Apart from managing the underlying condition leading to NS according to established guidelines (48–51), **Table 4** summarizes other basic aspects of care. Because Na⁺ and fluid retention is a fundamental feature of all causes of NS and because treatment regimens that include corticosteroids tend to enhance this effect, all children presenting with edema are counseled on dietary Na⁺ restriction (35 mg Na⁺/kg/day, or approximately1.5 mEq/kg/day) and are monitored for clinical signs of hypovolemia (52). Fluid restriction is usually self-limited in children who adhere well to Na⁺ restriction, and it is not recommended in children managed in the outpatient setting.

Attention to nutrition is very important particularly in conditions associated with massive proteinuria, such as Finnish type NS. Given the T1/2 of albumin of 21 days, when provided with adequate calories and amino acids, the liver can produce 200 mg albumin/kg/day to replace albumin catabolism or urinary loss. This normal synthetic function can double when the oncotic pressure in hepatic sinusoids falls as in the setting of NS. However, many children with NS are "picky eaters" and may have intestinal edema and abdominal pain, resulting in poor appetite as well as protein-losing enteropathy that may further compromise nutrition. In addition, the degree of proteinuria may be underestimated because of the large influence of the proximal tubule in albumin catabolism in NS. Thus, recycled amino acids are not used to replace albumin exclusively. Provision of supplemental calories, egg white protein, and nutritional supplements, such as Boost or Pediassure, may be helpful if clinically indicated.

Once a brisk diuresis is achieved, fluid intake may be limited to 2/3 of maintenance, or 1/2 or less of urine output, so as to produce the intended negative Na⁺ and fluid balance. Close monitoring of vital signs, fluid input and output, and of electrolytes is required in order to assure safety. Diuretic therapy should be temporarily discontinued if there is an unexplained decrease in urine output, elevation in serum creatinine or clinical manifestations of hypovolemia (e.g., weakness, orthostatic hypotension, and/or cool extremities) (52, 53).

TABLE 5 | Albumin infusion in the management of edema in NS.

Dosing of salt-poor albumin (25% SPA, or, 25 g/100 mL)

0.5 g/kg infused over 1-h, 2-3 times daily. Slower infusion rates may enhance equilibration of albumin between the intravascular and interstitial fluid compartments, thereby undermining fluid mobilization and removal. Larger dosages may be more effective but may cause acute volume expansion and pulmonary congestion

Indications

Tense ascites with abdominal compartment syndrome limiting diaphragmatic excursion, lymphatic flow, and venous return

Severe pleural effusions compromising breathing

Oliguria with incipient acute kidney injury (AKI)

Marked eyelid edema compromising vision

Severe scrotal or labial edema, risking skin breakdown

Precautions

Expensive

Low supply

Obtained from multiple blood donors risking viral transmission, tissue allosensitization, etc.

Pulmonary edema

TABLE 6 Diverties used to manage edoma in children

PHARMACOLOGICAL MANAGEMENT OF NEPHROTIC EDEMA

Albumin Infusion

In hospitalized children with nephrotic edema, excessive fluid can usually be removed, relatively safely, without exacerbating volume depletion (refer to Table 5). This is often accomplished through the combined administration of salt-poor, or, 25% albumin (SPA) to facilitate reabsorption of IS fluid, thereby supporting plasma volume and diuretics to enhance fluid removal. The more available 5% albumin solution can increase blood volume but does not raise oncotic pressure, while it delivers fivefold higher Na⁺ for each gram of albumin infused. By expanding plasma volume, albumin infusion suppresses vasopressin release induced by hypovolemia, thereby increasing water diuresis and improvement in hyponatremia. Albumin infusion is associated with more profound diuresis, at least in a subpopulation of pediatric patients with NS (54-57), particularly those with reduced effective arterial blood volume. For example, in one series of children with nephrotic edema and fractional excretion of Na^+ (FE_{Na+}) of <0.2% suggesting reduced effective arterial blood volume were treated with diuretics plus albumin infusion (52). Their diuresis rivaled that obtained by diuretic monotherapy in children with $FE_{Na+} > 0.5\%$ suggesting circulatory volume sufficiency or expansion (58).

Table 5 lists specific indications for albumin infusion recommended by the author. Caretakers should also carefully weigh the precautions or potential drawbacks to such therapy, and consider avoiding pharmacotherapy for edema particularly if prompt remission of NS is anticipated. Notably, cosmetic effects related to edema are not an indication for diuresis in children with NS.

Diuretic class, name, mechanism, and site of action	Bioavaila PO/IV	-	Onset of action (min) PO/IV	Duration of action (h)	Dosing
Loop diuretics					
Furosemide	60	1.5	40/5	6	Neonates: p.o. 1–4 mg/kg/dose, 1–2x/day iv/im 1–2 mg/kg/dose q 12–24 h
Bumetanide	85	1	40/5	4	Children: p.o./iv/im 1–2 mg/kg/dose q 6–12 h
Torsemide, ethacrynic acid					<6 months: p.o./iv/im 0.05–0.05 mg q 24 h
Inhibit the Na+/K+/2CI- cotransport system in the thick ascending limb of Henle's loop (ALH)					>6 months: p.o./iv/im 0.015 mg/kg q 24 h; max. 0.1 mg/kg/dose
Thiazide diuretics					
Chlorothiazide	11–20		120	24	<6 months: p.o. 20–40 mg/kg/day divided bid iv 2–8 mg/kg/day divided bid
Hydrochlorothiazide	60–75		120	12–24	>6 months: p.o. 20 mg/kg/day divided bid iv 4 mg kg/day
Inhibit NaCl cotransport in the early distal convoluted tubule (DCT)					<6 months: p.o. 2–3.3 mg/kg/dose divided bid >6 months: p.o. 2 mg/kg/day divided bid
Thiazide-like					
Metolazone Similar to thiazides but also proximal tubular inhibition of sodium uptake	40–60		60	24	Children: 0.2–0.4 mg/kg/day divided q 12–24 h

Non-Protein Colloid Alternatives

The clinical utility of non-albumin colloids, such as (hyperoncotic 12% dextran solution given at 1.2–1.8 g/kg body weight daily as a single dose or on 3–5 consecutive days), was previously investigated in children with nephrotic edema (59). The precise mechanism of action has not been clarified. However, despite being effective in achieving a brisk diuresis at a lower cost than albumin, dextran use has not gained clinical favor because of safety concerns including increased blood pressure, headache, gastrointestinal discomfort, pain upon tissue infiltration, and bleeding diathesis with epistaxis. The clinical response to other non-protein colloid alternatives such as gelatin and hydroxyethyl starch to induce diuresis in nephrotic edema has not been investigated.

Angiotensin Inhibition

Nearly, all children with chronic proteinuric disorders receive an ACE inhibitor or an angiotensin II receptor blocker as adjunctive synergistic drugs aimed at averting progressive renal injury caused by the underlying renal disorder. Such agents also exert a significant anti-proteinuric action and rise in serum albumin concentration which enhances the response to diuretics. However, the author recommends not using such agents in children with marked proteinuria because they tend to exaggerate hyponatremia and increase the risk of AKI because of lowering of systemic and intra-glomerular pressure. Although these agents serve as anti-proteinuric agents regardless of the underlying etiology of chronic proteinuria they are of little benefit in the acute management edema or if prompt remission of proteinuria is anticipated after staring steroids, as in the case of childhood MCD.

DIURETIC MANAGEMENT OF NEPHROTIC EDEMA

Recognizing that in the majority of children nephrotic edema is the result of appropriate compensatory physiological mechanisms aimed at restoring diminished circulatory volume and tissue perfusion, use of diuretics to remove edema fluid should be undertaken with great caution so as not to interfere with adaptive responses (refer to **Table 6**).

With the possible exception of children with inflammatory glomerulonephritis, nephrotic edema and coexisting hypertension or clear evidence of "overfilling," the author rarely recommends diuretic use in the outpatient setting. This is because of the potentially catastrophic risks of diuretic use in NS, such as thrombosis and thromboembolism, AKI, and electrolyte imbalance. By contrast, concurrent use of diuretics and salt-poor albumin or diuretic monotherapy is often utilized to manage edema in the inpatient setting.

Many children with NS respond well to loop diuretics, although there is generally lesser natriuresis than when such diuretics are utilized to manage edema associated with other medical disorders (60, 61). Experimental studies in drug-induced NS suggest that the loop of Henle may be relatively resistant to loop diuretics (62). Several factors are thought to play an important role in inducing this relative diuretic resistance:

- 1. Because most diuretics are highly protein-bound, they tend to become trapped within the vascular compartment, thereby maximizing their rate of delivery to the kidney. In NS however, the degree of protein binding is reduced due to hypoalbuminemia, resulting in a larger extravascular space of distribution and diminished rate of delivery to the kidney (60, 61).
- 2. In order to function, loop diuretics must exit the vascular capillary, traverse the interstitium, enter the tubular epithelial cell and be secreted into the tubular lumen where they block Na⁺, chloride, and other transporters. Typically in NS, there is expansion of the renal parenchymal interstitial fluid compartment which reduces peritubular diuretic uptake.
- 3. Some of the diuretic that enters the tubular lumen is bound to filtered albumin and rendered inactive (63, 64). In experimental *in vivo* microperfusion of the loop of Henle, the addition of albumin to the perfusate in a concentration similar to that seen in the tubular lumen in NS diminishes the response to intraluminal furosemide by about 50% (63). However, it is uncertain if this mechanism is important in humans. In one study of seven patients with NS, blocking of albumin binding to furosemide by the administration of sulfisoxazole had no effect on the diuretic response (65).

In clinical practice, this diuretic resistant state can be partly overcome by administering a higher diuretic dosage in subjects with nephrotic edema compared with other edematous disorders (19). In younger children, furosemide is most often used to manage nephrotic edema. It is infused at 0.5 mg/kg/dose every 8–12 h, given at the start or at 1 h after administration of SPA. Also, a modest increase in urine Na⁺ excretion and volume has been reported in adults with marked hypoalbuminemia by infusing a solution consisting of furosemide added to SPA. In theory, this approach aids trapping of the diuretic within the vascular compartment, thereby increasing the rate of loop diuretic secretion into the tubular lumen (66).

A recent review of loop diuretics in managing nephrotic and other forms of systemic edema indicates several advantages of bumetanide, including greater bioavailability than furosemide as well as the convenience of 1:1 intravenous to oral conversion (67). However, because of high potency at low dosages this agent is somewhat difficult to titrate in smaller sized children. Because of a short half-life, all loop diuretics require multiple dosing. Ethacrynic acid is reserved for children with sulfa allergy. While popular in adults, there is limited experience with torsemide use in children.

In children who do not respond adequately to loop diuretics, it is advisable to add a thiazide type diuretic in order to achieve diuretic synergy by way of sequential nephron blockade. Chlorothiazide can be given orally or intravenously and is particularly useful in small sized children or if gastrointestinal absorption is compromised. For oral use in children over 5 years old, the author prefers short-term use of metolazone (Zaroxolyn), a long acting thiazide-like diuretic, which is secreted in the proximal tubule and has a plasma half-life of 36-hours; it is given at a dosage of 2.5–5.0 mg once daily. Like most loop diuretics, metolazone is also highly protein bound and, therefore, it is not dependent on normal GFR for it to be effective. When this is combined with bumetanide and SPA, a brisk diuresis is usually achieved.

Although ENac channel activation has been implicated in Na⁺ retention in NS of diverse etiologies, the efficacy of blocking this channel by amiloride is believed to be low because of the relatively small amount of Na⁺ arriving at the DCT. However, amiloride and other potassium sparing diuretics, such as spironolactone (1.25 mg/kg/dose), may be utilized in conjunction with loop diuretics.

NEW DIRECTIONS IN THE MANAGEMENT OF NEPHROTIC EDEMA

Aquaretics

Aquaretics are a newer group or class of diuretics which unlike conventional diuretics produce solute-free diuresis, or aquaresis. As discussed above, studies in untreated children with NS and underfill physiology have shown increased plasma and urinary concentrations of vasopressin or ADH (19). This together with presence of hyponatremia that is frequently found in these children is highly suggestive of water retention in excess of Na⁺ retention. These observations also apply to adults with NS (68-70) and provide the rationale for aquaretic use to manage nephrotic edema. A case report and early clinical trials (71) suggest an efficacy of brief courses of vasopressin 2 receptor anatagonists, such as tolvaptan, or of somatostatin (Octeotide), in inducing aquaresis by inhibiting their common intracellular mediator, cAMP, thereby decreasing aquaporin channel insertion in the renal CD epithelium and abrogating anti-diuresis.

Urea channel inhibitors provide another newer approach to aquaresis (72-75). Use of these agents relies on the fact that

REFERENCES

- 1. Available from: http://www.drdobbin.co.uk/role-of-salt
- 2. Starling EH. On the absorption of fluids from connective tissue spaces. *J Physiol* (1896) **19**:312–26. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1896.sp000596
- Hall JE, Guyton AC. *Textbook of Medical Physiology*. Chapter 16, 8th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders Elsevier (1991).
- Taylor AE. Capillary fluid filtration. Starling forces and lymph flow. *Circ Res* (1981) 49:557. doi:10.1161/01.RES.49.3.557
- New Human Physiology | Paulev-Zubieta. 2nd ed. Renal Physiology and Disease. Fig. 25.7 (Chap. 25). Available from: http://www.zuniv.net/physiology/ book/chapter25.html
- Perico N, Remuzzi G. Edema of the nephrotic syndrome: the role of the atrial peptide system. Am J Kidney Dis (1993) 22:355. doi:10.1016/ S0272-6386(12)70137-3
- Noddeland H, Riisnes SM, Fadnes HO. Interstitial fluid colloid osmotic and hydrostatic pressures in subcutaneous tissue of patients with nephrotic syndrome. Scand J Clin Lab Invest (1982) 42:139. doi:10.3109/00365518209168064
- Humphreys MH. Mechanisms and management of nephrotic edema. *Kidney* Int (1994) 45:266. doi:10.1038/ki.1994.33

humans and other mammals consuming a high protein diet generate nitrogen which is then excreted by the kidneys in the form of urea. The large amount of urea filtered at the glomerulus tends to promote an osmotic diuresis. To attenuate such diuresis the kidney has "UT-A" (coded by the SLC14A2 gene) and "UT-B" (coded by the SLC14A1 gene) channels, which aid the accumulation of urea in the renal medullary interstitium. This action osmotically balances the urea in the CD lumen, thereby preventing ureadependent osmotic diuresis that would otherwise occur. Li et al. have identified a compound that inhibits the UT-B urea channel (76). Compounds that inhibit the UT-A channels could be potentially more useful as aquaretic agents by blocking both the source of urea in the inner medulla (UT-A1 and UT-A3 channels in the inner medullary CD) and the countercurrent exchanger in the vascular bundles (UT-A2). Also, UT-A inhibitors are predicted to have fewer adverse effects, since UT-A's only known physiological function is in the kidney, whereas UT-B inhibitors could cause hemolysis and other systemic adverse effects.

Like vaptans and somatostatin, urea channel inhibitors are of potential benefit in the treatment of hyponatremic disorders but may also be of benefit in managing edema associated with NS, particularly if excessive water retention is suspected on clinical evaluation. As with diuretics, aquaretics should only be considered in children with sufficient effective circulatory volume.

Other Potential Therapies of Nephrotic Edema

Identification of molecules that initiate proteinuria or directly contribute to edema formation offers the possibility of modulation of a greater number of potential targets so as to neutralize their detrimental effects. Currently, this area of research is in its infancy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DE was responsible for the concept, literature review, and manuscript preparation.

- Rodriguez-Iturbe B, Herrera-Acosta J, Johnson RJ. Interstitial inflammation, sodium retention, and the pathogenesis of nephrotic edema: a unifying hypothesis. *Kidney Int* (2002) 62:1379–84. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1755.2002. kid561.x
- Cadnapaphornchai MA, Tkachenko O, Shchekochikhin D, Schrier RW. The nephrotic syndrome: pathogenesis and treatment of edema formation and secondary complications. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2014) 29:1159–67. doi:10.1007/ s00467-013-2567-8
- Bockenhauer D. Over- or underfill: not all nephrotic states are created equal. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2013) 28:1153–6. doi:10.1007/s00467-013-2435-6
- Schrier RW, Fassett RG. A critique of the overfill hypothesis of sodium and water retention in the nephrotic syndrome. *Kidney Int* (1998) 53:1111–7. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.1998.00864.x
- Siddall CE, Radhakrishnan J. The pathophysiology of edema formation in the nephrotic syndrome. *Kidney Int* (2012) 82:635–42. doi:10.1038/ ki.2012.180
- Meltzer JI, Keim HJ, Laragh JH, Sealey JE, Jan KM, Chien S. Nephrotic syndrome: vasoconstriction and hypervolemic types indicated by renin-sodium profiling. *Ann Intern Med* (1979) **91**:688–96. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-91-5-688

- Vande Walle JG, Donckerwolcke RA, Koomans HA. Pathophysiology of edema formation in children with nephrotic syndrome not due to minimal change disease. J Am Soc Nephrol (1999) 10:323–31.
- Vande Walle J, Donckerwolcke R, Boer P, van Isselt HW, Koomans HA, Joles JA. Blood volume, colloid osmotic pressure and F-cell ratio in children with the nephrotic syndrome. *Kidney Int* (1996) 49:1471–7. doi:10.1038/ki.1996.207
- Geers AB, Koomans HA, Boer P, Dorhout Mees EJ. Plasma and blood volumes in patients with the nephrotic syndrome. *Nephron* (1984) 38:170–3. doi:10.1159/000183302
- Geers AB, Koomans HA, Roos JC, Boer P, Dorhout Mees EJ. Functional relationships in the nephrotic syndrome. *Kidney Int* (1984) 26:324–30. doi:10.1038/ki.1984.176
- Vande Walle JG, Donckerwolcke RA, van Isselt JW, Derkx FH, Joles JA, Koomans HA. Volume regulation in children with early relapse of minimal-change nephrosis with or without hypovolaemic symptoms. *Lancet* (1995) 346:148. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(95)91210-X
- Joles JA. Colloid osmotic pressure in young analbuminemic rats. *Am J Physiol* (1989) 257:F23–8.
- Russi E, Weigand K. Analbuminemia. Klin Wochenschr (1983) 61:541–5. doi:10.1007/BF01486843
- Manning RD Jr, Guyton AC. Effects of hypoproteinemia on fluid volumes and arterial pressure. Am J Physiol (1983) 245:H284–93.
- Manning RD Jr. Effects of hypoproteinemia on renal hemodynamics, arterial pressure, and fluid volume. *Am J Physiol* (1987) 252(1 Pt 2):F91–8.
- Eder HA, Lauson HD, Chinard FP, Greif RL, Cotzias GC, Van Slyke DD, et al. A study of the mechanisms of edema formation in patients with the nephrotic syndrome. J Clin Invest (1954) 33:636. doi:10.1172/JCI102935
- Luetscher JA Jr, Hall AD, Kremer VL. Treatment of nephrosis with concentrated human serum albumin. II. Effects on renal function and on excretion of water and some electrolytes. J Clin Invest (1950) 29:896. doi:10.1172/ JCI102323
- Ichikawa I, Rennke HG, Hoyer JR, Badr KF, Schor N, Troy JL, et al. Role for intrarenal mechanisms in the impaired salt excretion of experimental nephrotic syndrome. J Clin Invest (1983) 71:91. doi:10.1172/JCI110756
- Koomans HA, Kortlandt W, Geers AB, Dorhout Mees EJ. Lowered protein content of tissue fluid in patients with the nephrotic syndrome: observations during disease and recovery. *Nephron* (1985) 40:391. doi:10.1159/000183505
- Aukland K, Nicolaysen G. Interstitial fluid volume: local regulatory mechanisms. *Physiol Rev* (1981) 61:556–643.
- Koomans HA, Geers AB, Dorhout Mees EJ, Kortlandt W. Lowered tissue-fluid oncotic pressure protects the blood volume in the nephrotic syndrome. *Nephron* (1986) 42:317–22. doi:10.1159/000183695
- Fauchald P, Noddeland H, Norseth J. Interstitial fluid volume, plasma-volume and colloid osmotic-pressure in patients with nephrotic syndrome. Scand J Clin Lab Invest (1984) 44:661–7. doi:10.3109/00365518409083627
- Gill JR Jr. Neural control of renal tubular sodium reabsorption. Nephron (1979) 23(2-3):116-8. doi:10.1159/000181619
- Buerkert J, Martin DR, Trigg D, Simon EE. Sodium handling by deep nephrons and the terminal collecting duct in glomerulonephritis. *Kidney Int* (1991) 39:850. doi:10.1038/ki.1991.107
- Valentin JP, Ying WZ, Sechi LA, Ling KT, Qiu C, Couser WG, et al. Phosphodiesterase inhibitors correct resistance to natriuretic peptides in rats with Heymann nephritis. J Am Soc Nephrol (1996) 7:582.
- Lee EY, Humphreys MH. Phosphodiesterase activity as a mediator of renal resistance to ANP in pathological salt retention. *Am J Physiol* (1996) 271:F3.
- Valentin JP, Qiu C, Muldowney WP, Ying WZ, Gardner DG, Humphreys MH. Cellular basis for blunted volume expansion natriuresis in experimental nephrotic syndrome. J Clin Invest (1992) 90:1302. doi:10.1172/JCI115995
- Besse-Eschmann V, Klisic J, Nief V, Le Hir M, Kaissling B, Ambühl PM. Regulation of the proximal tubular sodium/proton exchanger NHE3 in rats with puromycin aminonucleoside (PAN)-induced nephrotic syndrome. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2002) 13:2199. doi:10.1097/01.ASN.0000028839.52271.DF
- Klisic J, Zhang J, Nief V, Reyes L, Moe OW, Ambühl PM. Albumin regulates the Na+/H+ exchanger 3 in OKP cells. J Am Soc Nephrol (2003) 14:3008. doi:10.1097/01.ASN.0000098700.70804.D3
- Svenningsen P, Bistrup C, Friis UG, Bertog M, Haerteis S, Krueger B, et al. Plasmin in nephrotic urine activates the epithelial sodium channel. J Am Soc Nephrol (2009) 20:299. doi:10.1681/ASN.2008040364

- Passero CJ, Mueller GM, Rondon-Berrios H, Tofovic SP, Hughey RP, Kleyman TR. Plasmin activates epithelial Na+ channels by cleaving the gamma subunit. *J Biol Chem* (2008) 283:36586. doi:10.1074/jbc.M805676200
- Hughey RP, Carattino MD, Kleyman TR. Role of proteolysis in the activation of epithelial Na channels. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* (2007) 16:444–50. doi:10.1097/MNH.0b013e32821f6072
- Bruns JB, Carattino MD, Sheng S, Maarouf AB, Weisz OA, Pilewski JM, et al. Epithelial Na channels are fully activated by furin- and prostasin-dependent release of an inhibitory peptide from the gamma-subunit. *J Biol Chem* (2007) 282:6153–60. doi:10.1074/jbc.M610636200
- Féraille E, Vogt B, Rousselot M, Barlet-Bas C, Cheval L, Doucet A, et al. Mechanism of enhanced Na-K-ATPase activity in cortical collecting duct from rats with nephrotic syndrome. *J Clin Invest* (1993) **91**:1295. doi:10.1172/ JCI116328
- Rheault NM, Wei C-C, Hains DS, Wang W, Bryce A, Kerlin AB, et al. Increasing frequency of acute kidney injury amongst children hospitalized with nephrotic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2014) 29(1):139–47. doi:10.1007/ s00467-013-2607-4
- Kerlin BA, Ayoob R, Smoyer WE. Epidemiology and pathophysiology of nephrotic syndrome-associated thromboembolic disease. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2012) 7:513–20. doi:10.2215/CJN.10131011
- Sagripanti A, Barsotti G. Hypercoagulability, intraglomerular coagulation, and thromboembolism in nephrotic syndrome. *Nephron* (1995) 70:271–81. doi:10.1159/000188604
- Hoyer PF, Gonda S, Barthels M, Krohn HP, Brodehl J. Thromboembolic complications in children with nephrotic syndrome. Risk and incidence. *Acta Paediatr Scand* (1986) 75:804–10. doi:10.1111/j.1651-2227.1986. tb10294.x
- Wygledowska G. Haemostasis in nephrotic syndrome. Med Wieku Rozwoj (2001) 5:389–339.
- Hodson EM, Craig JC, Willis NS. Evidence-based management of steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2005) 20:1523–30. doi:10.1007/ s00467-005-1968-8
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Glomerulonephritis Work Group. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for glomerulonephritis. chapter 3: steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome in children. *Kidney Int Suppl* (2012) 2:163–71. doi:10.1038/kisup.2012.16
- Royal Children's Hospital. Clinical Practice Guideline on Nephrotic Syndrome. Melbourne, VIC (2013). Available from: http://www.rch.org.au/clinicalguide/ guideline_index/Nephrotic_Syndrome/
- Samuel S, Bitzan M, Zappitelli M, Dart A. Canadian society of nephrology commentary on the 2012 KDIGO clinical practice guideline for glomerulonephritis: management of nephritic syndrome in children. *Am J Kidney Dis* (2014) 63:354–62. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2013.12.002
- Crew RJ, Radhakrishnan J, Appel G. Complications of the nephrotic syndrome and their treatment. *Clin Nephrol* (2004) 62:245. doi:10.5414/CNP62245
- Geers AB, Koomans HA, Roos JC, Dorhout Mees EJ. Preservation of blood volume during edema removal in nephrotic subjects. *Kidney Int* (1985) 28:652. doi:10.1038/ki.1985.179
- Kapur G, Valentini RP, Imam AA, Mattoo TK. Treatment of severe edema in children with nephrotic syndrome with diuretics alone–a prospective study. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2009) 4:907–13. doi:10.2215/CJN.04390808
- 55. Fliser D, Zurbrüggen I, Mutschler E, Bischoff I, Nussberger J, Franek E, et al. Coadministration of albumin and furosemide in patients with the nephrotic syndrome. *Kidney Int* (1999) 55:629. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.1999.00298.x
- Hodson E. The management of idiopathic nephrotic syndrome in children. Paediatr Drugs (2003) 5:335–49. doi:10.2165/00128072-200305050-00006
- 57. Haws RM, Baum M. Efficacy of albumin and diuretic therapy in children with nephrotic syndrome. *Pediatrics* (1993) **91**:1142–6.
- Dharmaraj R, Hari P, Bagga A. Randomized cross-over trial comparing albumin and frusemide infusions in nephrotic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2009) 24:775. doi:10.1007/s00467-008-1062-0
- James J, Gordillo G, Metcoff J. Effects of infusion of hyperoncotic dextran in children with the nephrotic syndrome. J Clin Invest (1954) 10:1346–57. doi:10.1172/JCI103011
- Smith DE, Hyneck ML, Berardi RR, Port FK. Urinary protein binding, kinetics, and dynamics of furosemide in nephrotic patients. *J Pharm Sci* (1985) 74:603. doi:10.1002/jps.2600740604

- Keller E, Hoppe-Seyler G, Schollmeyer P. Disposition and diuretic effect of furosemide in the nephrotic syndrome. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* (1982) 32:442. doi:10.1038/clpt.1982.187
- Kirchner KA, Voelker JR, Brater DC. Tubular resistance to furosemide contributes to the attenuated diuretic response in nephrotic rats. J Am Soc Nephrol (1992) 2:1201.
- Kirchner KA, Voelker JR, Brater DC. Intratubular albumin blunts the response to furosemide-A mechanism for diuretic resistance in the nephrotic syndrome. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* (1990) 252:1097.
- Kirchner KA, Voelker JR, Brater DC. Binding inhibitors restore furosemide potency in tubule fluid containing albumin. *Kidney Int* (1991) 40:418. doi:10.1038/ki.1991.228
- Agarwal R, Gorski JC, Sundblad K, Brater DC. Urinary protein binding does not affect response to furosemide in patients with nephrotic syndrome. J Am Soc Nephrol (2000) 11:1100.
- Chalasani N, Gorski JC, Horlander JC Sr, Craven R, Hoen H, Maya J, et al. Effects of albumin/furosemide mixtures on responses to furosemide in hypoalbuminemic patients. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2001) 12:1010.
- Wargo KA, Banta WM. A comprehensive review of loop diuretics: should furosemide be first in line? *Ann Pharmacother* (2009) 43:1836–47. doi:10.1345/ aph.1M177
- Usberti M, Federico S, Meccariello S, Cianciaruso B, Balletta M, Pecoraro C, et al. Role of plasma vasopressin in the impairment of water excretion in nephrotic syndrome. *Kidney Int* (1984) 25:422. doi:10.1038/ki.1984.34
- Pyo HJ, Summer SN, Niederberger M, Kim JK, Schrier RW. Arginine vasopressin gene expression in rats with puromycin-induced nephrotic syndrome. *Am J Kidney Dis* (1995) 25:58. doi:10.1016/0272-6386(95)90626-6
- Bockenhauer D. Draining the edema: a new role for aquaretics? *Pediatr* Nephrol (2014) 29(5):767–9. doi:10.1007/s00467-014-2763-1

- Park ES, Huh YS, Kim GH. Is tolvaptan indicated for refractory oedema in nephrotic syndrome? *Nephrology (Carlton)* (2015) 20(2):103–6. doi:10.1111/ nep.12348
- Knepper1 AM, Carlos AM. Urea channel inhibitors: a new functional class of aquaretics. *Kidney Int* (2013) 83:991–3. doi:10.1038/ki.2013.94
- Yao C, Anderson MO, Zhang J, Yang B, Phuan PW, Verkman AS. Triazolothienopyrimidine inhibitors of urea transporter UT-B reduce urine concentration. J Am Soc Nephrol (2012) 23:1210–20. doi:10.1681/ ASN.2011070751
- Anderson MO, Zhang J, Liu Y, Yao C, Phuan PW, Verkman AS. Nanomolar potency and metabolically stable inhibitors of kidney urea transporter UT-B. *J Med Chem* (2012) 55:5942–50. doi:10.1021/jm300491y
- Levin EJ, Cao Y, Enkavi G, Quick M, Pan Y, Tajkhorshid E, et al. Structure and permeation mechanism of a mammalian urea transporter. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2012) 109:11194–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1207362109
- Li F, Lei T, Zhu J, Wang W, Sun Y, Chen J, et al. A novel small-molecule thienoquinolin urea transporter inhibitor acts as a potential diuretic. *Kidney Int* (2013) 83:1076–86. doi:10.1038/ki.2013.62

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Ellis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Renal and Cardiovascular Morbidities Associated with *APOL1* Status among African-American and Non-African-American Children with Focal Segmental Glomerulosclerosis

Robert P. Woroniecki^{1*}, Derek K. Ng², Sophie Limou³, Cheryl A. Winkler³, Kimberly J. Reidy⁴, Mark Mitsnefes⁵, Matthew G. Sampson⁶, Craig S. Wong⁷, Bradley A. Warady⁸, Susan L. Furth⁹, Jeffrey B. Kopp¹⁰ and Frederick J. Kaskel⁴

¹ Stony Brook Children's Hospital, Stony Brook, NY, USA, ² Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, USA, ³ Basic Research Laboratory, Frederick National Laboratory, NCI, NIH, Leidos Biomedical, Frederick, MD, USA, ⁴ Pediatric Nephrology, Children's Hospital at Montefiore, Bronx, NY, USA, ⁵ Division of Nephrology and Hypertension, Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center, Cincinnati, OH, USA, ⁶ Division of Pediatric Nephrology, University of Michigan School of Medicine, Ann Arbor, MI, USA, ⁷ Pediatric Nephrology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, USA, ⁶ Division of Pediatric Nephrology, Children's Mercy Hospital, Kansas City, MO, USA, ⁹ University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA, ¹⁰ NIDDK, NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Max Christoph Liebau, University Hospital of Cologne, Germany

Reviewed by:

Walter Gabriel Wasser, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, USA Miriam Schmidts, Radboud University Nijmegen, Netherlands

*Correspondence:

Robert P. Woroniecki robert.woroniecki@ stonybrookmedicine.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 04 August 2016 Accepted: 28 October 2016 Published: 17 November 2016

Citation:

Woroniecki RP, Ng DK, Limou S, Winkler CA, Reidy KJ, Mitsnefes M, Sampson MG, Wong CS, Warady BA, Furth SL, Kopp JB and Kaskel FJ (2016) Renal and Cardiovascular Morbidities Associated with APOL1 Status among African-American and Non-African-American Children with Focal Segmental Glomerulosclerosis. Front. Pediatr. 4:122. doi: 10.3389/fped.2016.00122 **Background and objectives:** African-American (AA) children with focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS) have later onset disease that progresses more rapidly than in non-AA children. It is unclear how *APOL1* genotypes contribute to kidney disease risk, progression, and cardiovascular morbidity in children.

Design, setting, participants, and measurements: We examined the prevalence of *APOL1* genotypes and associated cardiovascular phenotypes among children with FSGS in the Chronic Kidney Disease in Children (CKiD) study; an ongoing multicenter prospective cohort study of children aged 1–16 years with mild to moderate kidney disease.

Results: A total of 140 AA children in the CKiD study were genotyped. High risk (HR) *APOL1* genotypes were present in 24% of AA children (33/140) and were associated with FSGS, p < 0.001. FSGS was the most common cause of glomerular disease in children with HR *APOL1* (89%; 25/28). Of 32 AA children with FSGS, 25 (78%) had HR *APOL1*. Compared to children with low risk *APOL1* and FSGS (comprising 36 non-AA and 7 AA), children with HR *APOL1* developed FSGS at a later age, 12.0 (IQR: 9.5, 12.5) vs. 5.5 (2.5, 11.5) years, p = 0.004, had a higher prevalence of uncontrolled hypertension (52 vs. 33%, p = 0.13), left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) (53 vs. 12%, p < 0.01), C-reactive protein > 3 mg/l (33 vs. 15%, p = 0.12), and obesity (48 vs. 19%, p = 0.01). There were no differences in glomerular filtration rate, hemoglobin, iPTH, or calcium–phosphate product.

Conclusion: AA children with HR *APOL1* genotype and FSGS have increase prevalence of obesity and LVH despite a later age of FSGS onset, while adjusting for socioeconomic status. Treatment of obesity may be an important component of chronic kidney disease and LVH management in this population.

Keywords: cardiovascular, left ventricular hypertrophy, chronic renal disease, FSGS, children

INTRODUCTION

African-Americans (AA) have higher rates of hypertension (HTN) and kidney disease compared to Americans of European descent (1). In adults of African descent, the presence of high risk (HR) APOL1 genotype (characterized by the presence of two risk alleles, defined as G1/G1 homozygotes, G2/G2 homozygotes, and G1/G2 compound heterozygotes), preferentially selected by the process of evolution, was found to be associated with nondiabetic or "hypertension-attributed" end-stage renal disease (ESRD), idiopathic focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS), and HIV-associated nephropathy (2-5). The role of APOL1 in the adult cardiovascular phenotype is still controversial with some recent findings, suggesting that APOL1 variants could contribute to atherosclerotic cardiovascular risk, indicating a genetic component to cardiovascular health disparities among adults of African ancestry (6). While studies in adult AA populations demonstrated strong recessive association of APOL1 G1 and G2 genetic variants with glomerular and vascular disease progression (7), there is limited information on its role in children with chronic kidney disease (CKD), particularly for cardiovascular comorbidities. In NIH FSGS cohort study and in the FSGS-Clinical Trial (FSGS-CT), both of which included children and adults, HR APOL1 genotype was present in 72% of self-identified AA subjects (8).

Up to 63% of children with early stages of CKD present with arterial HTN (9). In addition to being common, HTN is associated with a greater rate of decline in kidney function and is a known risk of development of ESRD (10). Furthermore, in Chronic Kidney Disease in Children (CKiD), a population with mild to moderate CKD, a high overall prevalence (53%) of systolic HTN was observed (11). Presence of HTN in children with CKD has also been associated with cardiovascular morbidity and development of left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) (12). LVH is common among hypertensive adults and children with CKD and is more common among AA than in whites (13, 14). While a previous report of two pediatric cohorts representing children with CKD (CKiD) and nephrotic syndrome (Nephrotic Syndrome Study Network; NEPTUNE) showed similar APOL1 characteristics in terms of FSGS diagnosis and disease progression (15), the association of APOL1 and cardiovascular comorbidities in the presence of CKD has not been explored. The purpose of this study was to extend previous findings (15), to characterize the distribution of APOL1 risk alleles in the CKiD cohort and, by comparing children with an underlying FSGS cause of CKD, to describe the prevalence of cardiorenal phenotypes and markers of disease severity associated with the HR APOL1 genotype.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

The study population comprised of children enrolled in the CKiD Study, an ongoing multicenter prospective cohort study of children aged 1–16 years with mild to moderate kidney disease (16).

Clinical and Laboratory Testing

All clinical and laboratory data in the analysis were based on the first available observation, either at study entry or 6 months after, and were categorized by indicators of renal, cardiovascular, and metabolic health. Echocardiography data were collected 1 year after study entry according to study protocol. Race, sociodemographic, and therapy use were self or parental reported.

Genetic Testing

DNA was obtained from National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Disease (NIDDK) genetics repository of immortalized lymphocyte cell lines based on a sample of whole blood taken at the 6-month-old study visit among those who consented to genetic testing. *APOL1* variants G1 (rs73885319, S342G and rs60945101, I384M) and G2 (rs71785313, NY deletion) were genotyped.

The number of kidney risk alleles defined *APOL1* risk groups: low risk (LR) was defined by 0 or 1 risk allele (G0/G0 homozygous, or G1/G0 and G2/G0 heterozygous), and HR was defined by 2 risk alleles (G1/G1 and G2/G2 homozygous, or G1/G2 compound heterozygous), where G0 represents the ancestral alleles at both rs73885319 and rs71785313 sites.

Indicators of renal health included glomerular filtration rate (GFR) measured by plasma disappearance of iohexol or estimated by CKiD-developed equations based on serum creatinine, cystatin C, and BUN, when iohexol GFR was not available. Proteinuria was assessed as first morning urine protein (milligrams)/creatinine (milligrams) ratio (uPCR).

Indicators of cardiovascular health included the average of three in-clinic measurements of blood pressure and left ventricular mass index (LVMI in g/m^{2.7}) as measured by echocardiography. Uncontrolled HTN was defined as systolic blood pressure (SBP) or diastolic blood pressure (DBP) \geq 95th percentile for age, sex, height according to the fourth report (17). LVH was defined as LVMI \geq age- and sex-specific 95th percentile based on the normal population (18). All data were measured and defined by the CKiD study protocol, as described previously (11, 16, 19).

Indicators of metabolic health included total, HDL, and LDL cholesterol (milligrams per deciliter), triglycerides (milligrams per deciliter) with age- and sex-defined categorical definitions for abnormally high total cholesterol, low HDL, and high LDL cholesterol, based on the normal population. Hemoglobin (grams per deciliter), calcium (milligrams per deciliter), phosphate (milligrams per deciliter), and calcium × phosphate product were measured. Hemoglobin was categorized by anemia status based on age- and sex-defined levels of the normal population, and phosphate levels were categorized as high based on age-defined levels of the normal population. Intact parathyroid hormone (iPTH) and C-reactive protein (CRP) were also measured (19), with high sensitivity CRP primarily used (n = 47) and when missing, informed by wide-range CRP data (n = 18; missing both n = 3). High CRP was defined as CRP > 3 mg/l.

The CKiD Study protocol was approved by the institutional review boards at the participating institutions, and all subjects gave informed assent or consent. Genetic testing was approved by the NIDDK Institutional Review Board.

Statistical Analyses

Since 89% of children with the HR *APOL1* profile had FSGS, the appropriate comparison group to determine differences related to *APOL1* were children with LR *APOL1* genotype and FSGS. Fisher's exact test for categorical variables and the Wilcoxon rank-sum test for continuous variables were used to compare univariate differences by *APOL1* risk status among those with a diagnosis of FSGS.

Since lower socioeconomic status (SES) was associated with AA race in this North American cohort, and low SES is associated with disease progression (20), SES is a potential confounder as the exposure groups largely differ by race. To adjust for confounding due to SES, we used inverse probability of exposure weights (IPWs) (21, 22). The IPWs were generated from a logistic regression model with HR APOL1 as the outcome and variables related to SES as the predictors: income less than \$36,000, maternal education less than college, the presence of any public insurance and missing at least one dose of antihypertensive therapy in the past 7 days (self-reported). The inverse of the predicted probability of observed exposure was stabilized to the marginal probability of each group (for HR APOL1: 25/68 = 0.37; and for LR APOL1: 43/68 = 0.63). Selected cardiovascular, metabolic, inflammatory, and other risk factors were compared to exposure group in adjusted analyses using weighting by IPWs in logistic regression models to obtain prevalence odds ratio comparing the HR APOL1 group to the LR APOL1 group. The outcomes were obesity, high LDL cholesterol, uncontrolled HTN, LVH, and CRP > 3 mg/l. Multiple imputation was used to account for missing data, and the results are presented unadjusted (univariately, with imputation where applicable) and adjusted to account for the effect of confounding by SES.

RESULTS

A total of 891 children were enrolled in CKiD, of whom 199 (22%) were AA; Figure 1 presents the distributions of APOL1 genotypes and CKD diagnoses by race. Among 140 genotyped AA children, HR APOL1 status was present in 33 (24%), and among these 33 individuals 28 (85%) had an underlying glomerular cause of CKD, whereas only 5/33 (6%) had a non-glomerular cause of CKD, *p* < 0.001. Of those 28 subjects with HR *APOL1* status and a glomerular disease, 25/28 (89%) had a diagnosis of FSGS. In contrast, among 191 non-AA children with a glomerular CKD cause, only 36 (19%) had an FSGS diagnosis, p < 0.001. Of the 28 AA children with LR APOL1 status (defined as presence of 0 or 1 risk allele), and glomerular CKD, 7 (25%) had a diagnosis of FSGS (difference between HR and LR *APOL1* AA, p < 0.001). APOL1 genotyping was not performed in 59 children: 20 did not consent to genetic testing, 19 dropped out of the study prior to sample collections, 9 were not measured due to missing samples, and 11 samples became available only after genotyping had been completed. Of these 59 children, 47% had a glomerular cause of CKD; 39% of these had a diagnosis of FSGS. The similar proportions of glomerular diagnoses and FSGS among AA LR APOL1 and non-AA LR APOL1 children (i.e., 25 and 19%, respectively) suggest potentially similar pathologic mechanisms and were distinct from the distributions observed among AA children with HR APOL1. The proportion (47%) of FSGS diagnoses among children with unmeasured APOL1 status is intermediate between that observed among those with HR (85%) and LR (25%), suggesting that this group with unmeasured genotypes comprises both HR and LR profiles. A total of 37 non-AA children were genotyped, and all were identified as having LR APOL1 status



(36 had 0 risk alleles and 1 harbored 1 risk allele). This provided justification for classifying non-AA children as LR. A full list of diagnoses by race and *APOL1* status is provided in Table S1 in Supplementary Material.

We compared the prevalence of renal and cardiovascular risk factors by *APOL1* status and AA race within FSGS diagnosis group (n = 68). Since there were only seven subjects with LR *APOL1* and AA race, we pooled both AA (n = 7) and non-AA (n = 36) children as the reference population for statistical comparison with AA children with HR *APOL1* and FSGS (n = 25). **Table 1** presents the clinical, sociodemographic, and renal characteristics among those with FSGS, stratified by race and *APOL1* risk status. There were similar proportions of boys and despite similar ages at study entry, those with HR *APOL1* were significantly taller (p = 0.003) and heavier (p < 0.001), compared to children with LR *APOL1*.

This was reflected in the height and weight percentiles standardized to age and gender (i.e., normal, median height, and weight percentiles are equal to 50): those with HR *APOL1* had a median height and weight percentiles significantly higher as compared to those with LR *APOL1*, p = 0.033 and p < 0.001, respectively. Body mass index (BMI) was significantly higher among the HR *APOL1* children (p < 0.001), and this group had a much higher proportion of obesity (BMI > 85th percentile adjusted for age and gender; 48 vs. 19%, p = 0.01). Consistent with previously published reports (15), children with HR *APOL1* had a higher prevalence of premature birth than children with LR *APOL1* (29 vs. 5%, p = 0.011), but this difference was not observed for low birth weight or small for gestational age.

To account for the potential confounding effects of SES factors related to race, inverse probability weights were used to adjust

TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics of sociodemographic, renal health, and therapy use among children with FSGS, by race and *APOL1* risk status (LR, low risk vs. HR, high risk; non-AA, non-African-American; AA, African-American), in the CKiD study (n = 68), median (IQR), n (%); p-values based on Fisher's exact test or Wilcoxon rank-sum test.

Variable	Non-AA APOL1 LR	AA APOL1 LR	Pooled APOL1 LR	APOL1 HR	p-Value
	<i>n</i> = 36	<i>n</i> = 7	<i>n</i> = 43	n = 25	(pooled LR vs. HF
Male	21 (58%)	4 (57%)	25 (58%)	11 (44%)	0.318
Black race	0	7 (100%)	7 (16%)	25 (100%)	NA
Age at study entry, years	13.8 [9.6, 15.6]	15.0 [8.2, 16.5]	14.2 [9.5, 15.8]	14.8 [13.0, 15.5]	0.312
Low birth weight (<2500 g)	7 (21%)	1 (17%)	8 (21%)	8 (33%)	0.372
Premature	2 (6%)	0 (0%)	2 (5%)	7 (29%)	0.011
Small for gestational age	7 (23%)	2 (33%)	9 (24%)	7 (30%)	0.765
Low birth weight, premature, or	10 (29%)	2 (29%)	12 (29%)	13 (52%)	0.070
small for gestational age	. ,	. ,	. ,		
Height, cm	147 [135, 163]	147 [128, 160]	147 [135, 163]	164 [149, 171]	0.003
Height percentile	24 [4, 59]	14 [1, 47]	23 [3, 55]	40 [27, 86]	0.033
Weight, kg	46.4 [34.4, 56.5]	47.1 [27.4, 72.4]	46.4 [34.0, 57.3]	73.5 [60.4, 90.6]	<0.001
Weight percentile	53 [20, 77]	59 [14, 91]	54 [18, 77]	97 [71, 99]	<0.001
Body mass index, kg/m ²	20.2 [17, 23.9]	19.4 [16.6, 27.1]	20 [17.4, 24.1]	25.1 [22.9, 36.3]	<0.001
BMI percentile	74 [28, 93]	77 [38, 91]	76 [33, 93]	93 [82, 99]	<0.001
Obese	7 (19%)	1 (14%)	8 (19%)	12 (48%)	0.014
	1 (1070)	((17)0)	0 (1070)	12 (1070)	0.011
Socioeconomic variables					
Household income		- //			
<\$36,000	15 (43%)	2 (33%)	17 (41%)	12 (48%)	0.409
≥\$36,000 and <\$75,000	11 (31%)	2 (33%)	13 (32%)	10 (40%)	
≥\$75,000	9 (26%)	2 (33%)	11 (27%)	3 (12%)	
Maternal education < college	26 (74%)	6 (86%)	32 (76%)	17 (68%)	0.571
Any public insurance	19 (53%)	2 (29%)	21 (49%)	15 (60%)	0.453
Renal health					
Age at CKD onset, years	6.5 [2.5, 11.5]	4.5 [3.5, 3.5]	5.5 [2.5, 11.5]	12.0 [9.5, 12.5]	0.004
Years with CKD	5.3 [3.4, 7.9]	3.7 [2.2, 2.3]	5.2 [3.3, 7.9]	3.3 [1.1, 4.7]	0.008
ieGFR at entry, ml/min/1.73 m ²	48 [34, 71]	32 [26, 98]	48 [32, 79]	61 [48, 69]	0.132
leGFR < 45 ml/min/1.73 m²	14 (39%)	4 (57%)	18 (42%)	6 (24%)	0.190
ieGFR change per year, %	-7.4% [-3.1%, -2.9%]	-2.2% [-14.0%, -14.2%]	-7.4% [-23.0%, -2.9%]	-8.3% [-14.9%, -1.7%]	0.994
ieGFR change per year, ml/min	-4.1 [-12.3, -1.7]	-2.5 [-7.8, 5.9]	-4.8 [-12.8, -1.7]	-4.4 [-9.6, -1.1]	0.903
uPCR at entry, mg/mg creatinine	1.6 [0.2, 5.5]	1.0 [0.1, 1.2]	1.5 [0.2, 5.5]	0.9 [0.3, 1.8]	0.330
Proteinuria, uPCR > 2	15 (43%)	3 (43%)	18 (43%)	3 (13%)	0.025
Therapy use					
Anti-hypertension therapy	31 (86%)	7 (100%)	38 (88%)	25 (100%)	0.150
ACEi/ARB therapy	29 (81%)	7 (100%)	36 (84%)	22 (88%)	0.735
Missed ACEi/ARB in last 30 days	7 (19%)	1 (14%)	8 (19%)	4 (16%)	1.000
Missed ACEi/ARB in last 7 days	6 (17%)	3 (43%)	9 (21%)	10 (40%)	0.103
Steroid therapy	7 (19%)	2 (29%)	9 (21%)	8 (32%)	0.387
Immunosuppression therapy	17 (47%)	2 (29%) 5 (71%)	22 (51%)	0 (32 <i>%)</i> 14 (56%)	0.803

BMI, body mass index; CKD, chronic kidney disease; ieGFR, measured or estimated glomerular filtration rate; uPCR, urine protein to creatinine ratio.



for sex, income, maternal education, insurance status, and 7-day adherence to antihypertensive therapy. We found no statistical differences in SES variables between HR and LR *APOL1* genotype groups.

In this comparison, those children with FSGS and HR *APOL1* had a significantly older age at CKD onset, and significantly shorter duration of CKD than those with LR *APOL1*. Children with HR *APOL1* had a higher GFR at entry although this difference was not statistically significant, p = 0.132. Changes in GFR over time were similar to *APOL1* status (**Figure 2**). Levels of uPCR at entry and over time were also similar, although the HR *APOL1* group had a lower proportion with nephrotic range proteinuria at study entry, p = 0.025.

Table 2 and Table S2A,B in Supplementary Material describe characteristics related to cardiovascular health stratified by race and *APOL1* risk status among those with an FSGS cause of CKD. Children with HR *APOL1* had higher SBP (p = 0.004), although SBP percentiles (standardized to the normal population for age, gender, and height) were not statistically significant (p = 0.132). No significant differences in DBP were observed. The HR *APOL1* children had a higher prevalence of uncontrolled HTN, although it was not statistically significant. Nearly all children, regardless of *APOL1* status received antihypertensive therapy, the HR *APOL1* group had higher (40 vs. 21%) 7-day non-adherence to ACEi/ ARB therapy, p = 0.103 (**Table 1**). The proportions receiving glucocorticoid and other immunosuppression therapy were similar by *APOL1* risk status.

Increased left ventricular mass index (p = 0.004) and a higher prevalence of LVH (p = 0.003) were observed in the HR *APOL1*

group. LDL cholesterol was higher in the HR *APOL1* group (p = 0.047), but no differences in total cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, and triglyceride levels were observed. Higher phosphate was observed among the LR *APOL1* group (p = 0.023), but there was no difference in intact parathyroid hormone. Children with HR *APOL1* had a higher proportion of CRP values greater than 3 mg/l (33 vs. 15%, p = 0.120).

Table 3 presents odds ratios to describe the associations of the HR *APOL1* profile and selected risk factors and comorbidities. LVH was highly associated with HR *APOL1* (OR: 6.2, 95%CI: 1.6, 24.9), as was obesity (OR: 4.7, 95%CI: 1.5, 14.4). While not statistically significant, HR *APOL1* had a higher relative odds of uncontrolled HTN, elevated CRP, and high LDL cholesterol.

DISCUSSION

In this cohort of children with FSGS, we demonstrated that AA children with HR *APOL1* genotype were more likely to have FSGS and to have a later age at FSGS onset, compared to AA children with LR genotypes. When restricting analysis to children with FSGS, HR *APOL1* was associated with a greater cardiovascular risk burden, including an increase prevalence of LVH, and obesity, a higher LVMI, BMI, and LDL cholesterol, despite treatment with antihypertensive therapy and adjustment for indicators of SES. Notably, other markers of disease severity were not different between the two groups indicating a potential role for *APOL1* in the etiology of cardiovascular abnormalities.

therapy.

models.

TABLE 2 | Cardiovascular and metabolic characteristics among children with FSGS, by race and APOL1 status.

Variable	Non-AA <i>APOL1</i> LR <i>n</i> = 36	AA <i>APOL1</i> LR <i>n</i> = 7	Pooled APOL1 LR $n = 43$	APOL1 HR n = 25	<i>p</i> -Value (pooled LR vs. HR)
SBP, mmHg	108 [103, 117]	114 [109, 124]	109 [103, 119]	120 [113, 127]	0.004
SBP percentile	62 [43, 81]	88 [48, 97]	64 [45, 88]	79 [55, 95]	0.132
DBP, mmHg	66 [61, 77]	73 [67, 88]	69 [61, 79]	67 [63, 75]	0.889
DBP percentile	64 [36, 88]	90 [58, 99]	68 [37, 92]	57 [46, 85]	0.377
Uncontrolled hypertension	10 (28%)	4 (57%)	14 (33%)	13 (52%)	0.131
LVMI at V2, g/m ^{2.7}	30.0 [26.9, 33.0]	28.1 [20.7, 28.6]	29.6 [26.9, 33.0]	40.8 [28.1, 52.9]	0.004
LVH at V2	4 (13.8%)	0 (0%)	4 (12%)	9 (45%)	0.003
Total cholesterol, mg/dl	173 [150, 210]	186 [174, 205]	174 [150, 210]	190 [168, 224]	0.222
High total cholesterol	10 (33%)	2 (40%)	12 (34%)	9 (43%)	0.565
HDL cholesterol, mg/dl	53 [41, 61]	53 [50, 66]	53 [41, 63]	51 [41, 60]	0.883
Low HDL cholesterol	4 (13%)	0 (0%)	4 (11%)	0 (0%)	0.286
LDL cholesterol, mg/dl	90 [71, 120]	98 [97, 123]	92 [71, 122]	112 [101, 145]	0.047
High LDL cholesterol	5 (17%)	1 (20%)	6 (17%)	7 (33%)	0.208
Triglycerides, mg/dl	143 [92, 203]	118 [93, 160]	136 [92, 200]	117 [91, 145]	0.441
High triglycerides	18 (60%)	3 (60%)	21 (60%)	10 (48%)	0.578
Hemoglobin, g/dl	12.5 [11.3, 13.4]	11.7 [10.0, 12.9]	12.3 [11.1, 13.3]	12.4 [11.9, 13.6]	0.165
Anemia	17 (47%)	5 (71%)	22 (51%)	8 (32%)	0.139
Calcium, mg/dl	9.2 [8.5, 9.6]	9.6 [8.0, 9.8]	9.2 [8.4, 9.6]	9.4 [9.1, 9.7]	0.179
Phosphate (mg/dl)	4.5 [4.0, 5.1]	4.1 [3.7, 6.0]	4.4 [4.0, 5.1]	4.3 [3.7, 4.7]	0.154
High phosphate	6 (17%)	2 (29%)	8 (19%)	0 (0%)	0.023
Calcium \times phosphate	41.7 [37.4, 44.8]	41.0 [36.3, 48.0]	41.4 [37.0, 45.0]	39.9 [34.0, 45.6]	0.504
iPTH, pg/ml	58.0 [35.8, 89.8]	144.3 [40.0, 267.8]	58.0 [38.0, 95.0]	52.0 [39.5, 67.0]	0.399
CRP > 3 mg/l	4 (12%)	2 (29%)	6 (15%)	8 (33%)	0.120

Median [IQR] or (CI), n (%); p-values based on Fisher's exact test or Wilcoxon rank-sum test.

SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; LVMI, left ventricular mass index; LVH, left ventricular hypertrophy; V2, visit at 12 months post study enrollment; HDL, high density lipoprotein; LDL, low density lipoprotein; iPTH, intact parathyroid hormone; CRP, C-reactive protein (high sensitivity or wide range).

Uncontrolled hypertension was defined as SBP or DBP \geq 95th percentile for age, sex, and height, regardless of a self-reported history of hypertension or receiving antihypertensive

TABLE 3 | Relative odds of selected risk factors and comorbidities comparing AA children with FSGS and HR *APOL1* to pooled children (i.e., non-AA and AA) with FSGS and LR *APOL1* based on logistic regression

	Unadjusted odds ratios Adjusted odds ratios			
	(95%CI)	(95%CI)		
Left ventricular hypertrophy	7.97 (1.90, 33.51)	6.22 (1.55, 24.91)		
Obesity	4.04 (1.35, 12.11)	4.65 (1.50, 14.43)		
Uncontrolled hypertension	2.24 (0.82, 6.17)	2.54 (0.92, 7.00)		
C-reactive protein > 3 mg/l	2.74 (0.82, 9.16)	2.41 (0.67, 8.72)		
High LDL cholesterol	1.34 (0.44, 4.08)	1.22 (0.40, 3.72)		

Analyses are unadjusted and adjusted for sex, income less than \$30,000, maternal education less than college, household having any public insurance, and missing a dose of antihypertensive medication in the past 7 days, as markers of socioeconomic status. Multiple imputation was used to account for missing data.

In children with biopsy confirmed FSGS enrolled in the FSGS-CT, 72% of self-identified AA subjects and 6% of children who identified themselves as non-AA had HR *APOL1* risk alleles (8). In the CKiD population, HR *APOL1* risk genotype was strongly associated with both glomerular disease and FSGS. Strikingly, the prevalence of HR *APOL1* among AA children with FSGS was 76% (25/33), and this was congruent with the 72% observed in the FSGS-CT. The distribution of *APOL1* genotypes observed in the adult normal population did not differ from Hardy–Weinberg expectations for genotype distribution; there was no loss of one

particular genotype group or gain in another. This provides population-based statistical evidence that there is no preferential loss of HR genotypes between conception and adulthood (2–5). While our study focused on children who have already been diagnosed with CKD, we are unable to make inferences about the general (i.e., non-diseased) pediatric population. Future studies may wish to characterize the distribution of *APOL1* risk alleles in this group to better understand population risk in children.

Previous studies have established that APOL1 kidney risk variants are strongly associated with kidney disease among adult AA; specifically, HIV-associated nephropathy (odds ratio, 29; 95% confidence interval, 13-68) and FSGS (odds ratio, 17; 95% confidence interval, 11-26) (2-5). In the CKiD cohort, the HR APOL1 genotype was associated with the glomerular phenotype in children younger than previously reported; previous studies have established that APOL1-associated FSGS is characterized by a tendency to present between ages 15 and 39 years old (7) and in FSGS-CT with median age 17 years (13, 23) (8). The median age of FSGS onset among HR children was 12 years in CKiD, which was older than other LR children with FSGS, a finding previously reported alongside the NEPTUNE children with nephrotic syndrome (15). Additionally, this study found a higher prevalence of prematurity among those with HR APOL1 compared to AA and non-AA children with FSGS, similar to findings with NEPTUNE that employed a different reference group, suggesting that the prematurity effect extends to non-AA children.

It has been well established that AA children with FSGS have later onset disease than non-AA children and progress more rapidly to ESRD (23, 24). In addition, AA children with nephrotic syndrome have a seven times greater risk of having been diagnosed with FSGS than Hispanics (Mexicans and other immigrants from Central America, but not Puerto Ricans and other Caribbean immigrants) (23), and this has been attributed to genetic factors. The present analysis suggest that among children with CKD, AA children with HR APOL1 genotype present with later onset kidney disease, and have a higher prevalence of cardiovascular and metabolic comorbidities than patients with LR APOL1 genotype, despite a shorter duration of disease and the same diagnosis of FSGS. This would suggest that in children with HR genotypes, FSGS might have a different pathophysiology with the added influence of distinctive environmental factors (i.e., obesity and potentially birth history, toxin exposure, and/or additional genetic factors). This in turn may lead to a "vascular/ endothelial" phenotype clinically presenting as uncontrollable HTN and LVH leading to "enhanced" podocyte injury; in contrast, non-AA primary FSGS may be characterized by a "primary podocyte" phenotype, earlier onset, and slower CKD progression. It is unclear at present how G1 and G2 alleles may cause endothelial or podocyte damage, although the APOL1 protein forms pores in the lysosomal membrane, leading to pathogen lysis, and a variant APOL1 protein was shown in transgenic mice to induce direct tissue injury (25).

The role of APOL1 in the adult cardiovascular phenotype remains controversial. Ito et al. (6) using data from the Jackson Heart Study (JHS) and Women's Health Initiative (WHI) demonstrated that the APOL1 kidney risk alleles confer a twofold risk of cardiovascular events, without significant changes in left ventricular mass, whereas the Systolic Blood Pressure Intervention Trial (SPRINT) showed the absence of an APOL1 association with prevalent cardiovascular disease in a non-diabetic adult sample (26). It is possible that cardiovascular disease-APOL1 interaction may have an age-dependent relationship pattern, similar to one described in early- and late-onset forms of Alzheimer disease associated with apolipoprotein E, epsilon 4 allele, where subjects at both age spectrum (young-old) seem to be affected by the disease penetrance (27). It is unknown if similar age-dependent relationship pattern could also be seen in cardiovascular disease-APOL1 interaction.

Furth et al. (19) described cardiovascular disease risk factors in the CKiD cohort and found that only 18% of the cohort exhibited CRP values >3 mg/l (independent of GFR). In our study, elevated CRP was not statistically different between HR and LR *APOL1* children with FSGS, suggesting that inflammation is not a driving factor behind LVH. It is possible that differences in LVH are driven by a combination of *APOL1* genotype, underlying metabolic status, obesity/BMI, HTN, and some other unrecognized socioeconomic or racial variables. Our results showed an excess of obesity among those with HR *APOL1*. Since obesity and metabolic dysregulation are risk factors for both cardiovascular disease and CKD onset and progression, managing weight prior to onset in order to prevent or delay disease may be an important clinical consideration. Future studies should seek to clarify whether the effect of *APOL1* on CKD severity is related to obesity or whether these two outcomes are independently influenced by the HR profile. Our finding of increased cardiovascular and metabolic risks associated with HR genotype in children with CKD underscores the importance of early detection and need for more aggressive treatment of obesity, such as early therapy or adherence support, in this population.

It is also possible that the increased cardiovascular risk in the HR children is a consequence of the underlying glomerular disease (FSGS) severity and rate of progression. HTN-misattributed kidney disease in AA has been described in the adult literature (28). Given the cross-sectional nature of this study, future research efforts might investigate a large group of AA children with non-glomerular/congenital kidney disease to investigate the effect of HR *APOL1* on cardiovascular risk, in the absence of podocyte injury and glomerular damage. Since the vast majority of HR children in CKiD had a glomerular disease (85%), we were unable to assess the effect of *APOL1* HR on cardiovascular risk among those with a non-glomerular condition.

This study has several limitations. First, the LR APOL1 subgroup with FSGS was predominantly non-AA. There were only 7 AA with LR APOL1 compared to 25 AA children with HR APOL1 and FSGS, thus highlighting the strong association between HR APOL1 and FSGS among AA children. Since other forms of glomerular disease among the AA LR APOL1 children, such as hemolytic uremic syndrome, familial nephritis, or SLE, were less common than FSGS in AA HR group, we chose to restrict our analysis to only those with FSGS to determine the effect of HR APOL1 among those with the same CKD pathology, which necessitated inclusion of non-AA children with FSGS. Although a minority of non-AA subjects were genotyped; all had LR APOL1 status, providing a justification for classifying non-AA children as LR. It is possible that some children were misclassified, particularly those of Hispanic ethnicity, although this misclassification would lead to more conservative estimates. Ideally, our study would have included a large group of LR and HR APOL1 AA children with FSGS. As such, we cannot completely discount genetic (non-APOL1) or metabolic factors related to race explaining these effects. A related limitation is the potential confounding effect of race and SES, given the disparate distributions of race between the exposed and unexposed groups. While several key SES variables were not associated with our exposure, 7-day antihypertensive adherence was related to HR APOL1. Inverse probability or exposure weights were used to account for potential differences in SES variables in adjusted analyses, but there may be other unmeasured SES variables possibly confounding these relationships. The third limitation was the lack of DNA for analysis in 59 subjects (28 subjects with glomerular disease), reducing statistical power. We did not characterize ancestry-informative markers, and therefore, we did not determine the fraction of African ancestry among subjects, although this information would likely not change any inferences, since the prevalence of HR APOL1 genotype in this study was nearly identical to that previously reported (5, 7, 8). Finally, this study was limited in sample size and may be considered preliminary data for future research to build upon. These findings need to be replicated in larger populations in both children and adults. Despite these limitations, the association of HR APOL1 genotype with development of glomerular disease, later onset of FSGS and indications of increased cardiovascular risk among children were compelling.

In conclusion, this study suggests that *APOL1*-associated risks are not restricted to adults only and are present in young children as well. Indeed, in CKiD, cardiovascular abnormalities were more common among AA children with HR *APOL1*. Targeting these established modifiable comorbidities, especially BMI, obesity, and HTN, may be a particularly important component in CKD management to delay ESRD in this HR population.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RW developed the idea for this research, participated in analysis and interpretation of the data, and wrote the manuscript. DN participated in the statistical design, analysis and interpretation of the data, and co-wrote the manuscript. SL, CW, JK participated in sample genotyping, analysis, and interpretation of the data, and edited the manuscript. KR and MS participated in analysis and interpretation of the data, and edited the manuscript. BW, SF, MM, CW, and FK participated in the design of the Chronic Kidney Disease in Children prospective cohort study (source of data in this manuscript) and analysis and interpretation of the data, and edited the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Data in this manuscript were collected by the Chronic Kidney Disease in Children prospective cohort study (CKiD) with clinical

REFERENCES

- Bibbins-Domingo K, Pletcher MJ, Lin F, Vittinghoff E, Gardin JM, Arynchyn A, et al. Racial differences in incident heart failure among young adults. *N Engl J Med* (2009) 360:1179–90. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0807265
- Genovese G, Friedman DJ, Ross MD, Lecordier L, Uzureau P, Freedman BI, et al. Association of trypanolytic APOL1 variants with kidney disease in African Americans. *Science* (2010) 329(5993):841–5. doi:10.1126/ science.1193032
- Freedman BI, Kopp JB, Langefeld CD, Genovese G, Friedman DJ, Nelson GW, et al. The apolipoprotein L1 (APOL1) gene and nondiabetic nephropathy in African Americans. J Am Soc Nephrol (2010) 21:1422–6. doi:10.1681/ ASN.2010070730
- Tzur S, Rosset S, Shemer R, Yudkovsky G, Selig S, Tarekegn A, et al. Missense mutations in the APOL1 gene are highly associated with end stage kidney disease risk previously attributed to the MYH9 gene. *Hum Genet* (2010) 128(3):345–50. doi:10.1007/s00439-010-0861-0
- Kopp JB, Nelson GW, Sampath K, Johnson RC, Genovese G, An P, et al. APOL1 genetic variants in focal segmental glomerulosclerosis and HIVassociated nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol (2011) 22:2129–37. doi:10.1681/ ASN.2011040388
- Ito K, Bick AG, Flannick J, Friedman DJ, Genovese G, Parfenov MG, et al. Increased burden of cardiovascular disease in carriers of APOL1 genetic variants. *Circ Res* (2014) 114:845–50. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.302347
- Parsa A, Kao WH, Xie D, Astor BC, Li M, Hsu CY, et al. APOL1 risk variants, race, and progression of chronic kidney disease. N Engl J Med (2013) 369(23):2183–96. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1310345
- Kopp JB, Winkler CA, Zhao X, Radeva MK, Gassman JJ, D'Agati VD, et al. Clinical features and histology of apolipoprotein L1-associated nephropathy in the FSGS clinical trial. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2015) 26:1443–8. doi:10.1681/ ASN.2013111242

coordinating centers (Principal Investigators) at Children's Mercy Hospital and the University of Missouri - Kansas City (Bradley Warady, MD) and Children's Hospital of Philadelphia (Susan Furth, MD, Ph.D.), Central Biochemistry Laboratory (George Schwartz, MD) at the University of Rochester Medical Center, and data coordinating center at the Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health (Alvaro Muñoz, Ph.D.). The CKiD Study is supported by grants from the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, with additional funding from the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, and the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (U01-DK-66143, U01-DK-66174, U01-DK-082194, and U01-DK-66116). This work was also supported by the National Cancer Institute (NCI) Intramural Research Programs. This project has been funded in part with federal funds from the National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, under contract HHSN26120080001E. The content of this publication does not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the Department of Health and Human Services nor does mention of trade names, commercial products, or organizations imply endorsement by the U.S. Government. These data were presented in abstract form at the Annual Meeting of the American Society of Nephrology in 2013 and 2014.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fped. 2016.00122/full#supplementary-material.

- Hadtstein C, Schaefer F. Hypertension in children with chronic kidney disease: pathophysiology and management. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2008) 23:363–71. doi:10.1007/s00467-007-0643-7
- Mitsnefes M, Ho PL, McEnery PT. Hypertension and progression of chronic renal insufficiency in children: a report of the North American Pediatric Renal Transplant Cooperative Study (NAPRTCS). J Am Soc Nephrol (2003) 14:2618–22. doi:10.1097/01.ASN.0000089565.04535.4B
- Flynn JT, Mitsnefes M, Pierce C, Cole SR, Parekh RS, Furth SL, et al. Blood pressure in children with chronic kidney disease: a report from the Chronic Kidney Disease in Children Study. *Hypertension* (2008) 52:631–7. doi:10.1161/ HYPERTENSIONAHA.108.110635
- Mitsnefes MM, Kimball TR, Kartal J, Witt SA, Glascock BJ, Khoury PR, et al. Progression of left ventricular hypertrophy in children with early chronic kidney disease: 2-year follow-up study. *J Pediatr* (2006) 149:671–5. doi:10.1016/ j.jpeds.2006.08.017
- Kizer JR, Arnett DK, Bella JN, Paranicas M, Rao DC, Province MA, et al. Differences in left ventricular structure between black and white hypertensive adults: the Hypertension Genetic Epidemiology Network study. *Hypertension* (2004) 43(6):1182–8. doi:10.1161/01.HYP.0000128738.94190.9f
- Kupferman JC, Aronson Friedman L, Cox C, Flynn J, Furth S, Warady B, et al. BP control and left ventricular hypertrophy regression in children with CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol (2014) 25(1):167–74. doi:10.1681/ASN.2012121197
- Ng DK, Robertson CC, Woroniecki RP, Limou S, Gillies CE, Reidy KJ, et al. APOL1-associated glomerular disease among African-American children: a collaboration of the Chronic Kidney Disease in Children (CKiD) and Nephrotic Syndrome Study Network (NEPTUNE) cohorts. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2016). doi:10.1093/ndt/gfw061
- Furth SL, Cole SR, Moxey-Mims M, Kaskel F, Mak R, Schwartz G, et al. Design and methods of the Chronic Kidney Disease in Children (CKiD) prospective cohort study. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2006) 1(5):1006–15. doi:10.2215/ CJN.01941205

- National High Blood Pressure Education Program Working Group on High Blood Pressure in Children and Adolescents. The fourth report on the diagnosis, evaluation, and treatment of high blood pressure in children and adolescents. *Pediatrics* (2004) 114(2 Suppl 4th Report):555–76. doi:10.1542/ peds.114.2.S2.555
- Khoury PR, Mitsnefes M, Daniels SR, Kimball TR. Age-specific reference intervals for indexed left ventricular mass in children. J Am Soc Echocardiogr (2009) 22(6):709–14. doi:10.1016/j.echo.2009.03.003
- Furth SL, Abraham AG, Jerry-Fluker J, Schwartz GJ, Benfield M, Kaskel F, et al. Metabolic abnormalities, cardiovascular disease risk factors, and GFR decline in children with chronic kidney disease. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2011) 6(9):2132–40. doi:10.2215/CJN.07100810
- Hidalgo G, Ng DK, Moxey-Mims M, Minnick ML, Blydt-Hansen T, Warady BA, et al. Association of income level with kidney disease severity and progression among children and adolescents with CKD: a report from the Chronic Kidney Disease in Children (CKiD) Study. *Am J Kidney Dis* (2013) 62(6):1087–94. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2013.06.013
- Robins JM, Hernán MA, Brumback B. Marginal structural models and causal inference in epidemiology. *Epidemiology* (2000) 11(5):550–60. doi:10.1097/00001648-200009000-00011
- Cole SR, Hernán MA. Constructing inverse probability weights for marginal structural models. Am J Epidemiol (2008) 168(6):656–64. doi:10.1093/aje/ kwn164
- Sorof JM, Hawkins EP, Brewer ED, Boydstun II, Kale AS, Powell DR. Age and ethnicity affect the risk and outcome of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Pediatr Nephrol* (1998) 12(9):764–8. doi:10.1007/s004670050542
- Bonilla-Felix M, Parra C, Dajani T, Ferris M, Swinford RD, Portman RJ, et al. Changing patterns in the histopathology of idiopathic nephrotic syndrome in children. *Kidney Int* (1999) 55(5):1885–90. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.1999. 00408.x

- Thomson R, Genovese G, Canon C, Kovacsics D, Higgins MK, Carrington M, et al. Evolution of the primate trypanolytic factor APOL1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2014) 111(20):E2130–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1400699111
- Langefeld CD, Divers J, Pajewski NM, Hawfield AT, Reboussin DM, Bild DE, et al. Apolipoprotein L1 gene variants associate with prevalent kidney but not prevalent cardiovascular disease in the Systolic Blood Pressure Intervention Trial (SPRINT). *Kidney Int* (2015) 87(1):169–75. doi:10.1038/ki.2014.254
- Chartier-Harlin MC, Parfitt M, Legrain S, Pérez-Tur J, Brousseau T, Evans A, et al. Apolipoprotein E, epsilon 4 allele as a major risk factor for sporadic early and late-onset forms of Alzheimer's disease: analysis of the 19q13.2 chromosomal region. *Hum Mol Genet* (1994) 3(4):569–74. doi:10.1093/hmg/3.4.569
- Skorecki KL, Wasser WG. Hypertension-misattributed kidney disease in African Americans. *Kidney Int* (2013) 83:6–9. doi:10.1038/ki.2012.369

Disclaimer: The content of this publication does not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the Department of Health and Human Services, and mention of trade names, commercial products, or organizations does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Woroniecki, Ng, Limou, Winkler, Reidy, Mitsnefes, Sampson, Wong, Warady, Furth, Kopp and Kaskel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Ethnic Differences in Childhood Nephrotic Syndrome

Rahul Chanchlani^{1,2,3} and Rulan S. Parekh^{1,2,4*}

¹ Division of Pediatric Nephrology, Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada, ² Child Health Evaluative Sciences, Research Institute, Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada, ³ Division of Pediatric Nephrology, McMaster Children's Hospital, Hamilton, ON, Canada, ⁴ Department of Medicine, Division of Nephrology, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

Nephrotic syndrome is a common glomerular disease in children with significant variability in both incidence and steroid responsiveness among various ethnic groups. The average incidence of nephrotic syndrome is 2–16.9 per 100,000 children worldwide. Understanding the variability by ethnicity may point to potential factors leading to nephrotic syndrome, which remains elusive, and may highlight factors accounting for differences in medication response. The emerging role of genetic factors associated with steroid responsive and steroid-resistant forms of nephrotic syndrome within an ethnic group can provide insight into potential biological mechanisms leading to disease. For example, among African-Americans, the risk variants in *APOL1* are associated with a more than 10-fold increase in risk of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis and high-risk carriers have a twofold greater risk of progression to end-stage renal disease. Ongoing collaborative studies should consider capturing data on self-reported ethnicity to understand differences in incidence and outcomes. In the future, the availability of whole-genome data will provide an excellent opportunity for new clinical and translational research in childhood nephrotic syndrome and lead to a better understanding of the disease.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Robert P. Woroniecki, State University of New York, USA

Reviewed by:

Kimberly Jean Reidy, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, USA Ibrahim F. Shatat, Medical University of South Carolina, USA Michelle Rheault, University of Minnesota, USA

*Correspondence: Rulan S. Parekh

rulan.parekh@sickkids.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 02 December 2015 Accepted: 04 April 2016 Published: 19 April 2016

Citation:

Chanchlani R and Parekh RS (2016) Ethnic Differences in Childhood Nephrotic Syndrome. Front. Pediatr. 4:39. doi: 10.3389/fped.2016.00039 Keywords: steroid resistant, steroid dependent, minimal change disease, focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, nephrotic syndrome

INTRODUCTION

Nephrotic syndrome is a common childhood kidney disease characterized by a constellation of heavy proteinuria (urine protein to creatinine ratio >200 mg/mmol or \geq 3 + proteinuria on urine dipstick) resulting in hypoalbuminemia (<25 g/L), hyperlipidemia, and peripheral edema (1). Despite treating nephrotic syndrome with prednisone for over 50 years, the exact mechanism of disease remains unclear. Most studies focus on podocyte injury (2), immunological (3), and environmental factors (4) as potential culprits in the pathogenesis of nephrotic syndrome, but causal factors remain elusive.

Corticosteroids remain the mainstay for treatment of nephrotic syndrome. Based on the response to corticosteroids, children with nephrotic syndrome segregate into a steroid-sensitive group that has a good long-term prognosis, but risk of frequent relapses, and a steroid-resistant group with higher risk of developing chronic kidney disease. Response to medications is quite variable with some children requiring further courses of steroid-sparing agents, while others achieve complete remission after the first course of prednisone. Steroid-sparing agents, such as cyclophosphamide, mycophenolate mofetil, calcineurin inhibitors, and rituximab, are often used to induce or maintain remission with mixed results. It is unclear what leads to this individual variability in drug response and the future risk of relapses. Minimal change disease (MCD) is the most common histological variant of nephrotic syndrome and accounts for approximately 80% of cases in children based on historical data from 1967 to 1976 (5). Focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS) is less common but can be progressive with poor long-term outcomes. Data suggest differences in the incidence of FSGS among various ethnic groups, for example, a study involving 86 children from Kansas city, MO, USA, reported the annual incidence of FSGS of 1.6 per 100,000 in African-Americans compared to 0.3 per 100,000 in European Americans (6).

With recent advancements and improved understanding of the human genome, 45 genes are found to be associated with familial and sporadic nephrotic syndrome that primarily affect podocyte structure and function (7). Most recently identified, the gene *APOL1* is a major risk factor for FSGS among African-Americans accounting for progressive kidney disease. The influence of genetic factors among other ethnic groups is less clear.

This review focuses on the current understanding of ethnic differences in childhood nephrotic syndrome, discusses ongoing studies and role of ethnicity, and the influence of genetics within specific ethnic groups.

ETHNIC DIFFERENCES IN NEPHROTIC SYNDROME

Based on our review of the literature, the average incidence of nephrotic syndrome is 4.7 (range 1.15–16.9) per 100,000 persons in studies reported from 1946 to 2014, and the proportion with steroid resistance is 12.4% (range 2.1–27.3%) from 1986 to 2014 (**Figures 1A,B**). Hence, there is a considerable variation in disease burden by country of origin and steroid responsiveness, suggesting the potential role of ethnicity in susceptibility to disease (8–23).

In studies, where there are large diaspora populations, such as the United Kingdom, South Asians are reported to have a higher incidence of nephrotic syndrome ranging from 7.4 to 16.9 per 100,000 persons compared to Europeans (14, 24, 25). Studies from the US report a higher estimated incidence among children of African compared to European descent (Figure 1A) (6, 13). The proportion of steroid resistance also varies by ethnicity from 20% among Europeans, 16-27% among Africans, 27-54% among Asians, and 20-39% among South Asians (Figure 1B) (26-29). It is possible that these differences are at least partially attributable to variations in clinical management, selection bias, and definitions of outcomes. African-American children are more likely to have biopsy-proven FSGS (42-72%) with worse outcomes as compared to European children and commonly progress to end-stage renal disease (ESRD) (19, 26, 27, 30-32). Comparatively, the proportion of FSGS in India ranges from 15.3 to 39.1% (33, 34). All these reports have differing definitions, inconsistent inclusion, and selection criteria at tertiary centers and variable access to health care, which impact comparison of incidence rates and outcomes such as steroid responsiveness. In addition, most studies combine both steroid resistant and FSGS as a single category, thereby leading to further heterogeneity in study populations and impacting outcomes. On the other hand, registries from New Zealand and Netherlands did not show differences in disease burden by ethnicity primarily due to lack of power or reported ethnic diversity (35, 36). These registries or case series have short follow-up and limited clinical information; hence, differences in treatment response by ethnicity are not well reported. To address these limitations, a number of ongoing registries and cohort studies conducted worldwide deserve mention. These studies include children with various types of nephrotic syndrome with the overall goal to identify clinical, histological and genomic predictors of nephrotic syndrome. The highlights of each study are shown in **Table 1**.

PodoNet is an international registry that includes children with steroid-resistant disease and congenital nephrotic syndrome recruited predominantly from European countries having 90.3% participants of European descent (37). Registry for Rare Kidney Diseases (RaDaR), recently renamed the National Study for Nephrotic Syndrome (NephroS) study, is a web-based UK registry that aims to capture clinical information on all children and adults with nephrotic syndrome and studies to date have focused on genetic testing of steroid-resistant disease primarily involving Europeans (76.6%) (38).

Nephrotic Syndrome Study Network (NEPTUNE) and the Cure Glomerulonephropathy Network (CureGN) are both North American multicenter collaborative longitudinal cohort studies, which enroll both children and adults with biopsy-proven disease (MCD and FSGS). NEPTUNE recruits an incident cohort at the time of first biopsy and follows them closely for up to 5 years (39). It comprises a diverse ethnic cohort based on genetically derived ancestry. CureGN is a new multicenter study enrolling up to 2400 children and adults with incident or prevalent MCD and FSGS. All of these studies to date have limited enrollment of either South Asians or East/Southeast Asians as many may not receive a biopsy or fulfill entry criteria, thus limiting their generalizability to other patient populations.

Canadian Childhood Nephrotic Syndrome (CHILDNEPH) is enrolling children across Canada to study treatment strategies in nephrotic syndrome and system factors driving treatment variation (40). Insight into Nephrotic Syndrome: Investigating Genes, Health, and Therapeutics (INSIGHT) is an ongoing longitudinal study, initially from Toronto, ON, Canada, that aims to detect factors that affect disease susceptibility and treatment response among children with nephrotic syndrome (41). The preliminary results from this study (42) demonstrate that South Asians have approximately 6 times higher incidence of nephrotic syndrome but significantly lower odds of frequently relapsing disease as compared to Europeans.

There is a clear geographical variation in the incidence of nephrotic syndrome. It is possible that the differences in incidence by ethnicity are due to referral patterns at tertiary care centers or publication bias. The reason for variation in response to steroids and other immunosuppressive medications among specific ethnic groups has not been well documented. The results from registries and prospective studies will provide an excellent resource for future clinical and genetic research to understand disease pathogenesis and differences by ancestry.

A major limitation in understanding ethnic differences is the lack of detailed self-reported ethnicity data collected in most

Α						В							
City, Country	Ethnicity (n)					City, Country	Ethnicity (total n, SR%)	5					
New Zealand 35	Multi-ethnic (n= 49)*						Multi-ethnic (n=49, 19.6%)	_					
Australia 18	Not specified (n=135)	-				New Zealand 35							
The Netherlands 36	Not specified (n=231)					Durban, South Africa 21	Black and Indian (n=816, 27.3%)						
Kentucky, USA ¹¹	Not specified (n=34)						Turkish (n=138, 13,2%)						
Benghazi, Libya 10	Arabs (n=134)					Diyarbakir, Turkey 16							
Farwaniya/Jahra, Kuwait ⁹						Sindh, Pakistan 28	Pakistani (n=538, 31.1%)						
Ohio, USA 12	African-Americans (n=15) Whites (n=157)					Siem Reap, Cambodia 8	Cambodian (n=112, 6.2%)						
	African-Americans (n=157)							-					-
Kansas City, USA ⁶	Europeans (n=54)					Poland 17	Polish (n=178, 24.7%)						
Erie county, USA 13	Whites (n=9)					Boston and New York.	European (n=65, 6.2%)						_
Erie county, USA	Non-whites (n=73)					USA 19							-
	Afro-Caribbeans (n=2)					В	lack and Hispanic (n=177, 15.3%)						
Birmingham, UK 23	Europeans (n=15)					New Orleans, USA 15	African American (n=96, 11%)						
	Asians (n=27)					New Officialis, USA							
Former Yorkshire, UK 14	Non-Asians (n=49)**	_					Caucasian (n=103, 3.6%)	_	_				
Former forksmile, UK	Asians (n=121)**						Others (n=232, 2.6%)						
Leicestershire, UK 24	Non-Asians (n=22)	_					Officia (n. 202, 2.070)						_
	Asians (n=21)					Toronto, Canada 42 Ea	st/South-east Asians (n=66, 4.5%)	_					_
E	ast/South-east Asians (n=69)						South Asians (n=237, 2.1%)						
Toronto, Canada 42	South Asians (n=237)												_
roronto, cunada	Europeans (n=173)						Europeans (n=173, 6.8%)						-
	Others (n= 232)							0 10 2	20 30	40 50	0 60 70	80 9	0 1
		0 2 4	6 8	10 12	14 16 18			0 10 2	.0 30	40 30	0 00 /0	00 9	0 1
			Incidence ^{\$} (p	er 100,000 j	persons)		Steroid resist	tant (%)	■ Ste	roid sen	sitive (%)		
Multi-ethnic: New Zealand Estimated based on data in	European, Maori, Pacific Island	Asian, Other; **0	nly those with s	eroid sensitive	e nephrotic syndrome	N=total number of patients [§] Estimated based on data in	; SR%: proportion of steroid resistance n published studies	,					

FIGURE 1 | (A) Incidence of childhood nephrotic syndrome per 100,000 persons by ethnicity reported from 1946 to 2014. (B) Variability of steroid responsiveness by ethnicity among children with nephrotic syndrome in reported studies from 1986 to 2014.

Study Participa centers	Participating			Inclusion criteria	Ethnic groups			
	centers				Europeans (%)	South Asians (%)	East/South East Asians (%)	Others (%)
Registries								
PodoNet (37)	67	1655	2009	Congenital/steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome	90.3	0.9	0.4	8.4ª
RaDaR (38)	Not specified	220	2010	Children/adults with steroid-sensitive and -resistant nephrotic syndrome	76.6	2.6	0.06 ^d	20°
Cohort studies								
NEPTUNE (39)	18	450	2010	Children/adults with MCD, FSGS, and MN	48	-	9	44 ^b
INSIGHT (41, 42)	2	450	2012	All children with nephrotic syndrome	24	33	10	33°
CureGN	64	2400	2014	Children/adults with MCD, FSGS, IgA nephropathy, and MN		Not av	vailable	

MCD, minimal change disease, FSGS, focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, MN, membranous nephropathy.

alncludes Hispanic, mixed, and Native Americans.

^bIncludes admixed Americans and Africans.

°Includes North African, East African, Afro-Caribbean, mixed, and unknown.

^dSpecified as "other Asian".

elncludes individuals classified as West Central Asian/Middle Eastern, West Indian/Caribbean and African, Latin/Central/South American and Aboriginal, multi-ethnic, and unknown.

studies. Moreover, due to admixture it can be difficult to establish ethnicity among multi-ethnic children. Additionally, various cultural, environmental, and socioeconomic factors also act as important confounders and may influence individual variability to medication response and frequency of relapses. We provide a few suggestions for future studies in terms of collecting and reporting ethnicity data in children with nephrotic syndrome until genetic ancestry is available in some studies:

- 1. Ethnicity should be self-reported;
- 2. Ethnicity of two or more generations should be captured for multigenerational admixture;

- 3. A uniform definition of ethnic groups should be used to compare across studies;
- 4. Collaborative studies, both national and international, should include diverse ethnicities.

ROLE OF ETHNICITY AND GENETICS IN CHILDHOOD NEPHROTIC SYNDROME

There is an evolving role of genetic risk and development of nephrotic syndrome in children. The discovery of *NPHS1* and *NPHS2* genes leading to congenital nephrotic syndrome provided the first evidence of a genetic cause of steroid-resistant disease.

Since then, 45 genes have been associated with monogenic forms of nephrotic syndrome and highlight abnormalities in podocyte structure and function leading to disease (7). The current known genes associated with nephrotic syndrome account for only 20-30% of hereditary and 10-20% of sporadic cases. The majority of these genes especially NPHS2 have been identified in European (43, 44), Japanese (45), and Turkish (46) families but have not been studied across broad ancestral groups where the allele frequency may vary and additional variants may be important. With advancement in genetic analyses, an increasing number of polymorphisms have been detected in children with nephrotic syndrome. It is important to note, however, that some variants are of unknown significance. It is difficult to determine whether these variants are common and/or pathogenic by ethnic or ancestral groups until genetic databases include more comprehensive information across many ethnic groups. Understanding the epidemiological differences in kidney disease by ethnicity may suggest possible genetic risk. For example, African-Americans are known to have a 7.5% lifetime risk of reaching end-stage kidney disease, which is significantly higher than approximately 2% in European Americans (47). In 2008, studies using mapping admixture by linkage disequilibrium identified loci on chromosome 22 that explained the higher incidence of development of FSGS and ESRD among Africans Americans compared to European Americans. Initially, genetic risk was attributed to variants in the MYH9 gene (48, 49). With new data available in the HapMAP, the major source of genetic risk for African-American non-diabetic ESRD and FSGS was localized to APOL1, encoding apolipoprotein L1 (ApoL1), which is only 14 kb from the gene MYH9 (50, 51). Risk of advanced kidney disease is two to seven times greater for those carrying risk alleles of APOL1, as compared to controls. The spectrum of APOL1-associated kidney disease is quite diverse and includes nephrotic syndrome (FSGS), non-diabetic chronic kidney disease secondary to hypertension, HIV-associated collapsing glomerulopathy (52), sickle cell nephropathy (53), and lupus nephritis (54). A recent study also demonstrated that the risk of progression of chronic kidney disease is approximately two times higher in African-Americans with APOL1 variants despite adequate blood pressure control (55). Interestingly, some individuals carrying APOL1 risk alleles do not develop kidney disease highlighting the role of additional genetic or environmental interactions (56). To further understand the association of APOL1 variants with different rates of chronic kidney disease across various African countries and potential environmental interaction, the Kidney Disease Network of Human Hereditary and Health in Africa (H3Africa) consortium was established (57).

Recently, a study among 214 children with steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome from South Asia, specifically Sri Lanka,

REFERENCES

- Bagga A, Mantan M. Nephrotic syndrome in children. *Indian J Med Res* (2005) 122(1):13–28.
- Schonenberger E, Ehrich JH, Haller H, Schiffer M. The podocyte as a direct target of immunosuppressive agents. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2011) 26(1):18–24. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfq617

reported HLA-DQA1 missense coding variants as possible candidate loci based on exome array in case–control study compared to 149 healthy controls. The study findings were then confirmed among a replication sample of 100 European children with steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome and 205 European controls. This study supports the contributory role of immune response in the pathogenesis of nephrotic syndrome (58) and will need to be tested in additional cohorts with diverse ethnic groups. Previous smaller studies in Chinese and Japanese children have also reported association between variants in HLA-DQ3, HLA-DQ8, HLA-DR, HLADQW2, HLA-DQA1, and HLA-DQB1 in nephrotic syndrome (59–62).

ETHNIC DIFFERENCES IN OTHER GLOMERULAR DISEASES

In specific ethnic groups, genome-wide association studies have identified susceptibility loci for membranous and IgA nephropathies. HLA-DQA1 allele on chromosome 6p21 is most closely associated with idiopathic membranous nephropathy in persons of European ancestry (63). IgA nephropathy, the most common cause of glomerulonephritis in adults, has a higher prevalence in Asians as compared to North-Americans or Europeans (64). Recently, in a large diverse cohort of patients with IgA nephropathy, individuals with Pacific Asian origin were shown to have a higher risk of progression to ESRD (65). Studies among East Asians with IgA nephropathy have identified susceptibility loci with the strongest association in the region that include the HLA-DRB1, -DQA1, and -DQB1 genes (66). Similar studies are quite scarce in children with nephrotic syndrome.

CONCLUSION

In children with nephrotic syndrome, incidence and response to treatment varies by ethnicity. It is likely that genetic and environmental risk factors play a substantial role in explaining these ethnic differences and need further study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RC drafted the manuscript; RP conceptualized the work and critically revised the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Authors would like to acknowledge Tonny Banh, Rawan Rumman, Esther Kim, and Jovanka Vasilevska-Ristovska for providing useful suggestions in the preparation of manuscript.

- Sahali D, Sendeyo K, Mangier M, Audard V, Zhang SY, Lang P, et al. Immunopathogenesis of idiopathic nephrotic syndrome with relapse. *Semin Immunopathol* (2014) 36(4):421-9. doi:10.1007/ s00281-013-0415-3
- 4. de Burbure C, Buchet JP, Leroyer A, Nisse C, Haguenoer JM, Mutti A, et al. Renal and neurologic effects of cadmium, lead, mercury, and arsenic in children: evidence of early effects and multiple interactions at environmental

exposure levels. Environ Health Perspect (2006) 114(4):584-90. doi:10.1289/ ehp.8202

- The primary nephrotic syndrome in children. Identification of patients with minimal change nephrotic syndrome from initial response to prednisone. A report of the International Study of Kidney Disease in Children. J Pediatr (1981) 98(4):561–4. doi:10.1016/S0022-3476(81)80760-3
- Srivastava T, Simon SD, Alon US. High incidence of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis in nephrotic syndrome of childhood. *Pediatr Nephrol* (1999) 13(1):13–8. doi:10.1007/s004670050555
- Bierzynska A, Soderquest K, Koziell A. Genes and podocytes new insights into mechanisms of podocytopathy. *Front Endocrinol* (2014) 5:226. doi:10.3389/fendo.2014.00226
- Copelovitch L, Sam Ol O, Taraquinio S, Chanpheaktra N. Childhood nephrotic syndrome in Cambodia: an association with gastrointestinal parasites. J Pediatr (2010) 156(1):76–81. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.06.049
- Zaki M, Helin I, Manandhar DS, Hunt MC, Khalil AF. Primary nephrotic syndrome in Arab children in Kuwait. *Pediatr Nephrol* (1989) 3(2):218–20; discussion 21. doi:10.1007/BF00852914
- Elzouki AY, Amin F, Jaiswal OP. Primary nephrotic syndrome in Arab children. Arch Dis Child (1984) 59(3):253–5. doi:10.1136/adc.59.3.253
- Wyatt RJ, Marx MB, Kazee M, Holland NH. Current estimates of the incidence of steroid responsive idiopathic nephrosis in Kentucky children 1-9 years of age. Int J Pediatr Nephrol (1982) 3(2):63–5.
- 12. Rothenberg MB, Heymann W. The incidence of the nephrotic syndrome in children. *Pediatrics* (1957) **19**(3):446–52.
- Schlesinger ER, Sultz HA, Mosher WE, Feldman JG. The nephrotic syndrome. Its incidence and implications for the community. *Am J Dis Child* (1968) 116(6):623–32. doi:10.1001/archpedi.1968.02100020627009
- McKinney PA, Feltbower RG, rocklebank JT, Fitzpatrick MM. Time trends and ethnic patterns of childhood nephrotic syndrome in Yorkshire, UK. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2001) 16(12):1040–4. doi:10.1007/s004670100021
- Kim JS, Bellew CA, Silverstein DM, Aviles DH, Boineau FG, Vehaskari VM. High incidence of initial and late steroid resistance in childhood nephrotic syndrome. *Kidney Int* (2005) 68(3):1275–81. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.00524.x
- Bircan Z, Yavuz Yilmaz A, Katar S, Vitrinel A, Yildirim M. Childhood idiopathic nephrotic syndrome in Turkey. *Pediatr Int* (2002) 44(6):608–11. doi:10.1046/j.1442-200X.2002.01628.x
- Banaszak B, Banaszak P. The increasing incidence of initial steroid resistance in childhood nephrotic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2012) 27(6):927–32. doi:10.1007/s00467-011-2083-7
- Hodson ECJ, Willis N. Congenital and idiopathic nephrotic syndrome. In: Elliott E, editor. *Ninth Annual Report Australian Paediatric Surveillance Unit*. Parramatta: Snap Printing (2002). p. 6–8.
- Ingulli E, Tejani A. Racial differences in the incidence and renal outcome of idiopathic focal segmental glomerulosclerosis in children. *Pediatr Nephrol* (1991) 5(4):393–7. doi:10.1007/BF01453661
- Eddy AA, Symons JM. Nephrotic syndrome in childhood. Lancet (2003) 362(9384):629–39. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(03)14184-0
- Bhimma R, Adhikari M, Asharam K. Steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome: the influence of race on cyclophosphamide sensitivity. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2006) 21(12):1847–53. doi:10.1007/s00467-006-0276-2
- Chang JW, Tsai HL, Yang LY, Chen TJ. Epidemiology and predictors of endstage renal disease in Taiwanese children with idiopathic nephrotic syndrome. *J Epidemiol* (2012) 22(6):517–22. doi:10.2188/jea.JE20120033
- Sharples PM, Poulton J, White RH. Steroid responsive nephrotic syndrome is more common in Asians. Arch Dis Child (1985) 60(11):1014–7. doi:10.1136/ adc.60.11.1014
- Feehally J, Burden AC, Mayberry JF, Probert CS, Roshan M, Samanta AK, et al. Disease variations in Asians in Leicester. Q J Med (1993) 86(4):263–9.
- Feehally J, Kendell NP, Swift PG, Walls J. High incidence of minimal change nephrotic syndrome in Asians. Arch Dis Child (1985) 60(11):1018–20. doi:10.1136/adc.60.11.1018
- Boyer O, Moulder JK, Somers MJ. Focal and segmental glomerulosclerosis in children: a longitudinal assessment. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2007) 22(8):1159–66. doi:10.1007/s00467-007-0493-3
- Bonilla-Felix M, Parra C, Dajani T, Ferris M, Swinford RD, Portman RJ, et al. Changing patterns in the histopathology of idiopathic nephrotic syndrome in children. *Kidney Int* (1999) 55(5):1885–90. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755. 1999.00408.x

- Mubarak M, Kazi JI, Shakeel S, Lanewala A, Hashmi S. The spectrum of histopathological lesions in children presenting with steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome at a single center in Pakistan. *ScientificWorldJournal* (2012) 2012:681802. doi:10.1100/2012/681802
- Andreoli SP. Racial and ethnic differences in the incidence and progression of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis in children. *Adv Ren Replace Ther* (2004) 11(1):105–9. doi:10.1053/j.arrt.2003.10.015
- Warady BA, Chadha V. Chronic kidney disease in children: the global perspective. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2007) 22(12):1999–2009. doi:10.1007/ s00467-006-0410-1
- Chernin G, Heeringa SF, Gbadegesin R, Liu J, Hinkes BG, Vlangos CN, et al. Low prevalence of NPHS2 mutations in African American children with steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2008) 23(9):1455–60. doi:10.1007/s00467-008-0861-7
- Sorof JM, Hawkins EP, Brewer ED, Boydstun II, Kale AS, Powell DR. Age and ethnicity affect the risk and outcome of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Pediatr Nephrol* (1998) 12(9):764–8. doi:10.1007/s004670050542
- Das U, Dakshinamurty KV, Prayaga A. Pattern of biopsy-proven renal disease in a single center of south India: 19 years experience. *Indian J Nephrol* (2011) 21(4):250–7. doi:10.4103/0971-4065.85482
- Gulati S, Sharma AP, Sharma RK, Gupta A. Changing trends of histopathology in childhood nephrotic syndrome. *Am J Kidney Dis* (1999) 34(4):646–50. doi:10.1016/S0272-6386(99)70388-4
- Wong W. Idiopathic nephrotic syndrome in New Zealand children, demographic, clinical features, initial management and outcome after twelve-month follow-up: results of a three-year national surveillance study. J Paediatr Child Health (2007) 43(5):337–41. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1754.2007.01077.x
- El Bakkali L, Rodrigues Pereira R, Kuik DJ, Ket JC, van Wijk JA. Nephrotic syndrome in the Netherlands: a population-based cohort study and a review of the literature. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2011) 26(8):1241–6. doi:10.1007/ s00467-011-1851-8
- Trautmann A, Bodria M, Ozaltin F, Gheisari A, Melk A, Azocar M, et al. Spectrum of steroid-resistant and congenital nephrotic syndrome in children: the PodoNet registry cohort. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2015) 10(4):592–600. doi:10.2215/CJN.06260614
- Ding WY, Koziell A, McCarthy HJ, Bierzynska A, Bhagavatula MK, Dudley JA, et al. Initial steroid sensitivity in children with steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome predicts post-transplant recurrence. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2014) 25(6):1342–8. doi:10.1681/ASN.2013080852
- Gadegbeku CA, Gipson DS, Holzman LB, Ojo AO, Song PX, Barisoni L, et al. Design of the Nephrotic Syndrome Study Network (NEPTUNE) to evaluate primary glomerular nephropathy by a multidisciplinary approach. *Kidney Int* (2013) 83(4):749–56. doi:10.1038/ki.2012.428
- Samuel S, Scott S, Morgan C, Dart A, Mammen C, Parekh R, et al. The Canadian Childhood Nephrotic Syndrome (CHILDNEPH) Project: overview of design and methods. *Can J Kidney Health Dis* (2014) 1:17. doi:10.1186/2054-3581-1-17
- Hussain N, Zello JA, Vasilevska-Ristovska J, Banh TM, Patel VP, Patel P, et al. The rationale and design of Insight into Nephrotic Syndrome: investigating genes, health and therapeutics (INSIGHT): a prospective cohort study of childhood nephrotic syndrome. *BMC Nephrol* (2013) 14:25. doi:10.1186/1471-2369-14-25
- Banh TM, Vasilevska-Ristovska J, Hussain N, Hebert D, Licht C, Pearl RJ, et al. Ethnic differences in incidence and outcomes of nephrotic syndrome. *Poster Presentation at the Pediatric Academic Society*, Vancouver (2014).
- Ruf RG, Lichtenberger A, Karle SM, Haas JP, Anacleto FE, Schultheiss M, et al. Patients with mutations in NPHS2 (podocin) do not respond to standard steroid treatment of nephrotic syndrome. J Am Soc Nephrol (2004) 15(3):722–32. doi:10.1097/01.ASN.0000113552.59155.72
- Machuca E, Hummel A, Nevo F, Dantal J, Martinez F, Al-Sabban E, et al. Clinical and epidemiological assessment of steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome associated with the NPHS2 R229Q variant. *Kidney Int* (2009) 75(7):727–35. doi:10.1038/ki.2008.650
- Maruyama K, Iijima K, Ikeda M, Kitamura A, Tsukaguchi H, Yoshiya K, et al. NPHS2 mutations in sporadic steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome in Japanese children. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2003) 18(5):412–6. doi:10.1007/ s00467-003-1120-6
- Berdeli A, Mir S, Yavascan O, Serdaroglu E, Bak M, Aksu N, et al. NPHS2 (podicin) mutations in Turkish children with idiopathic nephrotic

syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2007) **22**(12):2031–40. doi:10.1007/s00467-007-0595-y

- Kiberd BA, Clase CM. Cumulative risk for developing end-stage renal disease in the US population. J Am Soc Nephrol (2002) 13(6):1635–44. doi:10.1097/01. ASN.0000014251.87778.01
- Kopp JB, Smith MW, Nelson GW, Johnson RC, Freedman BI, Bowden DW, et al. MYH9 is a major-effect risk gene for focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Nat Genet* (2008) 40(10):1175–84. doi:10.1038/ng.226
- Kao WH, Klag MJ, Meoni LA, Reich D, Berthier-Schaad Y, Li M, et al. MYH9 is associated with nondiabetic end-stage renal disease in African Americans. *Nat Genet* (2008) 40(10):1185–92. doi:10.1038/ng.232
- Genovese G, Friedman DJ, Ross MD, Lecordier L, Uzureau P, Freedman BI, et al. Association of trypanolytic ApoL1 variants with kidney disease in African Americans. *Science* (2010) **329**(5993):841–5. doi:10.1126/science. 1193032
- Tzur S, Rosset S, Shemer R, Yudkovsky G, Selig S, Tarekegn A, et al. Missense mutations in the APOL1 gene are highly associated with end stage kidney disease risk previously attributed to the MYH9 gene. *Hum Genet* (2010) 128(3):345–50. doi:10.1007/s00439-010-0861-0
- Kopp JB, Nelson GW, Sampath K, Johnson RC, Genovese G, An P, et al. APOL1 genetic variants in focal segmental glomerulosclerosis and HIV-associated nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol (2011) 22(11):2129–37. doi:10.1681/ ASN.2011040388
- Ashley-Koch AE, Okocha EC, Garrett ME, Soldano K, De Castro LM, Jonassaint JC, et al. MYH9 and APOL1 are both associated with sickle cell disease nephropathy. *Br J Haematol* (2011) 155(3):386–94. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2011.08832.x
- Freedman BI, Langefeld CD, Andringa KK, Croker JA, Williams AH, Garner NE, et al. End-stage renal disease in African Americans with lupus nephritis is associated with APOL1. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2014) 66(2):390–6. doi:10.1002/ art.38220
- Parsa A, Kao WH, Xie D, Astor BC, Li M, Hsu CY, et al. APOL1 risk variants, race, and progression of chronic kidney disease. N Engl J Med (2013) 369(23):2183–96. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1310345
- Larsen CP, Freedman BI. Apolipoprotein L1-associated nephropathy and the future of renal diagnostics. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2015) 26(6):1232–5. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014101052
- Osafo C, Raji YR, Burke D, Tayo BO, Tiffin N, Moxey-Mims MM, et al. Human Heredity and Health (H3) in Africa kidney disease research network: a focus on methods in sub-saharan Africa. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2015) 10(12):2279–87. doi:10.2215/CJN.11951214

- Gbadegesin RA, Adeyemo A, Webb NJ, Greenbaum LA, Abeyagunawardena A, Thalgahagoda S, et al. HLA-DQA1 and PLCG2 are candidate risk loci for childhood-onset steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2015) 26(7):1701–10. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014030247
- Zhou GP, Guo YQ, Ji YH, Zhang GL. Major histocompatibility complex class II antigens in steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome in Chinese children. *Pediatr Nephrol* (1994) 8(2):140–1. doi:10.1007/BF00865460
- Konrad M, Mytilineos J, Bouissou F, Scherer S, Gulli MP, Meissner I, et al. HLA class II associations with idiopathic nephrotic syndrome in children. *Tissue Antigens* (1994) 43(5):275–80. doi:10.1111/j.1399-0039.1994.tb02340.x
- Kobayashi T, Ogawa A, Takahashi K, Uchiyama MHLA-. DQB1 allele associates with idiopathic nephrotic syndrome in Japanese children. *Acta Paediatr Jpn* (1995) 37(3):293–6. doi:10.1111/j.1442-200X.1995.tb03317.x
- Abe KK, Michinaga I, Hiratsuka T, Ogahara S, Naito S, Arakawa K, et al. Association of DQB1*0302 alloantigens in Japanese pediatric patients with steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome. *Nephron* (1995) 70(1):28–34. doi:10.1159/000188540
- Stanescu HC, Arcos-Burgos M, Medlar A, Bockenhauer D, Kottgen A, Dragomirescu L, et al. Risk HLA-DQA1 and PLA(2)R1 alleles in idiopathic membranous nephropathy. N Engl J Med (2011) 364(7):616–26. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1009742
- Donadio JV, Grande JP. IgA nephropathy. N Engl J Med (2002) 347(10):738–48. doi:10.1056/NEJMra020109
- Barbour SJ, Cattran DC, Kim SJ, Levin A, Wald R, Hladunewich MA, et al. Individuals of Pacific Asian origin with IgA nephropathy have an increased risk of progression to end-stage renal disease. *Kidney Int* (2013) 84(5):1017–24. doi:10.1038/ki.2013.210
- Gharavi AG, Kiryluk K, Choi M, Li Y, Hou P, Xie J, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies susceptibility loci for IgA nephropathy. *Nat Genet* (2011) 43(4):321–7. doi:10.1038/ng.787

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Chanchlani and Parekh. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Long-Term Outcomes in Children with Steroid-Resistant Nephrotic Syndrome Treated with Calcineurin Inhibitors

Nathan T. Beins^{1*} and Katherine M. Dell²

¹ Division of Pediatric Nephrology, Children's Mercy Hospital, Kansas City, MO, USA, ² Center for Pediatric Nephrology, Cleveland Clinic Foundation, Cleveland, OH, USA

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Robert P. Woroniecki, State University of New York, USA

Reviewed by:

François Cachat, University Hospital of Bern, Switzerland R. Morrison Hurley, University of British Columbia, Canada Abubakr A. Imam, Hamad Medical Corporation, Qatar

> *Correspondence: Nathan T. Beins ntbeins@cmh.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

> Received: 07 September 2015 Accepted: 13 November 2015 Published: 27 November 2015

Citation:

Beins NT and Dell KM (2015) Long-Term Outcomes in Children with Steroid-Resistant Nephrotic Syndrome Treated with Calcineurin Inhibitors. Front. Pediatr. 3:104. doi: 10.3389/fped.2015.00104 **Background:** Steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome (SRNS) is an important cause of chronic kidney disease (CKD) in children that often progresses to end-stage renal disease (ESRD). Calcineurin inhibitors (CNIs) have been shown to be effective in inducing short-term remission in some patients with SRNS. However, there are little data examining their long-term impact on ESRD progression rates.

Methods: We performed a retrospective chart review of all patients treated for SRNS with CNIs at our institution from 1995 to 2013. Data collected including demographics, initial response to medical therapy, number of relapses, progression to ESRD, and treatment complications.

Results: A total of 16 patients met inclusion criteria with a mean follow-up of 6.6 years (range 0.6–17.6 years). Histopathological diagnoses were focal segmental glomeruloscle-rosis (8), mesangial proliferative glomerulonephritis (4), IgM nephropathy (3), and minimal change disease (1). Three patients (18.8%) were unresponsive to CNIs while the remaining 13 (81.2%) achieved remission with CNI therapy. Six patients (37.5%) progressed to ESRD during the study period, three of whom did so after initially responding to CNI therapy. Renal survival rates were 87, 71, and 57% at 2, 5, and 10 years, respectively. Non-Caucasian ethnicity was associated with progression to ESRD. Finally, a higher number of acute kidney injury (AKI) episodes were associated with a lower final estimated glomerular filtration rate.

Discussion: Despite the majority of SRNS patients initially responding to CNI therapy, a significant percentage still progressed to ESRD despite achieving short-term remission. Recurrent episodes of AKI may be associated with progression of CKD in patients with SRNS.

Keywords: nephrotic syndrome, calcineurin inhibitor, steroid resistant, AKI, FSGS

INTRODUCTION

Nephrotic syndrome is a rare clinical syndrome consisting of high grade proteinuria, hyperlipidemia, hypoalbuminemia, and edema. Nephrotic syndrome affects ~2–7 children per 100,000 and affects all ages and ethnic backgrounds (1–4). Prior studies have demonstrated that ~80% of children diagnosed with nephrotic syndrome will respond to steroid therapy (5). However, there is recent evidence that the incidence of initial steroid resistance is increasing (6). Previous long-term follow-up studies have demonstrated favorable prognosis if remission is achieved with steroids (7, 8).

The majority of patients with steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome (SRNS) will have focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS) found on biopsy (2, 5). Historical studies examining SRNS, specifically caused by FSGS, provided evidence that >50% of children who do not respond to initial steroid therapy would progress to end-stage renal disease (ESRD) within 3 years (9, 10). Due to the unfavorable prognosis of SRNS, numerous therapies have been utilized in an attempt to achieve remission, including cyclosporine, tacrolimus, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab. The most predominant therapies utilized are the calcineurin inhibitors (CNIs), cyclosporine, and/or tacrolimus, which are the current recommended first line therapy for SRNS per the 2012 Kidney Diseases Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Guidelines (11). Numerous studies have demonstrated their efficacy in achieving short-term remission (12-14). While several studies have examined long-term outcomes in SRNS (15-18), there are many limitations to these results. The goal of the current study was to examine the long-term (>5 years) follow-up of SRNS patients treated with CNIs at a single institution, with specific attention paid to those who initially showed good response to CNIs.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A retrospective chart review was performed of all patients with SRNS treated with CNIs from January 1995 through August 2013 at Rainbow Babies and Children's Hospital. Patients were identified via ICD-9 billing code search. Inclusion criteria were (1) diagnosis of SRNS, with a minimum of 6 months follow-up from initial diagnosis; (2) age 1–18 years at the time of diagnosis; and (3) treatment with either cyclosporine A and/or tacrolimus. Exclusion criteria were (1) steroid dependent and/or frequently relapsing NS, (2) late-onset steroid resistance, or (3) incomplete medical records. Definitions of steroid response, remission, and relapse were based upon the 2012 KDIGO guidelines (11).

Data Collection

Data collected from the medical records of children meeting inclusion criteria included basic demographic data (age, gender, and race), clinical features at diagnosis (presence of hematuria, hypertension, serum creatinine, and urine protein/creatinine ratio), histopathology, and growth parameters (weight and height). Longitudinal follow-up data were also collected and included number of relapses/remissions, complications of disease/treatment [infections requiring hospital admission, development of diabetes mellitus, development of hypertension, thrombosis/stroke, and episodes of acute kidney injury (AKI)], and estimated GFR (eGFR). AKI was defined as a 0.3 mg/dL rise in the serum creatinine within a 48-h period per the AKI network criteria (19). eGFR was calculated using the original bedside Schwartz equation and the modified Schwartz equation when serum creatinine was measured using isotope dilution mass spectrometry (IDMS) (20, 21). End follow-up occurred at the completion of the study period or when the patient progressed to ESRD (transplantation or dialysis).

Statistical Analysis

Baseline results were expressed as means with ranges and percentages. Given the small patient sample size normality was not assumed and all statistics were performed non-parametrically. Due to the small sample size, all patients were included in the final statistical analysis regardless of their initial response to calcineurin inhibition. Statistical tests utilized include Pearson chi-squared, Mann–Whitney *U* test, Pearson correlation, Spearman rank correlation, and Kaplan–Meier survival analysis. All statistical analyses were performed with the SPSS software suite (version 22.0). The research design and statistical analysis was approved by University Hospitals/Case Western Reserve University Institutional Review Board.

RESULTS

A total of 34 patients were identified of which 16 met all inclusion criteria. Of the 18 excluded patients, 14 had either lateonset steroid resistance or steroid dependence, 2 patients were not treated with CNIs, and 2 patients' records were unavailable. Mean age at onset of SRNS was 6.9 years (1.7-13 years) and mean duration of follow-up was 6.6 years (range 0.6-17.6 years). Seven of the 16 children were male (43.8%). Nine of the children were African-American (56.2%), four children were Caucasian (25%), and three children were Hispanic (18.8%). All patients underwent biopsy soon after diagnosis of SRNS with eight patients having focal segmental glomerular sclerosis (50%), four with mesangial proliferative glomerulonephritis (25%), three with IgM nephropathy (18.8%), and one patient with minimal change disease (6.2%). The majority of patients were treated with cyclosporine A (10 patients, 62.5%) with only 2 patients (12.5%) receiving tacrolimus, whereas 4 patients (25%) were treated with both medications during the study period. Demographic and clinical features of the study cohort are summarized in Table 1.

Thirteen of the 16 patients (81.3%) achieved remission with CNI therapy. The three patients who failed to achieve initial remission all progressed to ESRD during the length of follow-up (7, 11 months, and ~5 years). Among patients achieving initial remission, relapses were common with a mean of 3.4 relapses (0.5 relapses/year). Complications that arose during the course of treatment included infections requiring admission (three patients), steroid-induced cataracts (one patient), venous/arterial thrombosis (three patients), and one patient who suffered posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome. AKI was also very common with 13/16 patients (81.3%) having at least one episode of AKI. The mean number of AKI episodes was 2.1 ± 1.5 among all 16 patients in the study, which corresponds to

TABLE 1 | Study population baseline characteristics.

Gender	Male: 7 (44%) Female: 9 (56%)
Mean age at onset (years)	6.9 (1.7–13.9)
Histopathology	FSGS: 8 (50%) MPGN: 4 (25%) IgM nephropathy: 3 (19%) Minimal change: 1 (6%)
Ethnicity	African-American: 9 (56%) Caucasian: 4 (25%) Hispanic: 3 (19%)
Medication	Cyclosporine A: 10 (63%) Tacrolimus: 2 (12%) Both: 4 (25%)

a mean 0.7 \pm 1.1 AKI episode per patient year of follow-up. When restricted to only those patients achieving remission with CNI therapy (n = 13) the mean number of AKI episodes per patient year was 0.34 \pm 0.3 episodes. Reversibility to baseline creatinine was seen in 71% of AKI episodes with the remaining 29% adopting a new baseline.

A total of 6 out of 16 patients (37.5%) developed ESRD during the study period: 3/3 (100%) of CNI non-responders and 3/13 (23%) of CNI responders. Table 2 summarizes the demographic and clinical features results based on renal outcome (ESRD vs. non-ESRD). The only two significant associations with ESRD in the study population were non-Caucasian race (p = 0.024), and the mean number of AKI episodes per patient year of followup (p = 0.031). No other significant associations with ESRD were identified in the study population with respect to age, gender, histopathology, medication, or number of remissions. Finally, eGFR was inversely associated with a higher mean number of AKI episodes (p = 0.022, 95% confidence interval = -28.5 to $-2.5 \text{ mL/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$). No other associations with lower final eGFR were identified. Kaplan-Meier renal survival analysis was performed and demonstrated survival rates of 87, 71, and 57% at 2, 5, and 10 years, respectively (see Figure 1). When CNI nonresponders were eliminated from the statistical analysis, the only significant correlation was AKI episodes per patient year of followup with lower eGFR (p = 0.03). Kaplan–Meier renal survival analysis for CNI responders demonstrated renal survival rates of 88, 80, and 57% at 2, 5, and 10 years, respectively (see Figure 2).

DISCUSSION

Steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome remains a challenging clinical entity and many patients still struggle to achieve remission despite newer therapies. Failure to achieve remission with steroids was historically associated with rates of progression to ESRD >50% within a 5-year period (9, 10). Since the advent of CNIs (and other therapies), there has been a paucity of long-term outcome data regarding progression to ESRD. This study provides further evidence regarding the long-term outcomes of SRNS. A significant percentage (18.8%) failed to respond to CNIs, all of whom progressed to ESRD. Among those initially responding to CNIs, 23% (3/13) still progressed to ESRD. Although renal

TABLE 2 | Study demographics and results by renal outcome.

	Non-ESRD (<i>n</i> = 10)	ESRD (<i>n</i> = 6)	p-Value
Gender (% male)	4 (40%)	3 (50%)	0.696
Mean age at onset (years)	6.1 (1.7–13.2)	8.5 (1.7–13.9)	0.301
Histopathology	FSGS: 5 (50%) MPGN: 3 (30%) IgM nephropathy: 1 (10%) Minimal change: 1 (10%)	FSGS: 3 (50%) MPGN: 1 (17%) IgM nephropathy: 2 (33%)	0.828
Ethnicity	African-American: 6 (50%) Caucasian: 4 (40%)	African-American: 3 (50%) Hispanic: 3 (50%)	0.024
Medication	Cyclosporine A: 8 (80%) Tacrolimus: 1 (10%) Both: 1 (10%)	Cyclosporine A: 2 (33%) Tacrolimus: 1 (17%) Both medications: 3 (50%)	0.147
Mean follow-up duration (months)	92 (17–211)	61 (7–162)	0.278
Mean number of relapses	3.2	3.8	0.428
Mean number of AKI episodes	1.5	3.3	0.073
Mean number of AKI episodes (per patient year of follow-up)	0.27	1.5	0.031

Red bold text indicates statistical significance.



responders and CNI non-responders.

survival at 1 and 5 years was still fairly good (>80%), the 10-year renal survival of that group was 57%, demonstrating the importance of following these long-term clinical course.

A growing body of evidence in adult nephrology literature that suggests the recurrent episodes of AKI may be associated



with worse chronic kidney disease (CKD) (22–24). Several studies in pediatric ICU settings have demonstrated development of CKD after AKI in pediatric patients (25, 26). Given that patients with SRNS treated with CNIs, which may also be treated with angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers, we hypothesized that this population is at high risk for developing AKI.

Our study did, in fact, confirm that AKI is a common occurrence among SRNS patients, with more than 80% of patients suffering an episode of AKI during their follow-up period and most patients having more than one episode of AKI. Exact etiology of these AKI episodes could not be determined retrospectively; however, the majority of AKI episodes occurred during time of relapse. Prior studies examining complications of nephrotic syndrome (not specifically SRNS) demonstrate that ~10% of all admissions for nephrotic syndrome are associated with AKI (27). Furthermore, we identified a significant association between AKI episodes and progression to ESRD. We hypothesize that these episodes of AKI lead to cumulative damage that increases the risk of progression to ESRD. This finding highlights the importance of rapidly identifying and managing even mild AKI in this population.

Several other studies have examined the outcome of SRNS but with important limitations. Otukesh et al. (15) examined 59 children with early steroid resistance and found a renal survival rate of 56% at 10 years; however, the study included both early and late steroid resistance and therapy with cyclophosphamide and mycophenolate mofetil in addition to cyclosporine A. Gellermann et al. (28) demonstrated effectiveness in achieving sustained remission using a combination of cyclosporine and mycophenolate mofetil in early SRNS secondary to FSGS with a 100% renal survival rate in their cohort. However, the study only included Caucasian children and at enrollment all patients were in remission via standard steroids, high dose methyl-prednisolone \pm addition of cyclosporine if proteinuria did not

improve. It is unclear how many of the given patients may have responded to the high dose steroids without the addition of cyclosporine and the inclusion of only a single ethnicity makes it difficult to extrapolate the results to other populations. Similarly, Hamasaki et al. (18) performed a prospective 5-year study examining SRNS and cyclosporine and found a renal survival rate of 94.3%. However, their study also was of a single ethnicity and the majority of the enrolled patients had minimal change disease with only 20% having FSGS. In addition, the shorter follow-up time compared to our study could have precluded identifying children who would still enter ESRD but at a later timepoint. Finally, in the largest series published to date, Zagury et al. (17) examined the outcomes of SRNS in their population within Brazil of 114 patients with early steroid resistance treated with cyclosporine A. They found a renal survival rate of 58.4% at 10 years and identified FSGS and cyclosporine resistance as predictors of progression to ESRD. These study, however, did not examine episodes of AKI.

As with several of the published studies, our study had important limitations, including its retrospective, single center nature, and the small sample size. In addition, the majority of our patients in this study were treated with cyclosporine A, so data on tacrolimus were limited. Target CNI levels varied throughout the study follow-up period at the discretion of the treating physician. Trough levels were examined; however, they were highly variable due to numerous factors including improperly timed collection, patient non-compliance, and impact of illness. Due to this variation analysis of the impact of CNI trough levels was unable to be performed. Finally, although we identified an association between AKI and progression to ESRD, it is possible that the increased number of AKI episodes may reflect more severe baseline disease that would be more likely to progress to ESRD, rather than being a causative factor of ESRD. Severity of baseline disease could be further assessed by FSGS histopathology; however, these data were unavailable in our study due to many biopsies occurring prior to the development of the classification scheme used to identify FSGS histological variants. Further studies examining the role of FSGS histopathology, AKI, and CKD progression are needed to address this concern.

In conclusion, this study demonstrates that treatment with CNIs can be effective in achieving sustained remission for idiopathic SRNS. Although short-term prognosis (<5 years) was generally good, our study found that long-term renal survival was less favorable, with 43% of CNI-responsive patients progressing to ESRD at 10 years. These findings are consistent with previously published data, which suggest that, although newer therapies are slowing the rate of progression, close to 50% will still reach ESRD during childhood/early adulthood (16-18). Notably, our study found that increased episodes of AKI were associated with increased risk of ESRD. While we were unable to establish causality, these findings provide, for the first time, support for a relationship between repeated AKI and progression to ESRD in SRNS A larger, multi-center prospective study would be necessary to further define long-term outcomes of a diverse population of children with SRNS responsive to CNIs to and determine the role, if any, that episodes of AKI may play in the progression to ESRD. The possibility of long-term adverse effects of AKI episodes in patients with SRNS emphasizes the importance of AKI prevention

in this population. Future treatment guidelines should stress the importance of AKI prevention through avoidance of dehydration, nephrotoxic medications, and prompt treatment of infections and relapse episodes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NB performed the initial chart review, data collection, statistical analysis, and manuscript authorship. KD assisted with the study

REFERENCES

- el Bakkali L, Rodrigues Pereira R, Kuik DJ, Ket JCF, van Wijk JAE. Nephrotic syndrome in the Netherlands: a population-based cohort study and a review of the literature. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2011) 26:1241–6. doi:10.1007/s00467-011-1851-8
- Srivastava T, Simon SD, Alon US. High incidence of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis in nephrotic syndrome of childhood. *Pediatr Nephrol* (1999) 13(1):13–8. doi:10.1007/s004670050555
- Hogg RJ, Portman RJ, Milliner D, Lemley KV, Eddy A, Ingelfinger J. Evaluation and management of proteinuria and nephrotic syndrome in children: recommendations from a pediatric nephrology panel established at the national kidney foundation conference on proteinuria, albuminuria, risk, assessment, detection, and elimination (PARADE). *Pediatrics* (2000) 105:1242–9. doi:10. 1542/peds.105.6.1242
- International Study of Kidney Disease in Children. Nephrotic syndrome in children: prediction of histopathology from clinical and laboratory characteristics at time of diagnosis. *Kidney Int* (1978) 13:159–65. doi:10.1038/ki.1978.23
- International Study of Kidney Disease in Children. Primary nephrotic syndrome in children: clinical significance of histopathological variants of minimal change disease. *Kidney Int* (1981) 20(6):765–71. doi:10.1038/ki.1981.209
- Banaszak B, Banaszak P. The increasing incidence of initial steroid resistance in childhood nephrotic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2012) 27(6):927–32. doi:10. 1007/s00467-011-2083-7
- Wynn SR, Stickler GB, Burke EC. Long-term prognosis for children with nephrotic syndrome. *Clin Pediatr* (1988) 27(2):63–8. doi:10.1177/ 000992288802700201
- Trompeter RS, Hicks J, Lloyd BW, White RHR, Cameron JS. Long-term outcome for children with minimal-change nephrotic syndrome. *Lancet* (1985) 325(8425):368–70. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(85)91387-X
- Ingulli E, Tejani A. Racial differences in the incidence and renal outcome of idiopathic focal segmental glomerulosclerosis in children. *Pediatr Nephrol* (1991) 5:393–7. doi:10.1007/BF01453661
- The Southwest Pediatric Nephrology Study Group. Focal segmental glomerulosclerosis in children with idiopathic nephrotic syndrome: a report of the Southwest pediatric nephrology study group. *Kidney Int* (1985) 27:442–9. doi: 10.1038/ki.1985.29
- Lombel RM, Gipson DS, Hodson EM. Treatment of steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome in children: new guidelines from KDIGO. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2013) 28(3):409–14. doi:10.1007/s00467-012-2310-x
- 12. Cattran DC, Appel GB, Hebert LA, Hunsicker LG, Pohl MA, Hoy WE, et al. A randomized trial of cyclosporine in patients with steroid-resistant focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Kidney Int* (1999) **56**:2220–6. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755. 1999.00778.x
- Choudhry S, Bagga A, Hari P, Sharma S, Kalaivani M, Dinda A. Efficacy and safety of tacrolimus versus cyclosporine in children with steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Kid Dis* (2009) 53(5):760–9. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2008.11.033
- Hodson EM, Willis NS, Craig JC. Interventions for idiopathic steroidresistant nephrotic syndrome in children. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2010) 11:CD003594. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD003594.pub4
- Otukesh H, Otukesh S, Mojtahedzadeh M, Hoseini R, Fereshtehnejad SM, Riahi Fard A, et al. Management and outcome of steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome in children. *Iran J Kidney Dis* (2009) 3(4):210–7.

design, identification of study participants, interpretation of study results, and manuscript authorship.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The results of this research project were presented at the 49th Annual Midwest Society for Pediatric Research Scientific Meeting, October 2014, Cleveland, OH, USA.

- Roberti I, Vyas S. Long-term outcome of children with steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome treated with tacrolimus. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2010) 25:1117–24. doi:10.1007/s00467-010-1471-8
- Zagury A, Oliveira AL, Montalvão JAA, Novaes RHL, Sá VM, Moraes CAP, et al. Steroid-resistant idiopathic nephrotic syndrome in children: long-term followup and risk factors for end-stage renal disease. *J Bras Nefrol* (2013) 35(3):191–9. doi:10.5935/0101-2800.20130031
- Hamasaki Y, Yoshikawa N, Nakazato H, Sasaki S, Iijima K, Nakanishi K, et al. Prospective 5-year follow-up of cyclosporine treatment in children with steroidresistant nephrosis. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2013) 28:765–71. doi:10.1007/s00467-012-2393-4
- Mehta RL, Kellum JA, Shah SV, Molitoris BA, Ronco C, Warnock DG, et al. Acute kidney injury network: report of an initiative to improve outcomes in acute kidney injury. *Crit Care* (2007) 11(2):R31. doi:10.1186/cc5713
- Schwartz GJ, Haycock GB, Edelmann CM Jr, Spitzer A. A simple estimate of glomerular filtration rate in children derived from body length and plasma creatinine. *Pediatrics* (1976) 58:259–63.
- Schwartz GJ, Muñoz A, Schneider MF, Mak RH, Kaskel F, Warady BA, et al. New equations to estimate GFR in children with CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol (2009) 20(3):629–37. doi:10.1681/ASN.2008030287
- Thakar CV, Christianson A, Himmelfarb J, Leonard AC. Acute kidney injury episodes and chronic kidney disease risk in diabetes mellitus. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2011) 6(11):2567–72. doi:10.2215/CJN.01120211
- Chawla LS, Amdur RL, Amodeo S, Kimmel PL, Palant CE. The severity of acute kidney injury predicts progression to chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2011) 79(12):1361–9. doi:10.1038/ki.2011.42
- Chawla LS, Kimmel PL. Acute kidney injury and chronic kidney disease: an integrated clinical syndrome. *Kidney Int* (2012) 82(5):516–24. doi:10.1038/ki. 2012.208
- Mammen C, Al Abbas A, Skippen P, Nadel H, Levine D, Collet JP, et al. Longterm risk of CKD in children surviving episodes of acute kidney injury in the intensive care unit: a prospective cohort study. *Am J Kidney Dis* (2012) 59(4):523–30. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2011.10.048
- Menon S, Kirkendall ES, Nguyen H, Goldstein SL. Acute kidney injury associated with high nephrotoxic medication exposure leads to chronic kidney disease after 6 months. J Pediatr (2014) 165(3):522–7. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2014.04.058
- Rheault MN, Wei CC, Hains DS, Wang W, Kerlin BA, Smoyer WE. Increasing frequency of acute kidney injury amongst children hospitalized with nephrotic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2014) 29:139–47. doi:10.1007/s00467-013-2607-4
- Gellerman J, Ehrich JHH, Querfeld U. Sequential maintenance therapy with cyclosporine A and mycophenolate mofetil for sustained remission of childhood steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2012) 27:1970–8. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfr572

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Beins and Dell. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Long-term Outcomes of Childhood Onset Nephrotic Syndrome

Rebecca Hjorten, Zohra Anwar and Kimberly Jean Reidy*

Pediatrics Nephrology, Children's Hospital at Montefiore, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, Bronx, NY, USA

There are limited studies on long-term outcomes of childhood onset nephrotic syndrome (NS). A majority of children with NS have steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome (SSNS). Steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome (SRNS) is associated with a high risk of developing end-stage renal disease. Biomarkers and analysis of genetic mutations may provide new information for prognosis in SRNS. Frequently relapsing and steroid-dependent NS is associated with long-term complications, including dyslipidemia, cataracts, osteoporosis and fractures, obesity, impaired growth, and infertility. Long-term complications of SSNS are likely to be under-recognized. There remain many gaps in our knowledge of long-term outcomes of childhood NS, and further study is indicated.

Keywords: nephrotic syndrome, children, pediatric, outcomes, genetics, focal glomerulosclerosis,

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Agnieszka Swiatecka-Urban, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, USA

Reviewed by:

Rachel Lennon, University of Manchester, UK R. Morrison Hurley, University of British Columbia, Canada

> *Correspondence: Kimberly Jean Reidy kreidy@montefiore.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 06 July 2015 **Accepted:** 06 May 2016 **Published:** 25 May 2016

Citation:

Hjorten R, Anwar Z and Reidy KJ (2016) Long-term Outcomes of Childhood Onset Nephrotic Syndrome. Front. Pediatr. 4:53. doi: 10.3389/fped.2016.00053 INTRODUCTION

minimal-change disease

Nephrotic syndrome (NS) is characterized by proteinuria, edema, hypoalbuminemia, and hyperlipidemia. The seminal studies of childhood onset NS were performed in the 1970s, in the International Study of Kidney Disease in Children (ISKDC) (1, 2). The ISKDC studies established the most likely pathologic diagnoses of childhood NS, as biopsies were performed at presentation in all 127 patients. Overall, the most common diagnosis (n = 95/127) was minimal-change disease (MCD), which was present in 94% of the children with steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome (SSNS) (1). In steroid-resistant nephritic syndrome (SRNS), focal glomerulosclerosis (FSGS) was the most common histopathologic lesion (1). The ISKDC established that the majority of children with NS (80%) respond to corticosteroid treatment (1, 2). Thus, the ISKDC established the paradigm of treating all children presenting with NS with corticosteroids and only performing biopsies in steroid resistant patients (2).

Since the ISKDC, the majority of studies looking at outcomes classified patients by response to corticosteroids or other therapy and by NS relapse. The least severe course with SSNS is associated with few or no relapses. More complicated are those with SSNS with frequent relapses (FR = >2 relapses over a 6-month or >3 over a 12-month period) or steroid dependence (SD = relapses during treatment or within 2 weeks of stopping corticosteroids) (3). Some patients with initial steroid response develop SRNS (late non-responders) and others present with SRNS. Finally, there are the most severe cases of NS that are both corticosteroid and other treatment resistant. Long-term renal-related complications of childhood NS would include NS relapse in adulthood, hypertension, chronic kidney disease (CKD), and end-stage renal disease (ESRD). Long-term non-renal complications include complications of corticosteroids and other immunosuppressant medications, including effects on growth, bone health, fertility, and risk for malignancy. An additional consideration are psychosocial issues associated with NS. As with many chronic diseases, NS can represent a barrier to attaining educational degrees and employment and/or developing stable relationships/marriage. Indeed, a quality-of-life (QOL) survey of children with NS in the National Institutes of Health Focal

Segmental Glomerulosclerosis (NIH FSGS) clinical trial revealed that children with SRNS had poor QOL scores similar to children on dialysis (4).

Here, we will review the current data on long-term NS outcomes, potential new predictors of treatment and renal outcomes, and gaps in our knowledge that warrant further investigation.

OUTCOMES IN SRNS

It is clear that the worst outcomes occur in SRNS, with 34-64% progressing to ESRD within 10 years of diagnosis (5-8). The majority of SRNS patients are treated with second-line agents, such as calcineurin inhibitors and other immunosuppressant medications. There is a highly variable response, which may depend upon the population studied. For example, studies of calcineurin inhibitors report divergent response rates of between 25 and 75% in children with SRNS (9). This variability in response to calcineurin inhibitors likely reflects in part differences dependent on the underlying histopathology of the SRNS, with MCD more likely to respond than FSGS. Other factors, such as race or ethnicity of the population being studied, may also affect likelihood of response (10). In particular, African-American and Hispanic children with FSGS have poorer outcomes, with one study demonstrating 50% progress to ESRD within 3 years (11, 12). What is clear is that response to any therapy is a major prognostic factor (13). Abeyagunawardena et al. examined 10-year outcomes of 66 children with SRNS. Response to therapy was associated with 90% renal survival, while almost 50% with failure to respond to therapy had progressed to ESRD (13). Response to second-line immunosuppressant therapy and risk of progression may differ in children who initially respond to therapy, but then become non-responsive (late non-responders). Straatmann et al. demonstrated that up to 87% of late non-responders in a multicenter study initially responded to a calcineurin inhibitor (14). However, long term, 31% of the cohort became non-responsive, and had decreased renal function and increased progression to ESRD compared to those that remained treatment responsive (14).

BIOMARKERS TO PREDICT RESPONSE TO THERAPY

One of the largest areas of research has been the search for soluble factors that may be predictive of treatment response and may also serve as targets for future therapies. This interest was partly spurred due to studies showing that serum from patients with FSGS can induce proteinuria in rats and increase the glomerular permeability of isolated glomeruli (15). In addition, plasmapheresis has been able to induce remission in some patients with recurrent FSGS post transplant (16, 17).

One circulating factor that has been studied is the soluble urokinase plasminogen activator (suPAR). Wei et al. showed in a study that 94 children with FSGS and 70 adults and children with FSGS had elevated levels of suPAR when compared with healthy controls (18). Peng et al. then showed, in a group of 176 children with idiopathic NS followed for approximately 30 months, that suPAR levels were able to predict steroid resistance (19). However, these results have not been widely reproducible, questioning the role of suPAR to distinguish FSGS from other glomerular diseases (20–22). For example, Sinha et al. in a cross-sectional cohort study of 83 healthy pediatric controls versus 469 patients with NS, 138 of which had SSNS, was not able to show an association of suPAR levels with either SSNS versus SRNS. In the same study, suPAR levels were not significantly associated with the diagnosis of FSGS (22). This study demonstrated that suPAR had an inverse correlation with glomerular filtration rate, and some have proposed it may be a predictor of renal progression (22, 23).

Other investigators have looked to evidence of immune activation to predict response to immunosuppressive treatment. One study of 26 children with idiopathic SSNS that were followed for less than a year showed a differential pattern of regulatory Th1 and Th2 cells in patients in remission versus in relapse (24). Another study of 46 children with NS demonstrated that T-cell glucocorticoid receptor expression was higher in patients with NS responsive to steroid therapy and in patients with MCD, when compared to patients with FSGS (25). In one study of 17 patients with MCD and 22 with FSGS, urinary CD80 (present on antigen-presenting cells and podocytes) was able to distinguish MCD from FSGS. Another investigator determined that the urinary CD80 level associated with disease remission (26, 27). In a search for novel, yet unrecognized, markers of both steroid response and disease progression, investigators have used unbiased approaches to examine gene expression, the serum and urine proteome, and the metabolome (28-30). One group took serum from blood of 33 children with idiopathic SSNS at presentation, in remission while on medication, and in remission once medication was stopped. Evaluating serum peptide levels at all time points, they identified a novel marker, apolipoprotein AII. The levels of apolipoprotein AII correlated with degree of proteinuria at presentation and decreased with remission (31).

All these studies are limited by small numbers of patients and most are single-center studies. Poor reproducibility has plagued efforts to identify biomarkers in NS (32, 33). Thus, newly available large cohorts of NS patients, such as Podonet (34), NEPTUNE (35), and Cure GN that include well-characterized pediatric patient populations of NS are critical for discovery and validation of new biomarkers.

GENETIC FACTORS IN PREDICTING OUTCOME IN NS

One of the new factors that may predict response to therapy and renal outcomes are genetic variants of NS. Genetic mutations are most likely to be identified in congenital nephrotic syndrome (CNS). Mutations in NPHS1, NPHS2, LAMB2, and WT-1 were identified in two-thirds of a largely European cohort of 89 infants with NS under the age of 1 (36). The overall average age of ESRD was 5.6 years. While the numbers were small and many outcomes were not known, patients with NPHS1 mutations had ESRD at an average age of 4.6 years, whereas those with NPHS2 mutations had ESRD at an average age of 7.4 years (36). It is possible these differences could be explained by differences in clinical course and management of congenital NS (e.g., nephrectomies), rather than the genetic basis of disease. However, it suggests that additional studies should address whether specific genetic mutations correlate with outcomes in early onset NS.

There are well over 40 genetic mutations associated with FSGS, and new mutations continue to be identified (37). A single-gene mutation may be identified in up to 29% of patients with SRNS onset prior to age 25 (38). Patients with genetic mutations are less likely to respond to immunosuppressant therapy and more likely to develop ESRD (39). One of the largest studies by Buscher et al. examined renal outcomes of at 10-year follow-up of 231 children in a European cohort with SRNS. For those presenting after 3 months of age, 58% children with SRNS associated with genetic mutations had progressed to ESRD, versus 29% with SRNS and no genetic mutation identified (39). Recently, genetic variants in APOL1 were identified as risk factors for renal disease in people of African descent. Carrying two copies of APOL1 coding variants (G1 and G2) is a risk factor for hypertensive nephropathy, lupus nephropathy, FSGS, and HIV nephropathy (40). Recent analysis of the FSGS Clinical Trial, a NIH supported randomized controlled trial comparing MMF to cyclosporine in children and young adults (41), demonstrated that 67-72% of 94 patients of African descent in the study harbored two copies of the APOL1 risk variants, and they were more likely to progress to ESRD, with 40% reaching ESRD within approximately 8 years (42). Of note, APOL1 risk variants did not associate with response to therapy, although a small percentage responded to either therapy (41). Many genetic analyses, to date, have focused on largely European and homogeneous populations; the cohorts of NEPTUNE (35, 43) and CureGN provide an opportunity to understand the contribution of gene-gene and gene-environmental interactions in modulating long-term outcomes.

Recently, two genes have been identified associated with treatment sensitive NS. Epithelial membrane protein 2 (EMP2) was identified in familial SSNS (44). While only a few patients were identified, the majority had no renal failure after over 20 years of follow-up (44). Overall, one can be optimistic that, in the future, identification of specific genetic mutations may help guide therapy and provide prognostic information to families.

LONG-TERM COMPLICATIONS OF STEROID-SENSITIVE NEPHROTIC SYNDROME ARE LIKELY UNDER-RECOGNIZED

There is increasing focus on a life-course approach to optimizing health outcomes, with recognition that exposures in childhood establish the risk for adult-onset disease (45). The vast majority of children will have SSNS and MCD, which is thought to have benign long-term outcomes. However, recent studies have suggested that other conditions that were thought to be benign, such as congenital solitary kidneys, are associated in increased risk of hypertension and ESRD in adulthood (46). The increased risk of ESRD required more than 30 years to manifest, and thus was unlikely to be detected without a concerted effort to study outcomes in these patients (46). Potential long-term complications of SSNS are likely to be under-recognized, as patients are often lost to follow-up.

OUTCOMES IN SSNS

There are a handful of studies looking at long-term outcomes of childhood onset SSNS (**Table 1**). All studies include either exclusively or mostly FR/SD NS patients.

RISK OF RELAPSE AS AN ADULT

An early study by Trompeter et al. suggested that only 5% of children will have persistent relapses as adults (47). However, several recent studies suggest that FRNS is common, and relapses may persist into adulthood. Esfahani et al. examined the course of NS of over 200 children from Iran with follow-up between 5 and 20 years (52). Eighty-three percent experienced relapses in childhood and over 50% required additional immunosuppressive treatment, likely indicating FR/SD NS. Less than half the cohort sustained a remission for more than 3 years. Similarly, Ishikura et al. performed 10-year follow-up of a randomized controlled trial of cyclosporine for FR/SDNS in Japan. Fifty percent continued to relapse and remain on immunosuppressives in adulthood (50).

TABLE 1 Long-term comp	lications of childhood SSNS.		
	Complication	Reported prevalence	Comment
Renal	Relapses in adulthood	5–40% (47, 48)	Higher risk with early onset, more frequent relapses in childhood
	Decreased GFR/ESRD	<1% at 20-year follow-up (48)	
	Hypertension	6–46% (49, 50)	Highest in FRNS with adult relapses
Immunosuppression-related	Overweight/obesity	8–23% (50, 51)	
	Growth failure	8–16% (48, 50)	
	Osteoporosis	13–63% (49, 50)	Highest in FRNS with adult relapses
	Fractures	20% (51)	
	Cataracts	6-20% (49, 50)	Highest in FRNS with adult relapses
	Infertility	Up to 75–94% (49, 51)	Highest with cytotoxic therapy
	Malignancy	Unknown	
Psychosocial	Educational status and employment	<10% failure to complete high school and <45% unemployed (51)	Single-center study
	Marital status/stable relationships	<40% unmarried or not in stable relationship (51)	Single-center study

Fakhouri et al. studied 102/117 children admitted with SSNS in France using mailed questionnaires or phone calls to patients and/or their parents or attending physicians (48). More than 40% of the patients relapsed in adulthood (48). Younger age of NS onset, second-line immunosuppressant therapy, and more severe disease in childhood were associated with increased risk of relapse in adulthood. However, relapse rate in the first 6 months of disease was not predictive of adult relapses. Kabuki et al. also examined age of presentation effects on risk of relapse in 60 patients diagnosed with NS before age 10 in Japan with over 10 years follow-up (53). The majority (51/60) patients were relapse-free over 3 years. Early presentation (between age 1 and 3.9 years) was associated with more relapses and a longer interval between onset of NS and long-term remission. Conversely, older onset (after age 7 years) was associated with less active disease at 10 years follow-up.

Skrzypczyk et al. examined outcomes of 61/118 children with NS in Poland using a written questionnaire (51). Over 90% were SSNS and only 30% FRNS. However, 77% required second-line immunosuppressive therapy in addition to steroids. The patients had particularly benign courses in that all patients achieved remission and had normal renal function at the age of 18. Still 16% relapsed in adulthood, and risk of relapse as adult was associated with relapses as a child.

One of the longest follow-up studies was by Ruth et al. on 42 children with NS from Switzerland with a median follow-up of 22 years. Thirty-three percent of patients had relapses as adults. Number of relapses during childhood and adolescence and requirement for second-line therapy were risks for relapses in adulthood (54).

RENAL AND NON-RENAL COMPLICATIONS

Several of these studies examined long-term complications of immunosuppression. Ishikura et al. identified that on 10-year follow-up of exclusively FR/SDNS patients, a substantial number had short stature (13%), osteoporosis (13%), obesity (8%), cataracts (6%), and hypertension (6%) (50). Fakhouri et al. obtained information in their SSNS patients with 40% rate of relapse in adulthood (48). Of them, 7% had hypertension, and 1 out of the 102 patients had developed ESRD. The most common complications were likely long-term side effects of corticosteroids: 16% had short stature, 20% were overweight or obese, and 63% had osteoporosis.

One of the few direct assessments of long-term outcomes was performed by Kyrieleis et al. in 15 adult patients from the Netherlands with history of childhood onset FRNS who were still relapsing as adults (mean follow-up 24 years). Forty-six percent of patients had hypertension. Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry identified osteoporosis in one-third of patients. Ophthalmologic examination identified cataracts in 3/15 (20%) of the patients. Six out of eight (75%) had abnormal semen examination with oligozoospermia, reduced sperm motility, and teratozoospermia.

The study of 61 patients with childhood NS from Poland by Skrzypczyk et al. demonstrated a substantial number of immunosuppressant-related complications. Sixteen percent were hypertensive, 23% were overweight, and 4.9% obese. Almost 20% had bone fractures and 8% had short stature (height <third percentile). Childlessness was more common (94%) in those treated with cytotoxic agents versus those not treated with cytotoxic agents. No increased risk of malignancy, infection, or cardiovascular events was detected.

Skrzypczyk et al. was one of the only studies to examine longterm psychosocial impact of NS as a chronic disease (51). In their follow-up study, 60.7% patients were in a steady relationship/ married, 40.9% pursued higher education, and only 6.6% did not complete a high school (secondary) education. At the time of the study, 55.7% patients reported active employment.

Of note, none of studies that examined GFR observed a change (49, 51). The study with the longest follow-up (22 years) by Ruth et al. identified no effects on growth, obesity, or GFR, but did identify an effect on fertility (54). Only 8/42 patients had children, and cytotoxic therapy was associated with childlessness (54).

Nephrotic syndrome leads to endothelial dysfunction in children (55) and engenders a risk for artherosclerosis in adults (56, 57). In one study of 30 patients with childhood onset SSNS, dysregulation of lipids, including increased total cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, and homocysteine were persistent on follow-up at 4–15 years after completion of steroids (57).

GAPS IN OUR KNOWLEDGE OF LONG-TERM OUTCOMES OF SSNS

The majority of the above studies are retrospective chart reviews or utilized surveys, with the inherent biases of those types of study design. Virtually, all studies lack a control population, which is relevant for outcomes, such as obesity and hypertension, which may be common in the adult population. Often they represent a single-center experience and have small numbers. Even the largest studies report outcomes from countries with homogenous populations, with limitations in their generalizability to ethnically diverse populations. Finally, the average length of follow-up in most studies was approximately 10 years, well short of the 30-year follow-up required to identify effects of a solitary kidney on ESRD outcomes (46).

It seems possible that, as with other conditions previously thought to be entirely benign, SSNS may engender increased risk of hypertension, atherosclerosis, CKD, and ESRD in adulthood (Table 2). In addition, there are insufficient studies of patient-reported outcomes, including QOL assessments. There are limited data on implications of childhood NS on educational attainment, employment, and marital status. Better understanding of potential adverse consequences may allow for interventions targeting improvement of both patient-reported and psychosocial outcomes. Our lack of knowledge limits effective transition of children with NS to adult providers. Those with few or no relapses are likely not to follow-up or to follow-up rarely with a pediatric nephrologist as they approach adulthood. An adult nephrologist is unlikely to follow these patients, as the majority will not have renal impairment at entry into adulthood. So the major question becomes how and when to communicate the potential for long-term issues with adult providers. One study in Japan demonstrated that the majority of practitioners had no transition plan in place for children with SSNS (58).

TABLE 2 | Gaps in knowledge

Outcomes of Childhood Nephrotic Syndrome	
--	--

TADLE 2 Gaps in knowledge.	
Gaps in knowledge	Opportunities to address
Life-course effects of childhood NS Are there risks of SSNS after 30 years? Are patients with childhood onset NS at higher risk of hypertension, CKD, and ESRD?	Registries of childhood onset nephrotic syndrome cNEPTUNE (pediatric cohort of incident nephrotic syndrome patients)
Genetic factors and biomarkers Can permeability factors or other biomarkers enable personalized approach to treatment? Can screening for genetic mutations or APOL1 variants in childhood onset NS stratify those children at highest risk for hypertension and renal disease in adulthood?	Multicenter collaborative cohorts of pediatric onset NS
Psychosocial impact and patient-reported outcomes Quality of life is significantly affected in childhood onset NS, particularly with severe disease. What is the effect on patient-reported outcomes? What is the long-term effect on educational status, employment and marital/stable relationships and are there interventions to improve outcomes?	Multicenter collaborative cohorts of pediatric onset NS
 Transition into adulthood (1) When should children with NS receive counseling about potential risks in adulthood? (2) How will adult providers be made aware of potential for complications in adults with a history of childhood NS? (3) Are screenings for artherosclerosis, osteoporosis, cataracts, infertility, and/or malignancy indicated? (4) What is the optimal transition plan for children with SSNS as they enter adulthood? 	Registries and multicenter collaborative cohorts of pediatric onset NS

Patient registries and follow-up of pediatric cohorts, such as cNEPTUNE (incident children with NS), may help provide answers to these questions.

CONCLUSION

Underlying renal pathology, genetic factors, and ethnicity likely modulate response to treatment and progression of ESKD. Wellcharacterized and prospectively followed cohorts provide an exciting opportunity to improve our understanding of the ability of biomarkers and genetics to predict outcomes. Many of the long-term complications of childhood SSNS can be attributed to immunosuppressant therapy. Long-term effects on endothelium

REFERENCES

- Nephrotic syndrome in children: prediction of histopathology from clinical and laboratory characteristics at time of diagnosis. A report of the International Study of Kidney Disease in Children. *Kidney Int* (1978) 13(2):159–65.
- The primary nephrotic syndrome in children. Identification of patients with minimal change nephrotic syndrome from initial response to prednisone. A report of the International Study of Kidney Disease in Children. J Pediatr (1981) 98(4):561–4.
- Kaku Y, Ohtsuka Y, Komatsu Y, Ohta T, Nagai T, Kaito H, et al. Clinical practice guideline for pediatric idiopathic nephrotic syndrome 2013: general therapy. *Clin Exp Nephrol* (2015) 19(1):34–53. doi:10.1007/s10157-014-1031-9
- Gipson DS, Trachtman H, Kaskel FJ, Radeva MK, Gassman J, Greene TH, et al. Clinical trials treating focal segmental glomerulosclerosis should measure patient quality of life. *Kidney Int* (2011) 79(6):678–85. doi:10.1038/ki.2010.485
- Cattran DC, Rao P. Long-term outcome in children and adults with classic focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Am J Kidney Dis* (1998) 32(1):72–9. doi:10.1053/ajkd.1998.v32.pm9669427
- Paik KH, Lee BH, Cho HY, Kang HG, Ha IS, Cheong HI, et al. Primary focal segmental glomerular sclerosis in children: clinical course and prognosis. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2007) 22(3):389–95. doi:10.1007/s00467-006-0301-5
- Mekahli D, Liutkus A, Ranchin B, Yu A, Bessenay L, Girardin E, et al. Long-term outcome of idiopathic steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome: a multicenter study. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2009) 24(8):1525–32. doi:10.1007/s00467-009-1138-5
- 8. Zagury A, Oliveira AL, Montalvao JA, Novaes RH, Sa VM, Moraes CA, et al. Steroid-resistant idiopathic nephrotic syndrome in children: long-term

and renal function are likely understudied. Long-term studies of childhood onset SSNS patients, perhaps by patient registries, are needed to understand the true risk of the disease to adult health.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

RH is supported by NIH NIDDK T32 DK007110. KR received support from NIH NIDDK K08 DK091507 and R03 DK105242.

follow-up and risk factors for end-stage renal disease. J Bras Nefrol (2013) **35**(3):191–9. doi:10.5935/0101-2800.20130031

- Hodson EM, Willis NS, Craig JC. Interventions for idiopathic steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome in children. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2010) (11):CD003594. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD003594.pub4
- Andreoli SP. Racial and ethnic differences in the incidence and progression of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis in children. *Adv Ren Replace Ther* (2004) 11(1):105–9. doi:10.1053/j.arrt.2003.10.015
- Ingulli E, Tejani A. Racial differences in the incidence and renal outcome of idiopathic focal segmental glomerulosclerosis in children. *Pediatr Nephrol* (1991) 5(4):393–7. doi:10.1007/BF01453661
- Sorof JM, Hawkins EP, Brewer ED, Boydstun II, Kale AS, Powell DR. Age and ethnicity affect the risk and outcome of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Pediatr Nephrol* (1998) 12(9):764–8. doi:10.1007/s004670050542
- Abeyagunawardena AS, Sebire NJ, Risdon RA, Dillon MJ, Rees L, Van't Hoff W, et al. Predictors of long-term outcome of children with idiopathic focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2007) 22(2):215–21. doi:10.1007/ s00467-006-0264-6
- Straatmann C, Ayoob R, Gbadegesin R, Gibson K, Rheault MN, Srivastava T, et al. Treatment outcome of late steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome: a study by the Midwest Pediatric Nephrology Consortium. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2013) 28(8):1235–41. doi:10.1007/s00467-013-2483-y
- Savin VJ, Sharma R, Sharma M, McCarthy ET, Swan SK, Ellis E, et al. Circulating factor associated with increased glomerular permeability to albumin in recurrent focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *N Engl J Med* (1996) 334(14):878–83. doi:10.1056/nejm199604043341402

- Dall'Amico R, Ghiggeri G, Carraro M, Artero M, Ghio L, Zamorani E, et al. Prediction and treatment of recurrent focal segmental glomerulosclerosis after renal transplantation in children. *Am J Kidney Dis* (1999) 34(6):1048–55. doi:10.1016/s0272-6386(99)70010-7
- Mahesh S, Del Rio M, Feuerstein D, Greenstein S, Schechner R, Tellis V, et al. Demographics and response to therapeutic plasma exchange in pediatric renal transplantation for focal glomerulosclerosis: a single center experience. *Pediatr Transplant* (2008) 12(6):682–8. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3046.2007.00880.x
- Wei C, Trachtman H, Li J, Dong C, Friedman AL, Gassman JJ, et al. Circulating suPAR in two cohorts of primary FSGS. J Am Soc Nephrol (2012) 23(12):2051– 9. doi:10.1681/asn.2012030302
- Peng Z, Mao J, Chen X, Cai F, Gu W, Fu H, et al. Serum suPAR levels help differentiate steroid resistance from steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome in children. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2015) **30**(2):301–7. doi:10.1007/s00467-014-2892-6
- Bock ME, Price HE, Gallon L, Langman CB. Serum soluble urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor levels and idiopathic FSGS in children: a single-center report. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2013) 8(8):1304–11. doi:10.2215/ cjn.07680712
- Meijers B, Maas RJ, Sprangers B, Claes K, Poesen R, Bammens B, et al. The soluble urokinase receptor is not a clinical marker for focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Kidney Int* (2014) 85(3):636–40. doi:10.1038/ki.2013.505
- Sinha A, Bajpai J, Saini S, Bhatia D, Gupta A, Puraswani M, et al. Serumsoluble urokinase receptor levels do not distinguish focal segmental glomerulosclerosis from other causes of nephrotic syndrome in children. *Kidney Int* (2014) 85(3):649–58. doi:10.1038/ki.2013.546
- Jolanta S, Jacek Z, Anna B, Maria LS, Michal N, Danuta ON. Circulating suPAR as a biomarker of disease severity in children with proteinuric glomerulonephritis. *Minerva Pediatr* (2016).
- Prasad N, Jaiswal AK, Agarwal V, Yadav B, Sharma RK, Rai M, et al. Differential alteration in peripheral T-regulatory and T-effector cells with change in P-glycoprotein expression in Childhood Nephrotic Syndrome: a longitudinal study. *Cytokine* (2015) **72**(2):190–6. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2014. 12.028
- Zahran AM, Aly SS, Elsayh KI, Badawy A, Gamal Y. Glucocorticoid receptors expression and histopathological types in children with nephrotic syndrome. *Ren Fail* (2014) 36(7):1067–72. doi:10.3109/0886022x.2014.917936
- Garin EH, Diaz LN, Mu W, Wasserfall C, Araya C, Segal M, et al. Urinary CD80 excretion increases in idiopathic minimal-change disease. J Am Soc Nephrol (2009) 20(2):260–6. doi:10.1681/asn.2007080836
- Ishimoto T, Cara-Fuentes G, Wang H, Shimada M, Wasserfall CH, Winter WE, et al. Serum from minimal change patients in relapse increases CD80 expression in cultured podocytes. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2013) 28(9):1803–12. doi:10.1007/s00467-013-2498-4
- Wickman L, Afshinnia F, Wang SQ, Yang Y, Wang F, Chowdhury M, et al. Urine podocyte mRNAs, proteinuria, and progression in human glomerular diseases. J Am Soc Nephrol (2013) 24(12):2081–95. doi:10.1681/asn.2013020173
- Erkan E, Zhao X, Setchell K, Devarajan P. Distinct urinary lipid profile in children with focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2016) 31(4):581–8. doi:10.1007/s00467-015-3239-7
- Suresh CP, Saha A, Kaur M, Kumar R, Dubey NK, Basak T, et al. Differentially expressed urinary biomarkers in children with idiopathic nephrotic syndrome. *Clin Exp Nephrol* (2016) 20(2):273–83. doi:10.1007/s10157-015-1162-7
- Kanai T, Yamagata T, Ito T, Odaka J, Saito T, Aoyagi J, et al. Apolipoprotein AII levels are associated with the UP/UCr levels in idiopathic steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome. *Clin Exp Nephrol* (2015) **19**(1):107–13. doi:10.1007/ s10157-014-0957-2
- Spinale JM, Mariani LH, Kapoor S, Zhang J, Weyant R, Song PX, et al. A reassessment of soluble urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor in glomerular disease. *Kidney Int* (2015) 87(3):564–74. doi:10.1038/ki. 2014.346
- Novelli R, Gagliardini E, Ruggiero B, Benigni A, Remuzzi G. Any value of podocyte B7-1 as a biomarker in human MCD and FSGS? *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2016) 310(5):F335–41. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00510.2015
- Trautmann A, Bodria M, Ozaltin F, Gheisari A, Melk A, Azocar M, et al. Spectrum of steroid-resistant and congenital nephrotic syndrome in children:

the PodoNet registry cohort. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol (2015) **10**(4):592–600. doi:10.2215/cjn.06260614

- 35. Gadegbeku CA, Gipson DS, Holzman LB, Ojo AO, Song PX, Barisoni L, et al. Design of the Nephrotic Syndrome Study Network (NEPTUNE) to evaluate primary glomerular nephropathy by a multidisciplinary approach. *Kidney Int* (2013) 83(4):749–56. doi:10.1038/ki.2012.428
- Hinkes BG, Mucha B, Vlangos CN, Gbadegesin R, Liu J, Hasselbacher K, et al. Nephrotic syndrome in the first year of life: two thirds of cases are caused by mutations in 4 genes (NPHS1, NPHS2, WT1, and LAMB2). *Pediatrics* (2007) 119(4):e907–19. doi:10.1542/peds.2006-2164
- Akchurin O, Reidy KJ. Genetic causes of proteinuria and nephrotic syndrome: impact on podocyte pathobiology. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2015) 30(2):221–33. doi:10.1007/s00467-014-2753-3
- Sadowski CE, Lovric S, Ashraf S, Pabst WL, Gee HY, Kohl S, et al. A single-gene cause in 29.5% of cases of steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2015) 26(6):1279–89. doi:10.1681/asn.2014050489
- Buscher AK, Kranz B, Buscher R, Hildebrandt F, Dworniczak B, Pennekamp P, et al. Immunosuppression and renal outcome in congenital and pediatric steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2010) 5(11):2075–84. doi:10.2215/cjn.01190210
- Genovese G, Friedman DJ, Pollak MR. APOL1 variants and kidney disease in people of recent African ancestry. Nat Rev Nephrol (2013) 9(4):240-4. doi:10.1038/nrneph.2013.34
- Gipson DS, Trachtman H, Kaskel FJ, Greene TH, Radeva MK, Gassman JJ, et al. Clinical trial of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis in children and young adults. *Kidney Int* (2011) 80(8):868–78. doi:10.1038/ki.2011.195
- Kopp JB, Winkler CA, Zhao X, Radeva MK, Gassman JJ, D'Agati VD, et al. Clinical features and histology of apolipoprotein L1-associated nephropathy in the FSGS clinical trial. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2015) 26(6):1443–8. doi:10.1681/ asn.2013111242
- Sampson MG, Robertson CC, Martini S, Mariani LH, Lemley KV, Gillies CE, et al. Integrative genomics identifies novel associations with APOL1 risk genotypes in Black NEPTUNE subjects. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2016) 27(3):814–23. doi:10.1681/asn.2014111131
- Gee HY, Ashraf S, Wan X, Vega-Warner V, Esteve-Rudd J, Lovric S, et al. Mutations in EMP2 cause childhood-onset nephrotic syndrome. *Am J Hum Genet* (2014) 94(6):884–90. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2014.04.010
- Brophy PD, Shoham DA, Charlton JR, Carmody J, Reidy KJ, Harshman L, et al. Early-life course socioeconomic factors and chronic kidney disease. *Adv Chronic Kidney Dis* (2015) 22(1):16–23. doi:10.1053/j.ackd.2014.06.006
- Sanna-Cherchi S, Ravani P, Corbani V, Parodi S, Haupt R, Piaggio G, et al. Renal outcome in patients with congenital anomalies of the kidney and urinary tract. *Kidney Int* (2009) 76(5):528–33. doi:10.1038/ki.2009.220
- Trompeter RS, Lloyd BW, Hicks J, White RH, Cameron JS. Long-term outcome for children with minimal-change nephrotic syndrome. *Lancet* (1985) 1(8425):368–70. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(85)91387-X
- Fakhouri F, Bocquet N, Taupin P, Presne C, Gagnadoux MF, Landais P, et al. Steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome: from childhood to adulthood. *Am J Kidney Dis* (2003) 41(3):550–7. doi:10.1053/ajkd.2003.50116
- Kyrieleis HA, Lowik MM, Pronk I, Cruysberg HR, Kremer JA, Oyen WJ, et al. Long-term outcome of biopsy-proven, frequently relapsing minimal-change nephrotic syndrome in children. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2009) 4(10):1593–600. doi:10.2215/cjn.05691108
- Ishikura K, Yoshikawa N, Nakazato H, Sasaki S, Nakanishi K, Matsuyama T, et al. Morbidity in children with frequently relapsing nephrosis: 10-year follow-up of a randomized controlled trial. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2015) 30(3):459–68. doi:10.1007/s00467-014-2955-8
- Skrzypczyk P, Panczyk-Tomaszewska M, Roszkowska-Blaim M, Wawer Z, Bienias B, Zajgzkowska M, et al. Long-term outcomes in idiopathic nephrotic syndrome: from childhood to adulthood. *Clin Nephrol* (2014) 81(3):166–73. doi:10.5414/cn108044
- Esfahani ST, Madani A, Asgharian F, Ataei N, Roohi A, Moghtaderi M, et al. Clinical course and outcome of children with steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2011) 26(7):1089–93. doi:10.1007/s00467-011-1837-6
- 53. Kabuki N, Okugawa T, Hayakawa H, Tomizawa S, Kasahara T, Uchiyama M. Influence of age at onset on the outcome of steroid-sensitive

nephrotic syndrome. Pediatr Nephrol (1998) **12**(6):467-70. doi:10.1007/ s004670050489

- Ruth EM, Kemper MJ, Leumann EP, Laube GF, Neuhaus TJ. Children with steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome come of age: long-term outcome. *J Pediatr* (2005) 147(2):202–7. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2005.03.050
- 55. Rahul I, Krishnamurthy S, Satheesh S, Biswal N, Bobby Z, Lakshminarayanan S. Brachial artery flow-mediated dilatation and carotid intima medial thickness in pediatric nephrotic syndrome: a cross-sectional case-control study. *Clin Exp Nephrol* (2015) **19**(1):125–32. doi:10.1007/s10157-014-0958-1
- Ordonez JD, Hiatt RA, Killebrew EJ, Fireman BH. The increased risk of coronary heart disease associated with nephrotic syndrome. *Kidney Int* (1993) 44(3):638–42. doi:10.1038/ki.1993.292
- Kniazewska MH, Obuchowicz AK, Wielkoszynski T, Zmudzinska-Kitczak J, Urban K, Marek M, et al. Atherosclerosis risk factors in young patients formerly treated for idiopathic nephrotic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2009) 24(3):549–54. doi:10.1007/s00467-008-1029-1
- 58. Honda M, Iijima K, Ishikura K, Kaneko K. The problem of transition from pediatric to adult healthcare in patients with steroid-sensitive nephrotic

syndrome (SSNS): a survey of the experts. *Clin Exp Nephrol* (2014) **18**(6):939–43. doi:10.1007/s10157-014-0941-x

Conflict of Interest Statement: KR is site-PI of a Questcor supported research study of patients with nephrotic syndrome. She receives no direct reimbursement from Questcor.

The remaining coauthors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Hjorten, Anwar and Reidy. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Changing the Paradigm for the Treatment and Development of New Therapies for FSGS

Cathie Spino^{1,2*}, Jordan S. Jahnke³, David T. Selewski^{2,4}, Susan Massengill^{2,5}, Jonathan Troost^{2,4} and Debbie S. Gipson^{2,4}

¹ Department of Biostatistics, School of Public Health, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA, ² NephCure Accelerating Cures Institute, King of Prussia, PA, USA, ³ Department of General Internal Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA, ⁴ Department of Pediatrics, School of Medicine, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA, ⁵ Department of Pediatrics, Division of Nephrology, Carolinas Medical Center, Charlotte, NC, USA

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Agnieszka Swiatecka-Urban, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, USA

Reviewed by:

Rachel Lennon, University of Manchester, UK Dagmara Borzych-Duzalka, Medical University of Gdansk, Poland Abubakr A. Imam, Hamad Medical Corporation, Qatar

> *Correspondence: Cathie Spino spino@med.umich.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

> Received: 21 December 2015 Accepted: 08 March 2016 Published: 23 March 2016

Citation:

Spino C, Jahnke JS, Selewski DT, Massengill S, Troost J and Gipson DS (2016) Changing the Paradigm for the Treatment and Development of New Therapies for FSGS. Front. Pediatr. 4:25. doi: 10.3389/fped.2016.00025 Focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS) is a renal pathology finding that represents a constellation of rare kidney diseases, which manifest as proteinuria, edema nephrotic syndrome, hypertension, and increased risk for kidney failure. Therapeutic options for FSGS are reviewed displaying the expected efficacy from 25 to 69% depending on specific therapy, patient characteristics, cost, and common side effects. This variability in treatment response is likely caused, in part, by the heterogeneity in the etiology and active molecular mechanisms of FSGS. Clinical trials in FSGS have been scant in number and slow to recruit, which may stem, in part, from reliance on classic clinical trial design paradigms. Traditional clinical trial designs based on the "learn and confirm" paradigm may not be appropriate for rare diseases, such as FSGS. Future drug development and testing will require novel approaches to trial designs that have the capacity to enrich study populations and adapt the trial in a planned way to gain efficiencies in trial completion timelines. A clinical trial simulation is provided that compares a classical and more modern design to determine the maximum tolerated dose in FSGS.

Keywords: FSGS, nephrotic syndrome, therapy, adverse effects, clinical trials

INTRODUCTION

Focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS) manifests with proteinuria, hypertension, and in the worse cases progresses to kidney failure. FSGS is a renal pathology finding that represents a constellation of rare kidney diseases and results in a significant public health burden accounting for 5% of adults and 12% of children with incident end stage kidney disease (ESKD) in the US annually (1). Broadly, FSGS describes a kidney scarring pattern that occurs in a focal and segmental pattern, but does not describe the underlying pathophysiology. FSGS is often classified as primary or secondary (e.g., following systemic illnesses IgA nephropathy, post-infectious glomerulonephritis). Genetic causes of FSGS may represent a distinct type that does not fit well into this classification. In general, the distinction between primary, secondary, and genetic causes of FSGS have classically driven therapeutic decision-making and clinical trial design. However, emerging precise molecular mechanisms may represent distinct endophenotypes of FSGS, which may also vary temporally by disease initiation, maintenance, or progression.

Despite the significant patient and health burden, there is a paucity of therapeutic options for those with FSGS. Therapies available include immunosuppression, renin–angiotensin– aldosterone blockade, lipid lowering agents, and other blood pressure lowering agents as necessary. Unfortunately, the available immunosuppression therapies have a significant toxicity profile that may be dose limiting. Side effects, such as those altering physical appearance (e.g., alopecia, hirsutism, and weight gain) or physical function (e.g., weakness, tremor, and infertility), may contribute to poor adherence. These decisions are further complicated by those with monogenetic forms of FSGS, who may respond to immunosuppression therapy, but at very low rates (2).

A number of underlying biological mechanisms, multiple causes of FSGS, and side effect profiles contribute to the present day challenge of identifying effective and acceptable treatments. Globally, research teams are seeking a better understanding of the underlying biological mechanisms of subgroups of patients with FSGS that may provide targets for future therapy (3). This paper will provide a summary of commonly used therapies for FSGS and present strategies for successful clinical trial design to support the testing of novel agents.

CURRENT THERAPIES FOR FSGS

A majority of therapies for FSGS (**Table 1**) have been either tested in phase 2 trials, but not used for registration (product labeling) or utilized without significant evidence as a treatment of last resort (3–7). The published estimates of efficacy vary widely from 25 to 69% across agents. Recent evidence supports that certain patient populations have a lower likelihood of responding to therapy. For instance, individuals with high risk APOL1 genotypes, found in individuals of African ancestry, have a higher likelihood of unfavorable outcomes (continued proteinuria, ESKD) (8–11). Furthermore, efficacy may also be predicted by response to prior therapy, such as glucocorticoids. Differences in such patient characteristics have important implications in study interpretation and trial design.

TABLE 1 | Commonly used therapies for FSGS in 2015.

	Proteinuria remission (%)	Cost (1)	Monitoring (2)
Corticosteroids	25–59	\$	+
Calcineurin inhibitors			
Cyclosporine	46-69	\$\$\$	++
Tacrolimus	а	\$\$\$	++
Mycophenolate	33	\$\$	++
Cyclophosphamide	27–55 ^b	\$	+++
ACTH	29 ^a	\$\$\$\$\$	+
Rituximab	38 ^b	\$\$\$\$	+

(1) Cost comparison of these agents is based on a course of therapy, with monthly costs ranging from the approximately \$30 (\$) to \$46,000 (\$\$\$\$).

(2) Monitoring frequency is labeled for frequency to screen for side effects, drug level, and therapeutic effects. Increasing number of + are used to show increasing frequency of standard lab monitoring.

^aThe expected response to calcineurin inhibitors is approximately the same. Publications that have compared the two show similar efficacy but a worse adverse event profile with cyclosporine.

^bResults are reported from steroid resistant and steroid sensitive patients.

The initial selection of an appropriate therapeutic regimen by the treating physician is related to the anticipated likelihood of disease control (proteinuria resolution, preservation of kidney function) and the safety profile of the therapeutic agent. In the absence of more precise biomarkers, the subsequent tailoring of therapeutic regimens for patients are driven by disease characteristics (treatment response), side effect profile, or cost/convenience factors. **Table 2** summarizes the common side effects that may influence differential treatment selection.

CURRENT CLINICAL TRIAL DESIGNS AND STATISTICAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR RARE DISEASES

Since the Orphan Drug Act was passed in 1983, an increased number of drugs and biologics have been approved for rare diseases in the US (12). An orphan drug is defined as one targeted toward rare diseases (prevalence <200,000 persons) or disease with greater prevalence but for which the cost of drug development is expected to not be recoverable from US sales (13). In Europe, rare diseases are defined as life-threatening or chronically debilitating conditions that affect ≤ 5 in 10,000 people in the EU (Official Journal of the European Union 2009/C 151/02).

Although there is an ethical imperative to hold clinical trials in rare diseases to rigorous ethical and scientific standards, analyses of rare vs. non-rare clinical trials indicate that there are differences in design characteristics. Trials in orphan drugs are more likely to be smaller, non-randomized, lack blinding, and use disease response instead of progression or survival endpoints (14–16).

CHANGING THE PARADIGM

The utilization of traditional clinical trial designs may not be appropriate for rare diseases. Fortunately, a myriad of design and analysis options (see **Table 3**) exist in the clinical trials and statistical literature that allow for the study of drugs in rare diseases, such as FSGS, that meet stringent effectiveness and safety standards. A clinical trial development program of studies in FSGS should result in evidence that provides confidence for

Medication	Common side effects
Corticosteroids	Weight gain, hyperglycemia, hypertension, osteopenia, mood changes, weakness
Calcineurin inhibitors ^a	
Cyclosporine	Hypertension, gingival hyperplasia, hypertrichosis, infection
Tacrolimus	Hypertension, infection, tremor
Mycophenolate	Nausea/diarrhea, leukopenia, teratogenic, infection
Cyclophosphamide	Nausea, leukopenia, infection, alopecia, teratogenic
ACTH	Weight gain, hypertension, rash, acne, hypertrichosis, mood changes, weakness
Rituximab	Infusion reaction, infection, leucopenia

^aCalcineurin inhibitors have an uncommon side effect of nephrotoxicity, which may influence clinicians and patients about initial use or duration of therapy.

TABLE 3 | Brief glossary of clinical trials terms.

Term	Brief description	
3 + 3 trial design	A conventional and popular phase 1 dose escalation design that estimates the MTD ^a by sequentially studying cohorts of size 3	
Adaptive design	A clinical study design that uses accumulating data to decide how to modify aspects of the study as it continues, without undermining the validity and integrity of the trial (17)	
Bayesian methods	Bayesian methods use prior information on the differences between treatments before the trial is completed, and update this information based on data obtained from the trial. The difference between treatments is not a single fixed parameter in the Bayesian approach; rather, a distribution of potential values characterizes treatment differences	
Continual reassessment method (CRM)	CRM is an adaptive dose-finding study design that uses Bayesian methods to estimate the MTD. It frequently results in fewer adverse events and more accurately estimates the MTD	
Crossover design	A clinical trial design in which participants receive a sequence of different treatments, resulting in within-subject comparisons that generally reduced the required sample size. This design is in contrast to the parallel-group design where participants receive only one protocol-specified treatment	
Dose limiting toxicity (DLT)	Severe but (ideally) reversible adverse events that occur within a generally short protocol-defined period	
Frequentist methods	A framework of statistical inference that is generally taught in most introductory statistical courses, that treats the difference betwee treatments as an unknown and fixed parameter. Clinical trial results are considered from the perspective of multiple independent repetitions of the experiment which sometimes cause difficulties in the interpretation of results	
"Learn and confirm" clinical trial paradigm	An alternative to the traditional "phased" approach to drug development (i.e., phase 1, 2, and 3). The goal of the learning phase is to assess the relationship between the dose and administration of a new drug and its expected efficacy and safety. The goal of the confirming phase is to capitalize on the more complete information obtained in the learning phase to efficiently study the risk-benefit of the new agent	
Maximum tolerated dose (MTD)	The highest dose of a drug or treatment that does not cause unacceptable side effects (18)	
N-of-1 design	Single-subject clinical trial that has the goal of determining the best intervention for an individual patient based on objective criteria	
Seamless trial designs	Clinical trial designs that address, within a single trial, objectives that are normally achieved through separate trials	

MTD, maximum tolerated dose.

patients, regulators, investigators, and clinicians, given the current therapeutic options and knowledge base.

Classical drug development employs a "learn and confirm" paradigm over a series of steps. The drug development pipeline begins with discovery with preclinical *in vitro* and *in vivo* animal experiments and toxicology studies. Phase 1, phase 2, and proof-of-concept studies in human participants follow in the exploratory phase, with (generally) two adequate and well-controlled phase 3 studies conducted in the full development confirmatory phase. After approval, post-marketing phase 4 studies are often conducted to provide additional characterization of the efficacy and safety in a broader patient population. Generally, each step involves a separate study during the human studies stage.

This classical drug development process is often not feasible in rare diseases. In this setting multistage designs, particularly adaptive designs, and seamless phase 1/2 or phase 2/3 trials may be used to maximize information while minimizing the strain on the available patient population [based on Orloff et al. (61)] (Figure 1). Adaptive designs refer to studies that include "a prospectively planned opportunity to modify one or more specified aspects of the study design and hypotheses based on analysis of study data (usually interim data)" (19). Adaptive trials have been a recent topic in the clinical trials literature, with seminal papers in 2006 (17, 20-22); however, the concept has been around since the 1970s in medical trials with adaptive randomization and sequential designs (23). In addition, Bayesian methods offer an alternative statistical approach to inference (relative to the frequentist or classical approach) that treats probability as a measure of the degree of personal belief instead of the frequency achieved

in long-run repetitions of an experiment. Bayesian methods have gained acceptance since the early 2000s, with use of the phase 1 continual reassessment method (CRM; Bayesian in everything but name) (24), and Bayesian stopping rules in phase 2 trials (25). The literature on trial design in rare diseases or small sample size situations is redolent with suggestions for use of Bayesian methods (26–29).

These novel designs have been successfully used in a variety of therapeutic areas, including rare and common diseases. A modification of the time-to-event CRM approach (TITE-CRM) was used in a phase 1 study of continuous MKC-1 in patients with advanced or metastatic solid malignancies (30). The study identified a maximum tolerated dose by studying 24 patients, and concluded that the adaptive Bayesian design allowed for a more efficient dose escalation and also allowed for late toxicities. Kaufmann et al. (31) designed a multicenter adaptive two-stage phase 2 trial of CoQ10 in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) to identify an appropriate dose in stage 1 and then compare the selected dose against placebo for futility in stage 2. They concluded their adaptive design avoided the need for a much larger conventional phase 3 trial. Finally, an adaptive seamless phase 2/3 randomized trial of dulaglutide combined with metformin in type 2 diabetes patients efficiently (32) explored a large number of doses and selected two doses for head-to-head comparison with sitagliptin; both dulaglutide doses demonstrated superior glycemic control (33).

Study Population

A common approach to the testing of novel agents for FSGS or other conditions will select a patient sample that has demonstrated


resistance to standard therapies, positioning the novel agent as a salvage therapy. Depending on the investigational drug target, this approach may doom the agent to failure as the patients on study may have already entered a late or irreversible phase of the disease. FSGS targeted therapies may be best suited to patients in early or mid-disease where the potential for the drug to demonstrate activity against a molecular target can be shown. Enrichment designs represent a unique opportunity in FSGS by selecting patients who are more likely to respond to therapy, based on specific biomarkers. Such designs reduce sample size by reducing patient heterogeneity, improving the chance of successful enrollment. The development of biomarkers and targeted agents targeted agents in earlier phases of drug development in FSGS should help in assessing whether this strategy would be advantageous in later confirmatory stages (34).

Finally, FSGS affects patients of all ages. As the implications of uncontrolled FSGS resulting in kidney failure are similar across the lifespan, drug development strategies should include children in every setting where drug safety has not shown specific additional risk in immature preclinical testing.

Endpoints

The goal of FSGS therapies is the normalization of urinary protein excretion [measured urine protein/creatinine ratio (UP/C)], preservation of kidney function (3), restoration of the patient health, and avoidance of adverse events (3). Efficacy endpoints currently being used in many FSGS trials include the proportion of participants who achieve complete remission (UP/C <0.3 g/g and preserved kidney function) and partial remission (50% UP/C reduction and <3 g/g and preserved kidney function). These endpoints have been justified based on two retrospective observational

studies demonstrating the relationship between remission status and long-term renal survival (35, 36). The timing for achieving remission is generally assessed at 3–6 months after initiation of study medication. Characterizing response as a binary outcome generally leads to larger sample sizes (37). Smaller clinical trials may be achievable in the confirmatory stages of development in FSGS, for similar Type I and Type II error rates, if UP/C is analyzed as a continuous outcome. For example, multiple measures of UP/C can be collected with analyses based on longitudinal methods [see, for example, the approach of Greene et al. (38) for eGFR endpoints]. Research is needed to better understand the differences in UP/C that are clinically meaningful and would result in changes in clinical practice.

Learning and Confirmatory Phase Goals and General Considerations

During the learning phase of drug development in FSGS, we investigate the correct dose range by investigating preliminary efficacy and ensuring that the drug meets minimal requirements for dose-limiting toxicity and tolerance. In the confirmatory phase, the goal is to obtain sufficient efficacy and safety information in well-controlled trials to support its acceptance. The control group may be placebo (superiority trials) or an active control (superiority, non-inferiority, or equivalence trials). The highest levels of medical evidence are achieved through the use of randomization, blinding, and concurrent controls, and there should be strong rationale for *not* using these features in FSGS trials.

Crossover designs and N-of-1 trials have been suggested for rare diseases (27) because they reduce sample size by allowing for within-subject treatment comparisons. In FSGS confirmatory trials, where the endpoints may be measured at 6 months or later, there are design implications of period effects where the disease is not stable over the time course of the two treatment periods.

The impact of design and analysis decisions should be fully evaluated. Frequentists calculate sample size based on the hypothesis testing framework that specifies the type I error, power, and expected treatment difference. The Bayesian approach does not employ a strict need to calculate sample size because the goal is to update prior beliefs about the null hypothesis with the data. In past FSGS trials, the traditional, equal-allocation, fixed samplesize design was most commonly used. Clinical trials simulations can be used for future trials to assess the tradeoffs between frequentist and Bayesian options, assessing characteristics of the design for specific agents and phases, such as probability of stopping for futility incorrectly and sample size options to achieve a certain decision criterion.

Adaptive Designs

An adaptive design is defined as "a clinical study design that uses accumulating data to decide how to modify aspects of the study as it continues, without undermining the validity and integrity of the trial" (17). An adaptive design requires access to accumulating data at multiple stages of the trial (20). Adaptation rules applied at each interim analysis may affect: how a subject will be allocated to the available arms of the trial, how many subjects will be sampled at the next stage, when to stop the trial for efficacy, harm or futility, and other decision features of the trial (20). An important prerequisite for an adaptive trial is that the accumulating information on the end point can be assessed quickly enough to trigger the adaptive decisions relative to the enrollment rate. FSGS trials typically meet this criterion because the prevalence of the disease results in slow enrollment and normalization of urine protein excretion can be observed as early as 2-3 months depending on the agent under investigation.

In early phases of FSGS development, the following adaptive approaches may be most useful:

- *Adaptive dose finding* is used in early phase clinical development to identify the minimum effective dose and/or the maximum tolerable dose, which is used to determine the dose level for the next phase clinical trials. In particular, the continual re-assessment method allows assessment of dose-limiting toxicity in small cohorts at a given dose (one to four patients commonly), updating the dose-toxicity curve, and treating additional cohorts until a pre-specified level of certainty is achieved (39).
- *Drop-the-loser or play-the-winner design* allows for dropping an inferior treatment group or maintaining a superior treatment group. A drop-the-losers design also allows adding additional arms. These designs would be useful in FSGS when there are uncertainties regarding the dose levels for a new agent. These two approaches can be considered types of adaptive randomization methods, where the probability of being assigned to a dropped arm is 0 (see below).
- *Adaptive seamless 1/2 trial designs* address within a single trial objectives that are normally achieved through separate trials in phase 1 and phase 2 of clinical development.

Adaptive designs that may be more useful during later stage drug development in FSGS include

- Sequential designs allow for prematurely stopping a trial due to safety, futility, or efficacy (benefit) with options of additional adaptations based on results of interim analysis. Types of sequential designs include group sequential designs that employ repeated significance testing at pre-specified interim analysis times and boundaries approach where the amount of information and treatment effect size are assessed multiple times during the study (40–42). With these designs, the final sample size is unknown at the trial initiation, but sample sizes are generally smaller than a classical fixed sample size approach (40).
- *Sample size re-estimation design* allows for sample size adjustment based on interim analyses. When limited information is available *a priori* on the variance of the outcome (e.g., variance of change from baseline to month 3 in UP/C) or the estimated treatment effect (e.g., proportion of participants who achieve complete remission), sample size re-estimation is attractive. A common method is to calculate the conditional power that a treatment difference will be observed at the end of the trial, given the current information. Hybrid methods are often used where the trial may continue with the original sample size if the conditional power if sufficient, may be stopped for futility if the increase is sample size is too great, or may be enlarged if neither of the other conditions is met (43).
- *Adaptive randomization design* allows modification of randomization schedules based on varied or unequal probabilities of treatment. It is a type of allocation rule that determines how new patients are assigned to treatments dynamically (20). One such type of adaptive randomization is response-adaptive randomization where the allocation probabilities are unbalanced to provide a greater likelihood that treatments having more favorable outcomes are assigned.
- *Adaptive seamless 2/3 trial design* addresses within single trial objectives that are normally achieved through separate trials in phase 2b and phase 3 of clinical development.

Bayesian Methods

The difference between treatments is assumed to be an unknown and fixed parameter in the frequentist framework, whereas the treatment difference is not a single fixed parameter in the Bayesian approach. It is characterized by a distribution of potential values (26, 44). Bayesian methods use prior information on the differences between treatments before the trial is completed, and update this information based on data obtained from the trial producing a posterior distribution that can then subsequently be used as the prior for the next interim analysis or stage of a trial. This approach is attractive in the context of seamless phase 1/2 and phase 2/3 trials where smooth transitions between stages can occur as we learn more about treatment differences as the data accumulate (45, 46). However, there are many examples of adaptive designs that use both Bayesian (47) and frequentist approaches (47–49).

A key stumbling block in Bayesian methods is elicitation of the prior distribution of the treatment difference and the degree of

certainty and subjectivity (27). Information on the prior distribution for the unknown treatment effect can be determined from data from the literature (e.g., a single drug approved for another indication, characteristics for a class of similar agents) or from expert knowledge (28). The biases that may result from expert opinion have been widely discussed and heuristics have been developed to minimize these biases (50–52). Hampson et al. (28) provide an example of elicitation of priors for a clinical trial in very rare diseases. Interestingly, the eliciting of prior beliefs may provide benefits for frequentist clinical trials in considering the magnitude of effect for determining sample size and assessing the level of evidence needed to convince the clinical community to change practice (53).

Both the use of adaptive design methods and the Bayesian approach in clinical trials is consistent with the FDA's Clinical Path Initiative (54) that was originally developed to deal with the problem of increased trial spending without a resulting increase in the success rate of new drug approvals. The FDA advocated for advancing innovative trial designs, capitalizing on use of prior experience, or accumulating information in a trial. Dr. Woodcock, then Acting Deputy Commissioner for Operations at the FDA, emphasized two points: (1) there should be scientific evidence that a drug or biological works and (2) there should be a degree of certainty about the prediction that the new product works. She notes that the law does not tell us exactly what the degree of certainty should be, but a level of evidence from the current development that depends somewhat upon the prior knowledge base - whether mechanistic or more general. Thus, the extension of these ideas from common diseases to rarer diseases, such as FSGS, seems a natural step in clinical trials methodology. As with conventional clinical trials designs, the new proposed paradigms do not compromise the ethical imperative to protect human subjects according to such guidelines as the Belmont Report and the Declaration of Helsinki.

EXAMPLE

One context where using adaptive and Bayesian methods in clinical trials can benefit advances in FSGS therapies is in dose-finding trials. The methods that are used for dose-finding trials in nonrare diseases could be costly and imprecise. We can reduce the sample size needed for estimating the maximum tolerated dose while maintaining precision by using the CRM first presented by O'Quigley et al. (55). We compare the most common method for dose-finding clinical trials (the 3 + 3 design) to the CRM using simulations run under reasonable settings for FSGS.

The two main goals of dose-finding clinical trials are to put as many subjects as possible in the dose closest to the maximum tolerated dose (MTD) and to estimate the MTD as accurately as possible. The MTD is defined by the National Cancer Institute as "the highest dose of a drug or treatment that does not cause unacceptable side effects" (18). Unacceptable side effects are determined by the proportion of subjects in the population who would have a dose limiting toxicity (DLT). In our FSGS example, we consider a >30% decrease in eGFR to identify a DLT and 30% of the study population having DLTs at a dose defines the MTD. Generally, to obtain the best estimates of the dose–response relationship, we would want to allocate patients equally to all doses to gain as much information as possible. However, this is contrary to the goal of treating as many patients with the currently estimated MTD. Therefore, we compare the 3 + 3 and CRM methods on how often each selects the correct MTD dose and how many subjects are allocated to the MTD dose to evaluate the ability of these methods to meet both goals simultaneously.

Methods

As described by Storer (56), the 3 + 3 method assigns the first three subjects in the lowest dose group. If no subjects have a DLT, then the next three subjects receive the next highest dose. If one subject out of the original three has a DLT, then the next three subjects are allocated to the same dose. If two or more subjects have DLTs, then the trial is stopped and the MTD is selected to be the next lowest dose. If the first dose has more than one DLT, then it is selected as the MTD. Because many drugs assessed in FSGS trials have been developed for other indications, we limit the number of doses studied to four in this example; thus, the maximum sample size is 24 with the 3 + 3 design.

The CRM is an adaptive and Bayesian method for dose-finding trials in which we use prior information combined with collected data to help find the MTD (Bayesian) and give future subjects doses based on estimates from collected and prior information (adaptive). After each subject is enrolled and treated, the outcome information is combined with prior information and previous outcomes to update the dose–response curve from which the MTD is estimated and given to the next subject. The sample size in CRM can be fixed or variable. To provide a fairer comparison with the 3 + 3 design, we used an early stopping rule to select the estimated MTD as the dose which is assigned seven times in the trial (which limits the maximum sample size to 24). Stopping rules of this kind were first used by Korn et al. (57) and further discussed by O'Quigley (58).

For both 3 + 3 and CRM designs, we ran 10,000 trial simulations for four different true DLT probability scenarios. For each scenario, we compared the proportions of dose selected, the proportion of doses assigned, and the average and SD of sample sizes for both designs. We chose to always include the MTD of interest as one of the doses in our simulations for ease of comparison of trial types. The simulations were run using R and the package dfcrm created by Cheung (59, 60).

Results

In Scenario 1, the CRM selects the correct dose about 62% of time where the 3 + 3 design identifies the MTD just under 35% of the time (**Table 4**). The 3 + 3 design also chooses dose 1 in this scenario 50% of time, meaning that half of the time we would expect the 3 + 3 to identify the estimated MTD to be a dose where no DLTs would happen. There are two doses in Scenario 2 in which the true DLT proportion is 30%, which are identified by the CRM 72% of the time and by the 3 + 3 design <50% of the time. Scenario 3 and Scenario 4 show the CRM is doing a better job at selecting the correct dose by approximately 10% over the 3 + 3 design. In Scenario 4, the 3 + 3 design again selects a dose as the estimated MTD where no DLTs would occur nearly 40% of the time.

TABLE 4 | Percentage of time true DLT dose is selected by design in 10,000 simulated trials.

Dose scenario	Design	Dose			
		1	2	3	4
Scenario 1: (0.00, 0.30, 0.40, 0.60)	3 + 3	50.3	34.6	14.6	0.6
	CRM	10.9	62.2	24.1	2.8
Scenario 2: (0.05, 0.05, 0.30, 0.30)	3 + 3	5.0	48.6	26.5	19.9
	CRM	6.1	21.5	46.7	25.7
Scenario 3: (0.05, 0.10, 0.15, 0.30)	3 + 3	11.7	16.5	41.3	30.5
	CRM	7.1	12.9	37.6	42.4
Scenario 4: (0.00, 0.25, 0.30, 0.45)	3 + 3	39.7	30.6	25.0	4.6
	CRM	5.9	47.8	33.9	12.4

The bolded value is the true DLT dose.

TABLE 5 | Mean (SD) sample size by design in 10,000 simulated trials.

Dose scenario	Design		
	3 + 3	CRM	
Scenario 1: (0.00, 0.30, 0.40, 0.60)	10.1 (3.2)	12.0 (1.7)	
Scenario 2: (0.05, 0.05, 0.30, 0.30)	13.3 (3.5)	11.8 (2.0)	
Scenario 3: (0.05, 0.10, 0.15, 0.30)	14.4 (3.7)	11.9 (2.2)	
Scenario 4: (0.00, 0.25, 0.30, 0.45)	11.3 (3.7)	12.1 (1.7)	

The CRM tends to have about 12 subjects needed for the trial with SDs around 2 for all scenarios investigated (**Table 5**). On the other hand, the 3 + 3 design shows greater fluctuations in mean sample size (10.1–14.4) with larger SDs (approximately 3.5 for each simulation) than the CRM designs.

Our small simulation study shows the advantages of a Bayesian adaptive approach (CRM) over a more traditional clinical trial dose-finding design (3 + 3) in terms of assigning as many patients to the MTD as possible and selecting the correct MTD. In the long term, using the CRM over the 3 + 3 design could lead to enormous financial and time savings by increasing the probability that we move to further phases of clinical trials with the correct

REFERENCES

- United States Renal Data System. USRDS Annual Data Report. Epidemiology of Kidney Disease in the United States. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (2015).
- Sampson MG, Gillies CE, Robertson CC, Crawford B, Vega-Warner V, Otto EA, et al. Using population genetics to interrogate the monogenic nephrotic syndrome diagnosis in a case cohort. J Am Soc Nephrol (2015). doi:10.1681/ ASN.2015050504
- Malaga-Dieguez L, Bouhassira D, Gipson D, Trachtman H. Novel therapies for FSGS: preclinical and clinical studies. *Adv Chronic Kidney Dis* (2015) 22(2):e1–6. doi:10.1053/j.ackd.2014.10.001
- Ren H, Shen P, Li X, Pan X, Zhang W, Chen N. Tacrolimus versus cyclophosphamide in steroid-dependent or steroid-resistant focal segmental glomerulosclerosis: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Nephrol* (2013) 37(1):84–90. doi:10.1159/000346256
- Fernandez-Fresnedo G, Segarra A, Gonzalez E, Alexandru S, Delgado R, Ramos N, et al. Rituximab treatment of adult patients with steroid-resistant focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2009) 4(8):1317– 23. doi:10.2215/CJN.00570109

dose. Although there is no clear winner between the trial types for sample size under all scenarios investigated (**Table 5**), the stability of the average sample size and smaller SD when using the CRM would allow investigators to be more confident in expected sample size needed in the planning stages of the trial. Using the CRM may also decrease the concern of running a trial which uses a sample size closer to the maximum number of 24 subjects.

CONCLUSION

Focal segmental glomerulosclerosis therapies are challenging based on incomplete efficacy and safety information, leading to the inability to define the right agent for the right patient. Novel agents that are based on molecular profiling are emerging which will benefit from an enriched trial eligibility approach. While enrichment may improve signal, trials will need to be designed for feasibility in FSGS endophenotypes defined by molecular profiling and target-relevant biomarkers. Rational application of more modern clinical trials designs, that have found increasing acceptance in the pharmaceutical, regulatory, and academic environments, increases the chance of successful studies that evidence of safe and effective therapies in rare diseases, such as FSGS.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors give final approval to publish this work and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. CS, JJ, DS, SM, JT, and DG: conception and design of the work, drafting the work, and revising it critically for important intellectual content.

FUNDING

CS, JT, DS, SM, and DG are supported in part by a grant from NephCure Kidney International non-profit to the University of Michigan.

- Hogan J, Bomback AS, Mehta K, Canetta PA, Rao MK, Appel GB, et al. Treatment of idiopathic FSGS with adrenocorticotropic hormone gel. *Clin* J Am Soc Nephrol (2013) 8(12):2072–81. doi:10.2215/CJN.02840313
- KDIGO Working Group. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for glomerulonephritis. *Kidney Int Suppl* (2012) 2:139–274. doi:10.1038/kisup.2012.9
- Limou S, Nelson GW, Kopp JB, Winkler CA. APOL1 kidney risk alleles: population genetics and disease associations. *Adv Chronic Kidney Dis* (2014) 21(5):426–33. doi:10.1053/j.ackd.2014.06.005
- Genovese G, Friedman DJ, Pollak MR. APOL1 variants and kidney disease in people of recent African ancestry. Nat Rev Nephrol (2013) 9(4):240–4. doi:10.1038/nrneph.2013.34
- Kopp JB, Nelson GW, Sampath K, Johnson RC, Genovese G, An P, et al. APOL1 genetic variants in focal segmental glomerulosclerosis and HIV-associated nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol (2011) 22(11):2129–37. doi:10.1681/ ASN.2011040388
- Kopp JB, Winkler CA, Zhao X, Radeva MK, Gassman JJ, D'Agati VD, et al. Clinical features and histology of apolipoprotein L1-associated nephropathy in the FSGS clinical trial. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2015) 26(6):1443–8. doi:10.1681/ ASN.2013111242
- Haffner ME. Adopting orphan drugs two dozen years of treating rare diseases. N Engl J Med (2006) 354(5):445–7. doi:10.1056/NEJMp058317

- Griggs RC, Batshaw M, Dunkle M, Gopal-Srivastava R, Kaye E, Krischer J, et al. Clinical research for rare disease: opportunities, challenges, and solutions. *Mol Genet Metab* (2009) **96**(1):20–6. doi:10.1016/j. ymgme.2008.10.003
- Bell SA, Tudur Smith C. A comparison of interventional clinical trials in rare versus non-rare diseases: an analysis of ClinicalTrials.gov. Orphanet J Rare Dis (2014) 9:170. doi:10.1186/s13023-014-0170-0
- Kesselheim AS, Myers JA, Avorn J. Characteristics of clinical trials to support approval of orphan vs nonorphan drugs for cancer. *JAMA* (2011) 305(22):2320–6. doi:10.1001/jama.2011.769
- Mitsumoto J, Dorsey ER, Beck CA, Kieburtz K, Griggs RC. Pivotal studies of orphan drugs approved for neurological diseases. *Ann Neurol* (2009) 66(2):184–90. doi:10.1002/ana.21676
- Gallo P, Chuang-Stein C, Dragalin V, Gaydos B, Krams M, Pinheiro J, et al. Adaptive designs in clinical drug development – an executive summary of the PhRMA Working Group. *J Biopharm Stat* (2006) 16(3):275–83. doi:10.1080/10543400600614742
- 18. U.S. National Institutes of Health NCI. NCI Dictionary of Cancer Terms. "Maximum Tolerated Dose" (2015).
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services UFaDA. Adaptive Design Clinical Trials for drugs and Biologics. Guidance for Industry (2010).
- Dragalin V. Adaptive designs: terminology and classification. Drug InfJ (2006) 40(4):425–35.
- Maca J, Bhattacharya S, Dragalin V, Gallo P, Krams M. Adaptive seamless phase II/III designs-background, operational aspects, and examples. *Drug Inf J* (2006) 40(4):463.
- 22. Chow SC, Chang M. Adaptive design methods in clinical trials a review. Orphanet J Rare Dis (2008) 3:11. doi:10.1186/1750-1172-3-11
- Armitage P. Sequential Medical Trials. 2nd ed. New York: John Wiley and Sons (1975).
- Gonen M. Bayesian clinical trials: no more excuses. *Clin Trials* (2009) 6(3):203-4. doi:10.1177/1740774509105374
- Stallard N, Whitehead J, Todd S, Whitehead A. Stopping rules for phase II studies. Br J Clin Pharmacol (2001) 51(6):523–9. doi:10.1046/j.0306-5251. 2001.01381.x
- Howard G. Nonconventional clinical trial designs: approaches to provide more precise estimates of treatment effects with a smaller sample size, but at a cost. *Stroke* (2007) 38(2 Suppl):804–8. doi:10.1161/01.STR.0000252679.07927.e5
- Gupta S, Faughnan ME, Tomlinson GA, Bayoumi AM. A framework for applying unfamiliar trial designs in studies of rare diseases. *J Clin Epidemiol* (2011) 64(10):1085–94. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.12.019
- Hampson LV, Whitehead J, Eleftheriou D, Brogan P. Bayesian methods for the design and interpretation of clinical trials in very rare diseases. *Stat Med* (2014) 33(24):4186–201. doi:10.1002/sim.6225
- Bogaerts J, Sydes MR, Keat N, McConnell A, Benson A, Ho A, et al. Clinical trial designs for rare diseases: studies developed and discussed by the International Rare Cancers Initiative. *Eur J Cancer* (2015) 51(3):271–81. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2014.10.027
- Tevaarwerk A, Wilding G, Eickhoff J, Chappell R, Sidor C, Arnott J, et al. Phase I study of continuous MKC-1 in patients with advanced or metastatic solid malignancies using the modified time-to-event continual reassessment method (TITE-CRM) dose escalation design. *Invest New Drugs* (2012) 30(3):1039–45. doi:10.1007/s10637-010-9629-6
- Kaufmann P, Thompson JL, Levy G, Buchsbaum R, Shefner J, Krivickas LS, et al. Phase II trial of CoQ10 for ALS finds insufficient evidence to justify phase III. Ann Neurol (2009) 66(2):235–44. doi:10.1002/ana.21743
- Skrivanek Z, Gaydos BL, Chien JY, Geiger MJ, Heathman MA, Berry S, et al. Dose-finding results in an adaptive, seamless, randomized trial of once-weekly dulaglutide combined with metformin in type 2 diabetes patients (AWARD-5). *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2014) 16(8):748–56. doi:10.1111/dom.12305
- Nauck M, Weinstock RS, Umpierrez GE, Guerci B, Skrivanek Z, Milicevic Z. Efficacy and safety of dulaglutide versus sitagliptin after 52 weeks in type 2 diabetes in a randomized controlled trial (AWARD-5). *Diabetes Care* (2014) 37(8):2149–58. doi:10.2337/dc13-2761
- Cardon LR, Idury RM, Harris TJ, Witte JS, Elston RC. Testing drug response in the presence of genetic information: sampling issues for clinical trials. *Pharmacogenetics* (2000) **10**(6):503–10. doi:10.1097/00008571-200008000-00003

- Troyanov S, Wall CA, Miller JA, Scholey JW, Cattran DC; Toronto Glomerulonephritis Registry Group. Focal and segmental glomerulosclerosis: definition and relevance of a partial remission. J Am Soc Nephrol (2005) 16(4):1061–8. doi:10.1681/ASN.2004070593
- Gipson DS, Chin H, Presler TP, Jennette C, Ferris ME, Massengill S, et al. Differential risk of remission and ESRD in childhood FSGS. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2006) 21(3):344–9. doi:10.1007/s00467-005-2097-0
- Shurin S, Krischer J, Groft SC. Clinical trials in BMT: ensuring that rare diseases and rarer therapies are well done. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* (2012) 18(1 Suppl):S8–11. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2011.10.030
- Greene T, Teng C-C, Inker LA, Redd A, Ying J, Woodward M, et al. Utility and validity of estimated GFR-based surrogate time-to-event end points in CKD: a simulation study. *Am J Kidney Dis* (2014) 64(6):867–79. doi:10.1053/j. ajkd.2014.08.019
- Garrett-Mayer E. Understanding the Continual Reassessment Method for Dose Finding Studies: An Overview for Non-Statisticians, Johns Hopkins University. Department of Biostatistics Working Papers. Working Paper 74. Berkeley, CA: Berkeley Electronic Press [Online] (2005).
- van der Lee JH, Wesseling J, Tanck MW, Offringa M. Efficient ways exist to obtain the optimal sample size in clinical trials in rare diseases. *J Clin Epidemiol* (2008) 61(4):324–30. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2007.07.008
- Spiessens B, Lesaffre E, Verbeke G, Kim K, DeMets DL. An overview of group sequential methods in longitudinal clinical trials. *Stat Methods Med Res* (2000) 9(5):497–515. doi:10.1191/096228000701555271
- Jennison C, Turnbull B. Group Sequential Methods with Applications to Clinical Trials. Boca Raton, FL: Chapman-Hall/CRC (2000).
- 43. Chuang-Stein C, Anderson K, Gallo P, Collins S. Sample size reestimation: a review and recommendations. *Drug Inf J* (2006) **40**(4):475.
- Berry DA. A case for Bayesianism in clinical trials. *Stat Med* (1993) 12(15– 16):1377–93. doi:10.1002/sim.4780121504
- Krams M, Lees KR, Berry DA. The past is the future innovative designs in acute stroke therapy trials. *Stroke* (2005) 36(6):1341–7. doi:10.1161/01. STR.0000165931.77045.ee
- Donnan GA, Davis SM, Berry DA. Clinical trials is the Bayesian approach ready for prime time? Yes! Stroke (2005) 36(7):1621–2. doi:10.1161/01. STR.0000170637.02692.14
- Cui L, Hung HJ, Wang S-J. Modification of sample size in group sequential clinical trials. *Biometrics* (1999) 55(3):853–7.
- Proschan MA, Hunsberger SA. Designed extension of studies based on conditional power. *Biometrics* (1995) 51(4):1315–24. doi:10.2307/2533262
- Lehmacher W, Wassmer G. Adaptive sample size calculations in group sequential trials. *Biometrics* (1999) 55(4):1286–90. doi:10.1111/j.0006-341X. 1999.01286.x
- Hogarth RM. Cognitive processes and the assessment of subjective probability distributions. *J Am Stat Assoc* (1975) **70**(350):271–89. doi:10.1080/01621459 .1975.10479858
- Johnson SR, Tomlinson GA, Hawker GA, Granton JT, Feldman BM. Methods to elicit beliefs for Bayesian priors: a systematic review. *J Clin Epidemiol* (2010) 63(4):355–69. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.06.003
- Kinnersley N, Day S. Structured approach to the elicitation of expert beliefs for a Bayesian-designed clinical trial: a case study. *Pharm Stat* (2013) 12(2):104–13. doi:10.1002/pst.1552
- Chaloner K, Rhame FS. Quantifying and documenting prior beliefs in clinical trials. *Stat Med* (2001) 20(4):581–600. doi:10.1002/sim.694.abs
- Woodcock J. FDA introductory comments: clinical studies design and evaluation issues. *Clin Trials* (2005) 2(4):273–5. doi:10.1191/1740774505cn0960a
- O'Quigley J, Pepe M, Fisher L. Continual reassessment method: a practical design for phase 1 clinical trials in cancer. *Biometrics* (1990) 46(1):33–48. doi:10.2307/2531628
- Storer BE. Design and analysis of phase I clinical trials. *Biometrics* (1989) 45(3):925–37. doi:10.2307/2531693
- Korn EL, Midthune D, Chen TT, Rubinstein LV, Christian MC, Simon RM. A comparison of two phase I trial designs. *Stat Med* (1994) 13(18):1799–806. doi:10.1002/sim.4780131802
- O'Quigley J. Continual reassessment designs with early termination. Biostatistics (2002) 3(1):87–99. doi:10.1093/biostatistics/3.1.87
- Core Team R. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2012).

- Cheung K. dfcrm: Dose-Finding by the Continual Reassessment Method. R Package Version 0.2-2 ed. New York, NY: GNU General Public License, Free Software Foundation, Inc (2013). p. Computer program on disk.
- Orloff J, Douglas F, Pinheiro J, Levinson S, Branson M, Chaturvedi P, et al. The future of drug development: advancing clinical trial design. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2009) 8(12):949–57. doi:10.1038/nrd3025

Conflict of Interest Statement: DG serves as a consultant under contract between University of Michigan and the following companies: GlaxoSmithKline, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Janssen, and Retrophin. The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Spino, Jahnke, Selewski, Massengill, Troost and Gipson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The evidence-based approach to adult-onset idiopathic nephrotic syndrome

Pietro A. A. Canetta* and Jai Radhakrishnan

Division of Nephrology, Department of Medicine, Columbia University Medical Center, Columbia University College of Physicians and Surgeons, New York, NY, USA

Adult-onset nephrotic syndrome (NS) differs from its pediatric counterpart in several important ways. Most importantly, NS in adults is more etiologically heterogeneous compared to children, and thus treatment approaches rely heavily on the histological diagnosis provided by renal biopsy. The evidence-based approach to treatment of adult NS has been critically examined by the Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) guidelines in glomerulonephritis, published in 2012. Here, we examine the strengths and limits of those guidelines and review recent work that expands the evidence-based approach.

Keywords: nephrotic syndrome, minimal-change disease, focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, KDIGO guidelines, clinical practice guidelines

Introduction

The field of nephrology carries the dubious distinction of consistently producing the fewest number of randomized controlled trials among the internal medicine specialties (1, 2). Within nephrology, glomerular diseases have been particularly neglected, especially the primary glomerular diseases, including idiopathic nephrotic syndrome (NS) (3, 4). Consequently, high-quality clinical evidence to guide treatment decisions in NS has been sparse, and nephrologists have long navigated these murky waters according to principles of physiology and insights gleaned from observational or uncontrolled studies.

With these limitations in mind, a Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) working group attempted to synthesize the available evidence into a series of disease-specific clinical practice guidelines for glomerulonephritis, published in 2012 (5). These guidelines were pioneering in that nothing so comprehensive with respect to glomerular diseases had ever been produced by one of the field's major organizations. Other systematic reviews have examined specific diseases or problems in NS [particularly noteworthy are Cochrane reviews covering corticosteroid use, immunosuppression, and lipid-lowering therapy (6–8)], but none claimed broad consensus to establish practice guidelines. Clinical practice guidelines serve several important purposes to clinicians and researchers (9). By critically synthesizing and grading the quality of the evidence base, they help define not only what is optimal but also the breadth of what is reasonable. By defining the limits of current evidence, they highlight those areas where evidence is lacking to justify adoption or broad endorsement of specific practices.

Using the KDIGO guidelines as a foundation, we here examine the evidence-based approach to adult-onset NS, limiting the discussion to minimal-change disease (MCD) and focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS). Strikingly, of the recommendations offered in the KDIGO guidelines, over 75% were considered to be based on low- or very low-quality evidence

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Agnieszka Swiatecka-Urban, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, USA

Reviewed by:

François Cachat, University Hospital of Bern, Switzerland Miriam Schmidts, Radboud University Medical Centre Nijmegen, Netherlands

*Correspondence:

Pietro A. A. Canetta, Department of Medicine, Division of Nephrology, Columbia University Medical Center, Columbia University College of Physicians and Surgeons, 622 West 168th Street, PH4-124, New York, NY 10032, USA pac2004@cumc.columbia.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

> Received: 08 June 2015 Accepted: 07 September 2015 Published: 25 September 2015

Citation:

Canetta PAA and Radhakrishnan J (2015) The evidence-based approach to adult-onset idiopathic nephrotic syndrome. Front. Pediatr. 3:78. doi: 10.3389/fped.2015.00078

78

(grade C and D, respectively). In particular, for adult MCD and adult FSGS, a total of 23 statements were made of which only 2 (8.7%) were level 1 recommendations, both based on grade C evidence. No statement was supported by grade A evidence, and only one suggestion was graded B (moderate quality). Of the remaining 20 statements, 17 were classified as suggestions based on low- or very low-quality evidence (2C or 2D), and three statements (13%) lacked evidence to be graded at all. This is a sobering picture of the limits of evidence that define the "state of the art" in the clinical management of adult NS.

Comparing Adult-Onset to Pediatric Nephrotic Syndrome

Adult-onset NS differs from its pediatric counterpart in several important ways. The prospective International Study of Kidney Diseases in Children showed that in children aged 1-16 presenting with NS, there was a 95% likelihood of responding to a course of glucocorticoids by 16 weeks (10). This finding justified the recommendation that kidney biopsy not be routinely done immediately in nephrotic children, but rather deferred to those not responding to (or relapsing after) an empiric course of corticosteroids. Importantly, most children presenting with NS will have MCD, although the incidence of other diagnoses appears to be increasing (particularly FSGS) and these account for most treatment-resistant cases (11, 12). In adults, NS comprises a much more diverse group of diseases, with considerable demographic variation, including both primary and secondary conditions (13, 14). For this reason, early kidney biopsy is critical to properly categorize the disease and direct the subsequent clinical approach in adults. Among primary or idiopathic diseases, the most common remain FSGS, membranous nephropathy, and MCD. Because this Frontiers research topic is primarily concerned with pediatric NS, we will focus on MCD and FSGS, which also cause the majority of pediatric NS and where comparisons may be most fruitful.

The prevalence of genetic causes of NS is unsurprisingly different between pediatric and adult populations. An increasing number of monogenetic defects have been found to cause neonatal or childhood NS, most of which affect genes critical to podocyte function, follow autosomal recessive transmission, and histologically produce FSGS (15, 16). The precise role for genetic screening remains ill-defined. The KDIGO guidelines did not endorse screening, stating that

Routine evaluation for genetic mutations is not recommended in this guideline due to the variable availability of genetic testing, significant cost, low to absent prevalence observed in some populations, and the lack of systematic studies of treatment response and prognosis relative to specific genetic polymorphisms (5)

Reconsideration of such claims should be prompted by the pace of discovery and technological improvements in genetic diagnosis, precipitously falling costs, expanding availability, and progress in understanding the clinical consequences of mutations.

Genetic variants may predict with high accuracy which patients will have steroid-resistant disease, potentially allowing a clinician

to spare them from toxic empiric therapy (17). Emerging research suggests that there may also be a genetic signal for steroid-sensitive disease (18). Certain mutations also predict freedom from relapse following transplantation (15). Mutations are increasingly being found in older patients with NS. A recent publication from the SRNS Study Group showed that a single-gene cause of steroidresistant NS could be identified in nearly a third of affected families, including >10% where disease onset was between 13 and 18 years of age (19). Santín and colleagues likewise identified a high proportion of mutations in Spanish patients with primary NS, including 14% among adults (median age of onset 33 years), and proposed a screening algorithm based on age of onset and whether disease was familial or sporadic (20). Such algorithms will need to be validated and adjusted based on local demographics, testing availability, and reimbursement practices, but with the advancements in speed and affordability of next-generation sequencing there is already reasonable justification for screening selected patients in the clinic.

Adult Minimal-Change Disease

Adult MCD shares many similarities to the pediatric form, although time to remission appears prolonged and acute kidney injury more common, whereas the risk of relapse may be less (21–23). The largest published series of adult MCD included 340 Chinese patients (24). Only 9.7% were steroid resistant, the remainder reached remission in a median of 10 weeks. During follow-up, 42% of responders relapsed, and 27% became frequent relapsers or steroid dependent (FR/SD). Certain groups may have higher morbidity. In a series of 95 adults seen at our referral center, almost all treated with steroids, 25% presented with acute kidney injury (25). Mean time to remission was 13 weeks, but one-quarter were steroid-resistant and 73% of responders relapsed, with 41% of responders frequently relapsing.

The KDIGO guidelines for adult MCD are presented in **Box 1**. Several recommendations deserve discussion. Like in pediatric NS, corticosteroids are recommended as first-line therapy (graded 1C). Clinicians will recognize that the dose of corticosteroids is high enough to cause significant morbidity, such as Cushings syndrome, bone loss, and hyperglycemia, especially over the time suggested (minimum 4 weeks, maximum 16 weeks, with a slow taper up to 6 months). Is it possible to achieve results with less? Direct evidence from adults is largely lacking, but at least three recent randomized controlled studies in children showed that extended courses of steroids did not prevent the development of FR/SD disease, just delayed its recognition (26-28). This prompted a revision to a Cochrane systemic review, concluding that the benefit of prolonged courses of steroids was likely overestimated by earlier studies and that it seems there is no benefit of increasing the duration of prednisone beyond 2-3 months (6). Should these pediatric studies influence practice in adults? Here, it is worth noting that the KDIGO guidelines are based on low-quality evidence, and indeed their "recommendation is based largely on extrapolation from RCTs in children" (p. 177, emphasis ours).

A separate issue concerns the recommendations for alternative agents to corticosteroids. KDIGO suggests alternative agents in patients with relative contraindications or intolerance

BOX 1 | KDIGO guidelines for minimal-change disease (MCD) in adults.

5.1: Treatment of initial episode of adult MCD

5.1.1: We recommend that corticosteroids be given for initial treatment of nephrotic syndrome. (1C)

5.1.2: We suggest prednisone or prednisolone be given at a daily single dose of 1 mg/kg (maximum 80 mg) or alternate-day single dose of 2 mg/kg (maximum 120 mg). (2C)

5.1.3: We suggest the initial high dose of corticosteroids, if tolerated, be maintained for a minimum period of 4 weeks if complete remission is achieved, and for a maximum period of 16 weeks if complete remission is not achieved. (2C)

5.1.4: In patients who remit, we suggest that corticosteroids be tapered slowly over a total period of up to 6 months after achieving remission. (2D)

5.1.5: For patients with relative contraindications or intolerance to high-dose corticosteroids (e.g., uncontrolled diabetes, psychiatric conditions, severe osteoporosis), we suggest oral cyclophosphamide or CNIs as discussed in frequently relapsing MCD. (2D)

5.1.6: We suggest using the same initial dose and duration of corticosteroids for infrequent relapses as in Recommendations 5.1.2, 5.1.3, and 5.1.4. (2D)

5.2: FR/SD MCD

5.2.1: We suggest oral cyclophosphamide 2-2.5 mg/kg/day for 8 weeks. (2C)

5.2.2: We suggest CNI (cyclosporine 3–5 mg/kg/day or tacrolimus 0.05–0.1 mg/kg/day in divided doses) for 1–2 years for FR/SD MCD patients who have relapsed despite cyclophosphamide, or for people who wish to preserve their fertility. (*2C*)

5.2.3: We suggest MMF 500-1000 mg twice daily for 1-2 years for patients who are intolerant of corticosteroids, cyclophosphamide, and CNIs. (2D)

5.3: Corticosteroid-resistant MCD

5.3.1: Re-evalulate patients who are corticosteroid resistant for other causes of nephrotic syndrome. (Not Graded)

5.4: Supportive therapy

5.4.1: We suggest that MCD patients who have AKI be treated with renal replacement therapy as indicated, but together with corticosteroids, as for a first episode of MCD. (2D)

5.4.2: We suggest that, for the initial episode of nephrotic syndrome associated with MCD, statins not be used to treat hyperlipidemia, and ACE-I or ARBs not be used in normotensive patients to lower proteinuria. (2D)

FR, frequently relapsing; SD, steroid dependent; CNI, calcineurin inhibitor; MMF, mycophenolate mofetil; AKI, acute kidney injury.

to high-dose corticosteroids (2D), or for patients with FR/SD disease (2C/2D). Three agents are named: cyclophosphamide and calcineurin inhibitors (CNIs) receive slightly stronger endorsement, followed by mycophenolate mofetil (MMF). Several points here deserve mention. One consideration is why these agents are considered second-line behind steroids. There have been only two controlled trials of steroids in adult MCD, only one placebocontrolled (the other comparator was no treatment), involving, respectively, 28 and 31 subjects (29). Steroids have never been directly compared against alternate agents for initial treatment, and observational data suggests similar (if not better) frequencies of response to alternate agents (21, 22, 25). The strength of recommendation supporting steroids rests largely on the totality of evidence showing that steroids are effective (especially in children), but NOT on evidence showing that other agents are ineffective or that they are inferior to steroids. The reason steroids have been studied more is that they have been used more, largely for historical and circumstantial reasons (availability, affordability, prescriber familiarity, etc.). There is certainly sufficient equipoise to justify a randomized trial in adults comparing an alternative (and one hopes better tolerated) agent to corticosteroids, though only time will tell if the nephrology community deems this a sufficient priority to pursue.

Recommendation 5.1.5 to use alternate agents for patients with contraindications or intolerance to steroids is graded as 2D, a suggestion based on low-quality evidence. It should be recognized that the weakness of the evidence relates to the choice of replacement, not to the premise of withholding steroids in the first place – there need be very little "evidence" to justify NOT giving a medication which is poorly tolerated or contraindicated! In adults, relative contraindications to steroid use are more common (e.g., diabetes, osteoporosis), as is steroid intolerance, and in clinical decision-making individual patient considerations must trump broad practice guidelines (30). Another nuance not specifically

considered in the guidelines, but reflected by the weak grading of evidence, concerns the long-term sequelae of various therapeutic choices. The justification for rating cyclophosphamide and CNIs as nearly equivalent in the guidelines is based on observational studies and a few small randomized trials comparing the two [summarized in the guidelines and elsewhere (29)]. These studies have no information on potential long-term toxicities of the drugs, for example, late malignancies from cyclophosphamide or nephrotoxicity from CNIs. Obtaining such evidence is certainly feasible; for instance, it was recently shown in a carefully followed cohort of membranous nephropathy (another common cause of idiopathic NS in adults) that treatment with cyclophosphamide was associated with a more than threefold increased risk of subsequently developing cancer (31).

The anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody rituximab is not mentioned in the KDIGO guidelines on adult MCD, except in an appeal for further research. In the years since the guidelines were published, such research increasingly supports the efficacy of rituximab in both children and adults, particularly for steroid sensitive and SD/FR disease. The Rituximab for Childhood-onset Refractory Nephrotic Syndrome Study in Japan was a multicenter, double-blind, randomized trial of rituximab vs. placebo in 52 children with FR/SD NS (32). Median relapse-free survival was 267 days in the rituximab group compared to 101 days in the placebo group (P < 0.0001). The rituximab group had significantly fewer relapses, and required significantly less steroids. In Italy, Ravani and colleagues carried out a multicenter, open-label, randomized non-inferiority trial of rituximab vs. tapering steroid therapy in 30 children with SD NS on high-dose prednisone (33). The differences in relapse were dramatic; median time to relapse was 18 months for the rituximab group, whereas 14/15 children in the control group relapsed within 4 months. The rituximab group received much lower cumulative doses of prednisone. Observational studies bolster the results of these randomized studies.

Recent reports from large case series in children, and several series of adults with MCD, have consistently found that rituximab is associated with prolonged remissions and allows reduction or cessation of steroids or other immunosuppressants in SD/FR patients (34–38). In sum, these data support a role for rituximab in the care of patients with SD/FR disease. Where rituximab should rank among the various other immunosuppression choices may be clarified by future head-to-head clinical trials and careful cost-benefit analyses.

Adult Idiopathic FSGS

The KDIGO guidelines for adult FSGS are presented in **Box 2**. Many of the treatment recommendations regarding steroid use are analogous to those for MCD and recapitulate the issues discussed earlier. Some additional issues specific to FSGS are worth exploring further.

The first two recommendations, 6.1.1 and 6.1.2, are not graded and present a small paradox. The clinician is urged to perform a thorough evaluation to exclude secondary forms of FSGS, but what this evaluation should entail is left undefined except that it should *not* include genetic testing. Following these non-graded recommendations is a relatively strongly graded (1C) recommendation that corticosteroids or immunosuppression be considered *only* for "idiopathic FSGS with clinical features of nephrotic syndrome." It is not specified which particular clinical features of NS are sufficient to justify therapy.

The guidelines are necessarily vague because of the inherent limitations in our classification of FSGS. It should be clear that the purpose of these recommendations is to direct steroids and immunosuppression to those patients with the highest likelihood of response (idiopathic FSGS), while excluding those for whom such therapy is ineffective (most cases of secondary FSGS). However, establishing a clear diagnosis of idiopathic FSGS – and by extension, deciding whom to treat with steroids/immunosuppression – is not trivial. There is no evidence-based approach for ruling out secondary FSGS. The list of conditions that may produce FSGS lesions on biopsy is long and diverse (39). In the rationale, the KDIGO guidelines state, "idiopathic FSGS is defined by exclusion of *any other identifiable cause* of secondary FSGS" (p. 181, emphasis ours), but this definition is problematic. Obesity, diabetes, and hypertension all may cause secondary FSGS, but these are common conditions and none of them exclude the possibility of a separate or superimposed "idiopathic" FSGS. Such issues present real, practical challenges to the clinician attempting to apply the guidelines in deciding whether to treat a patient with nephrotic-range proteinuria and a biopsy showing FSGS lesions.

These concerns highlight the limitations of classifying FSGS as "idiopathic" or "secondary." At the heart of the matter is determining whether a patient's cause of FSGS may be susceptible to steroids or immunosuppression, given the overwhelming evidence that achieving partial or complete remission with therapy dramatically improves prognosis (40–44). Identifying the circulating factor or factors responsible for idiopathic FSGS remains a yet unrealized hope, but one that when achieved should greatly assist in determining which patients deserve a trial of immunotherapy (as well as chipping away at the inelegant term, "idiopathic.") In the meantime, what evidence is available to help determine whom to treat?

A potentially evolving role for genetic testing was discussed previously, and in a future of personalized medicine may become a routine part of the diagnostic workup. Some additional points may be helpful. Deegens and colleagues showed that the degree of foot process effacement, measured by electron microscopy, was a sensitive and specific test to differentiate idiopathic from secondary FSGS (45). In fact, foot process effacement seen in postreperfusion biopsies of transplanted kidneys diagnosed recurrent FSGS with high specificity (46). By light microscopy, the perihilar variant of FSGS is most characteristic of hyperfiltration injury, but does not rule out idiopathic FSGS (47). Among clinical features, normal serum albumin and lack of edema despite nephrotic-range

```
BOX 2 | KDIGO guidelines for idiopathic focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS) in adults.
```

6.1: Initial evaluation of FSGS

6.1.2: Do not routinely perform genetic testing. (Not Graded)

6.2: Initial treatment of FSGS

6.2.1: We recommend that corticosteroid and immunosuppressive therapy be considered only in idiopathic FSGS associated with clinical features of the nephrotic syndrome. (1C)

6.2.2: We suggest prednisone be given at a daily single dose of 1 mg/kg (maximum 80 mg) or alternate-day dose of 2 mg/kg (maximum 120 mg). (2C)

6.2.3: We suggest the initial high dose of corticosteroids be given for a minimum of 4 weeks; continue high-dose corticosteroids up to a maximum of 16 weeks, as tolerated, or until complete remission has been achieved, whichever is earlier. (2D)

6.2.4: We suggest corticosteroids be tapered slowly over a period of 6 months after achieving complete remission. (2D)

6.2.5: We suggest CNIs be considered as first-line therapy for patients with relative contraindications or intolerance to high-dose corticosteroids (e.g., uncontrolled diabetes, psychiatric conditions, severe osteoporosis). (2D)

6.3: Treatment for relapse

6.3.1: We suggest that a relapse of nephrotic syndrome is treated as per the recommendations for relapsing MCD in adults (see Chapters 5.1 and 5.2). (2D)

6.4: Treatment for steroid-resistant FSGS

6.4.1: For steroid-resistant FSGS, we suggest that cyclosporine at 3-5 mg/kg/day in divided doses be given for at least 4-6 months. (2B)

6.4.2: If there is a partial or complete remission, we suggest continuing cyclosporine treatment for at least 12 months, followed by a slow taper. (2D)

6.4.3: We suggest that patients with steroid-resistant FSGS, who do not tolerate cyclosporine, be treated with a combination of mycophenolate mofetil and high-dose dexamethasone. (2C)

CNI, calcineurin inhibitors.

^{6.1.1:} Undertake thorough evaluation to exclude secondary forms of FSGS. (Not Graded)



proteinuria are common findings in secondary FSGS, but rare in idiopathic FSGS (48). In the absence of nephrotic-range proteinuria, immunosuppression is generally unnecessary since subnephrotic patients have excellent long-term renal prognosis with kidney survival rates exceeding 90% at 5–10 years on conservative therapy alone (43, 49, 50).

The treatment of steroid-resistant FSGS remains particularly challenging. KDIGO suggests cyclosporine with a 2B recommendation. Tacrolimus, the other commonly used CNI, is not formally recommended. The rationale cites the lack of randomized trials, but also states that limited observational data suggests tacrolimus may be an alternative to cyclosporine. Additional data published after the KDIGO guidelines support this notion. A small, singlecenter study of adults with idiopathic FSGS compared intravenous monthly cyclophosphamide to tacrolimus for 6 months, with both groups receiving steroids (51). There were no significant differences between the groups, but both groups had improved proteinuria and serum albumin with stable GFR. Tacrolimus was also compared to cyclophosphamide in a multicenter randomized trial of 131 children with steroid-resistant NS (mostly MCD and FSGS) (52). Tacrolimus showed remarkably higher rates of complete or partial remission (82.5 vs. 45.9%, P < 0.001), with shorter time to remission and fewer serious infections. The superior likelihood of remission was maintained in the subgroup with FSGS (HR 2.54, 95% CI 1.09–5.93, P = 0.03). In an uncontrolled trial of 44 adults with steroid-resistant FSGS treated with tacrolimus for 24 weeks, 52.3% of patients achieved complete or partial remission (53).

For steroid-resistant patients intolerant to cyclosporine, KDIGO recommends only combined MMF and high-dose dexamethasone. This is based on one large randomized trial which reported that this combination had similar efficacy to cyclosporine, but the limitations of this trial have been reviewed in detail (54). No other agents receive formal recommendations; in our view, this is largely appropriate for practice guidelines given the limited evidence concerning other agents. Of note, no formal recommendation is made for or against cytotoxics, although they are explicitly discouraged in the KDIGO guidelines for steroid-resistant NS in children (5). Rituximab has shown potential for

References

- Palmer SC, Sciancalepore M, Strippoli GF. Trial quality in nephrology: how are we measuring up? *Am J Kidney Dis* (2011) 58(3):335–7. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2011. 06.006
- Samuels JA, Molony DA. Randomized controlled trials in nephrology: state of the evidence and critiquing the evidence. *Adv Chronic Kidney Dis* (2012) 19(1):40–6. doi:10.1053/j.ackd.2012.01.009
- Leaf DE, Appel GB, Radhakrishnan J. Glomerular disease: why is there a dearth of high quality clinical trials? *Kidney Int* (2010) 78(4):337–42. doi:10.1038/ki. 2010.156
- Strippoli GF, Craig JC, Schena FP. The number, quality, and coverage of randomized controlled trials in nephrology. J Am Soc Nephrol (2004) 15(2):411–9. doi:10.1097/01.ASN.0000100125.21491.46
- Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes Glomerulonephritis Work Group. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for glomerulonephritis. *Kidney Int Suppl* (2012) 2(2):139–274. doi:10.1038/kisup.2012
- Hahn D, Hodson EM, Willis NS, Craig JC. Corticosteroid therapy for nephrotic syndrome in children. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2015) (3):CD001533. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001533.pub5
- Kong X, Yuan H, Fan J, Li Z, Wu T, Jiang L. Lipid-lowering agents for nephrotic syndrome. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2013) (12):CD005425. doi:10.1002/ 14651858.CD005425.pub2
- Hodson EM, Willis NS, Craig JC. Interventions for idiopathic steroidresistant nephrotic syndrome in children. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2010) (11):CD003594. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD003594.pub4

steroid-sensitive FSGS in case reports and small series, but it appears largely ineffective for steroid-resistant disease (55–57). A recent small series examined adrenocorticotropic hormone gel in 24 patients with idiopathic FSGS and found that 7 (29%) experienced remission with therapy, including 5/15 (33%) who were steroid-resistant.

Figure 1 presents our suggested summary algorithm for the diagnostic and therapeutic approach to an adult with FSGS on kidney biopsy, which largely follows the KDIGO guidelines. Such an algorithm, like the practice guidelines themselves, should not supplant clinical judgment.

Conclusion

The KDIGO clinical practice guidelines have played a pioneering role in providing evidence-based consensus recommendations for treating glomerular diseases, including adult idiopathic NS. While the recommendations are necessarily limited by the quality of evidence underlying them, they serve an excellent starting point for a discussion of the evidence-based approach to NS. New research adds to, but rarely supplants, prior evidence, which is why venerable "tried and true" interventions such as corticosteroids continue to play such a prominent role in the recommendations. As with all clinical practice guidelines, a critical appreciation of their limitations and an eye toward emerging lines of evidence are necessary to most effectively apply their lessons to individual patients.

Author Contributions

PC drafted the manuscript. JR conceptualized the work and critically revised it.

- Woolf SH, Grol R, Hutchinson A, Eccles M, Grimshaw J. Clinical guidelines: potential benefits, limitations, and harms of clinical guidelines. *BMJ* (1999) 318(7182):527–30. doi:10.1136/bmj.318.7182.527
- International Study of Kidney Disease in Children. Primary nephrotic syndrome in children: clinical significance of histopathologic variants of minimal change and of diffuse mesangial hypercellularity. A Report of the International Study of Kidney Disease in Children. *Kidney Int* (1981) 20(6):765–71.
- Filler G, Young E, Geier P, Carpenter B, Drukker A, Feber J. Is there really an increase in non-minimal change nephrotic syndrome in children? *Am J Kidney Dis* (2003) 42(6):1107–13. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2003.08.010
- Bonilla-Felix M, Parra C, Dajani T, Ferris M, Swinford RD, Portman RJ, et al. Changing patterns in the histopathology of idiopathic nephrotic syndrome in children. *Kidney Int* (1999) 55(5):1885–90. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.1999. 00408.x
- Haas M, Meehan SM, Karrison TG, Spargo BH. Changing etiologies of unexplained adult nephrotic syndrome: a comparison of renal biopsy findings from 1976-1979 and 1995-1997. *Am J Kidney Dis* (1997) **30**(5):621–31. doi:10.1016/ S0272-6386(97)90485-6
- Korbet SM, Genchi RM, Borok RZ, Schwartz MM. The racial prevalence of glomerular lesions in nephrotic adults. *Am J Kidney Dis* (1996) 27(5):647–51. doi:10.1016/S0272-6386(96)90098-0
- Benoit G, Machuca E, Antignac C. Hereditary nephrotic syndrome: a systematic approach for genetic testing and a review of associated podocyte gene mutations. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2010) 25(9):1621–32. doi:10.1007/s00467-010-1495-0
- Trautmann A, Bodria M, Ozaltin F, Gheisari A, Melk A, Azocar M, et al. Spectrum of steroid-resistant and congenital nephrotic syndrome in children:

the PodoNet registry cohort. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol (2015) $10(4){:}592{-}600.$ doi:10.2215/CJN.06260614

- Giglio S, Provenzano A, Mazzinghi B, Becherucci F, Giunti L, Sansavini G, et al. Heterogeneous genetic alterations in sporadic nephrotic syndrome associate with resistance to immunosuppression. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2015) 26(1):230–6. doi:10.1681/ASN.2013111155
- Gbadegesin RA, Adeyemo A, Webb NJ, Greenbaum LA, Abeyagunawardena A, Thalgahagoda S, et al. HLA-DQA1 and PLCG2 are candidate risk loci for childhood-onset steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2015) 26(7):1701–10. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014030247
- Sadowski CE, Lovric S, Ashraf S, Pabst WL, Gee HY, Kohl S, et al. A singlegene cause in 29.5% of cases of steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome. J Am Soc Nephrol (2015) 26(6):1279–89. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014050489
- Santín S, Bullich G, Tazon-Vega B, Garcia-Maset R, Gimenez I, Silva I, et al. Clinical utility of genetic testing in children and adults with steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2011) 6(5):1139–48. doi:10.2215/ CJN.05260610
- Mak SK, Short CD, Mallick NP. Long-term outcome of adult-onset minimalchange nephropathy. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (1996) 11(11):2192–201. doi:10. 1093/oxfordjournals.ndt.a027136
- Nolasco F, Cameron JS, Heywood EF, Hicks J, Ogg C, Williams DG. Adult-onset minimal change nephrotic syndrome: a long-term follow-up. *Kidney Int* (1986) 29(6):1215–23. doi:10.1038/ki.1986.130
- 23. Tse KC, Lam MF, Yip PS, Li FK, Choy BY, Lai KN, et al. Idiopathic minimal change nephrotic syndrome in older adults: steroid responsiveness and pattern of relapses. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2003) 18(7):1316–20. doi:10.1093/ndt/ gfg134
- Szeto CC, Lai FM, Chow KM, Kwan BC, Kwong VW, Leung CB, et al. Long-term outcome of biopsy-proven minimal change nephropathy in Chinese adults. *Am J Kidney Dis* (2015) 65(5):710–8. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2014.09.022
- Waldman M, Crew RJ, Valeri A, Busch J, Stokes B, Markowitz G, et al. Adult minimal-change disease: clinical characteristics, treatment, and outcomes. *Clin* J Am Soc Nephrol (2007) 2(3):445–53. doi:10.2215/CJN.03531006
- 26. Teeninga N, Kist-van Holthe JE, van Rijswijk N, de Mos NI, Hop WC, Wetzels JF, et al. Extending prednisolone treatment does not reduce relapses in childhood nephrotic syndrome. J Am Soc Nephrol (2013) 24(1):149–59. doi:10.1681/ASN.2012070646
- 27. Sinha A, Saha A, Kumar M, Sharma S, Afzal K, Mehta A, et al. Extending initial prednisolone treatment in a randomized control trial from 3 to 6 months did not significantly influence the course of illness in children with steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome. *Kidney Int* (2015) **87**(1):217–24. doi:10.1038/ki.2014.240
- Yoshikawa N, Nakanishi K, Sako M, Oba MS, Mori R, Ota E, et al. A multicenter randomized trial indicates initial prednisolone treatment for childhood nephrotic syndrome for two months is not inferior to six-month treatment. *Kidney Int* (2015) 87(1):225–32. doi:10.1038/ki.2014.260
- Hogan J, Radhakrishnan J. The treatment of minimal change disease in adults. J Am Soc Nephrol (2013) 24(5):702–11. doi:10.1681/ASN.2012070734
- Radhakrishnan J, Cattran DC. The KDIGO practice guideline on glomerulonephritis: reading between the (guide)lines – application to the individual patient. *Kidney Int* (2012) 82(8):840–56. doi:10.1038/ki.2012.280
- 31. van den Brand JA, van Dijk PR, Hofstra JM, Wetzels JF. Cancer risk after cyclophosphamide treatment in idiopathic membranous nephropathy. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2014) 9(6):1066–73. doi:10.2215/CJN.08880813
- 32. Iijima K, Sako M, Nozu K, Mori R, Tuchida N, Kamei K, et al. Rituximab for childhood-onset, complicated, frequently relapsing nephrotic syndrome or steroid-dependent nephrotic syndrome: a multicentre, double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* (2014) 384(9950):1273–81. doi:10. 1016/S0140-6736(14)60541-9
- 33. Ravani P, Rossi R, Bonanni A, Quinn RR, Sica F, Bodria M, et al. Rituximab in children with steroid-dependent nephrotic syndrome: a multicenter, openlabel, noninferiority, randomized controlled trial. J Am Soc Nephrol (2015) 26(9):2259–66. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014080799
- 34. Guitard J, Hebral AL, Fakhouri F, Joly D, Daugas E, Rivalan J, et al. Rituximab for minimal-change nephrotic syndrome in adulthood: predictive factors for response, long-term outcomes and tolerance. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2014) 29(11):2084–91. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfu209
- Bruchfeld A, Benedek S, Hilderman M, Medin C, Snaedal-Jonsdottir S, Korkeila M. Rituximab for minimal change disease in adults: long-term follow-up. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2014) 29(4):851–6. doi:10.1093/ndt/gft312

- 36. Munyentwali H, Bouachi K, Audard V, Remy P, Lang P, Mojaat R, et al. Rituximab is an efficient and safe treatment in adults with steroiddependent minimal change disease. *Kidney Int* (2013) 83(3):511–6. doi:10.1038/ ki.2012.444
- Ruggenenti P, Ruggiero B, Cravedi P, Vivarelli M, Massella L, Marasa M, et al. Rituximab in steroid-dependent or frequently relapsing idiopathic nephrotic syndrome. J Am Soc Nephrol (2014) 25(4):850–63. doi:10.1681/ASN. 2013030251
- Sinha A, Bhatia D, Gulati A, Rawat M, Dinda AK, Hari P, et al. Efficacy and safety of rituximab in children with difficult-to-treat nephrotic syndrome. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2015) 30(1):96–106. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfu267
- D'Agati VD, Kaskel FJ, Falk RJ. Focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. N Engl J Med (2011) 365(25):2398–411. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1106556
- Banfi G, Moriggi M, Sabadini E, Fellin G, D'Amico G, Ponticelli C. The impact of prolonged immunosuppression on the outcome of idiopathic focal-segmental glomerulosclerosis with nephrotic syndrome in adults. A collaborative retrospective study. *Clin Nephrol* (1991) 36(2):53–9.
- Cattran DC, Rao P. Long-term outcome in children and adults with classic focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Am J Kidney Dis* (1998) 32(1):72–9. doi:10.1053/ ajkd.1998.v32.pm9669427
- Chun MJ, Korbet SM, Schwartz MM, Lewis EJ. Focal segmental glomerulosclerosis in nephrotic adults: presentation, prognosis, and response to therapy of the histologic variants. J Am Soc Nephrol (2004) 15(8):2169–77. doi:10.1097/01. ASN.0000135051.62500.97
- Korbet SM, Schwartz MM, Lewis EJ. Primary focal segmental glomerulosclerosis: clinical course and response to therapy. *Am J Kidney Dis* (1994) 23(6):773–83. doi:10.1016/S0272-6386(12)80128-4
- Troyanov S, Wall CA, Miller JA, Scholey JW, Cattran DC. Toronto glomerulonephritis registry G. Focal and segmental glomerulosclerosis: definition and relevance of a partial remission. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2005) 16(4):1061–8. doi:10. 1681/ASN.2004070593
- 45. Deegens JK, Dijkman HB, Borm GF, Steenbergen EJ, van den Berg JG, Weening JJ, et al. Podocyte foot process effacement as a diagnostic tool in focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Kidney Int* (2008) 74(12):1568–76. doi:10.1038/ ki.2008.413
- 46. Chang JW, Pardo V, Sageshima J, Chen L, Tsai HL, Reiser J, et al. Podocyte foot process effacement in postreperfusion allograft biopsies correlates with early recurrence of proteinuria in focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Transplantation* (2012) **93**(12):1238–44. doi:10.1097/TP.0b013e318250234a
- D'Agati VD. The spectrum of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis: new insights. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* (2008) 17(3):271–81. doi:10.1097/MNH. 0b013e3282f94a96
- Praga M, Morales E, Herrero JC, Perez Campos A, Dominguez-Gil B, Alegre R, et al. Absence of hypoalbuminemia despite massive proteinuria in focal segmental glomerulosclerosis secondary to hyperfiltration. *Am J Kidney Dis* (1999) 33(1):52–8. doi:10.1016/S0272-6386(99)70257-X
- Cameron JS, Turner DR, Ogg CS, Chantler C, Williams DG. The long-term prognosis of patients with focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Clin Nephrol* (1978) 10(6):213–8.
- Rydel JJ, Korbet SM, Borok RZ, Schwartz MM. Focal segmental glomerular sclerosis in adults: presentation, course, and response to treatment. *Am J Kidney Dis* (1995) 25(4):534–42. doi:10.1016/0272-6386(95)90120-5
- Ren H, Shen P, Li X, Pan X, Zhang W, Chen N. Tacrolimus versus cyclophosphamide in steroid-dependent or steroid-resistant focal segmental glomerulosclerosis: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Nephrol* (2013) 37(1):84–90. doi:10.1159/000346256
- 52. Gulati A, Sinha A, Gupta A, Kanitkar M, Sreenivas V, Sharma J, et al. Treatment with tacrolimus and prednisolone is preferable to intravenous cyclophosphamide as the initial therapy for children with steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome. *Kidney Int* (2012) **82**(10):1130–5. doi:10.1038/ki.2012.238
- 53. Ramachandran R, Kumar V, Rathi M, Nada R, Jha V, Gupta KL, et al. Tacrolimus therapy in adult-onset steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome due to a focal segmental glomerulosclerosis single-center experience. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2014) 29(10):1918–24. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfu097
- Canetta PA, Radhakrishnan J. Impact of the National Institutes of Health Focal Segmental Glomerulosclerosis (NIH FSGS) clinical trial on the treatment of steroid-resistant FSGS. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2013) 28(3):527–34. doi:10. 1093/ndt/gfs563

- 55. Fernandez-Fresnedo G, Segarra A, Gonzalez E, Alexandru S, Delgado R, Ramos N, et al. Rituximab treatment of adult patients with steroid-resistant focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2009) 4(8):1317–23. doi: 10.2215/CJN.00570109
- Ochi A, Takei T, Nakayama K, Iwasaki C, Kamei D, Tsuruta Y, et al. Rituximab treatment for adult patients with focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Intern Med* (2012) 51(7):759–62. doi:10.2169/internalmedicine.51.6854
- 57. Kronbichler A, Konig P, Busch M, Wolf G, Mayer G, Rudnicki M. Rituximab in adult patients with multi-relapsing/steroid-dependent minimal change disease and focal segmental glomerulosclerosis: a report of 5 cases. *Wien Klin Wochenschr* (2013) **125**(11–12):328–33. doi:10.1007/s00508-013-0366-7

Conflict of Interest Statement: Pietro A. A. Canetta declares no commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as potential conflicts of interest. Jai Radhakrishnan was a member of the work group that formulated the KDIGO Clinical Practice Guideline for Glomerulonephritis.

Copyright © 2015 Canetta and Radhakrishnan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

